HYALURONAN AND ITS DEGRADATION PRODUCTS HAVE OPPOSING EFFECTS ON EXPERIMENTAL AUTOIMMUNE ENCEPHALOMYELITIS PATHOGENESIS THAT ARE DEPENDENT AND INDEPENDENT OF CD44

by

Clayton Wade Winkler

A DISSERTATION

Presented to Neuroscience Graduate Program School of Medicine Oregon Health & Science University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

September 2012

School of Medicine Oregon Health & Science University

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the Ph.D. dissertation of CLAYTON WINKLER has been approved on September 25, 2012

Advisor, Lawrence Sherman, PhD

Member and Chair, Philip Copenhaver, PhD

Member, Michael Forte, PhD

Member, Dennis Bourdette, MD

Member, Owen McCarty, PhD

Member, Mary Logan, PhD

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
List of Abbreviations	V
Acknowledgements	vii
Abstract	ix
Chapter 1: Background and Introduction	1
Multiple Sclerosis: past and present	1
The importance of histological observations to the understanding of MS pathology	2
The discovery and function of CNS myelin	3
Physiologic consequence of immune-mediated demyelination and axonal damage	4
T-cells are essential components of the MS lesions and likely promote demyelination	5
Modeling MS: The usefulness of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)	6
Genetic susceptibility in MS is related to genes involving CD4+ T-cell immunity	7
Epidemiology and molecular mimicry in T-cell activation: Clues to MS etiology	8
CD4 ⁺ T-cell biology and the MS autoimmune hypothesis	9
Translating animal models to MS	12
The blood-CNS interface is an obstacle to infiltrating T-cells	12
T-cells extravasation is a coordinated multi-step molecular process	14
CD44 and HA mediate T-cell rolling during inflammation	16
Manipulation of CD44 has implications in EAE	20
Hyaluronidases and their products could modulate T-cell rolling in the CNS	21
Hypothesis and Rationale	25
	20

Chapter 2: Experimental Procedures	26
Chapter 3: Hyaluronan Anchored to Activated CD44 on CNS Vascular Endothelial Cells Promotes Lymphocyte Extravasation in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis	35
Abstract	35
Introduction	36
Results	39
Discussion	58
Chapter 4: Hyaluronan Oligosaccharides Act on Activated Lymphocytes to Delay the Onset of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis	65
Abstract	65
Introduction	66
Results	69
Discussion	79
Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions	83
A role for CD44-HA interactions in CD4+ T-cell extravasation in CNS demyelinating disease	83
CD44 on WT T-cells may be involved in capture and rolling	85
Degradation of HMW HA from CD44 on ECs may promote CNS Inflammation	86
Are HA fragments truly 'danger signals'?	92
References	96

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1.	$T_{\rm H}$ cell differentiation, regulation and contribution to CNS disease.	11
Figure 1.2.	The multistep process of T-cell extravasation.	16
Figure 1.3.	The 'sandwich model' of CD44-HA dependent rolling of activated T-cell on activated ECs.	20
Figure 3.1.	EAE disease onset is delayed in CD44 ^{-/-} animals.	40
Figure 3.2.	CD44 on activated brain ECs but not lymphocytes is critical for slow rolling adhesion interactions of lymphocytes to brain ECs.	41
Figure 3.3.	CD44 anchors HA to the surface of CNS endothelial cells.	43
Figure 3.4.	Primary EC culture characterization.	45
Figure 3.5.	Treating WT CNS ECs with PEG-PH20 impairs lymphocyte interactions with the endothelial surface and alters rolling to a similar extent as on CD44 ^{-/-} ECs.	47
Figure 3.6.	Subcutaneously injected PEG-PH20 degrades and removes HA from the lumen of naïve CNS blood vessels.	48
Figure 3.7.	Subcutaneously injected PEG-PH20 delays the clinical onset of active EAE but does not ameliorate disease severity later in disease.	50
Figure 3.8.	PEG-PH20 treated EAE animals have less demyelination and fewer CD4 ⁺ infiltrating T-cells than PBS sham controls 13 days post inoculation.	51
Figure 3.9.	Some axons in demyelinated lesions are spared at EAE day 13 but not day 21 by PEG-PH20 treatment.	52
Figure 3.10	 PEG-PH20 treated EAE animals have less demyelination and more CD4⁺ T-cells 21 days post inoculation. 	53
Figure 3.11	I. Subcutaneously injected PEG-PH20 degrades and removes HA from CNS blood vessels of day 13 EAE animals.	55
Figure 3.12	 CNS blood vessels of PEG-PH20 treated EAE animals re-express HA 21 days post-inoculation. 	56
Figure 3.13	B. CNS blood vessels of PEG-PH20 treated EAE animals express more HAS1 21 days post-inoculation than PBS controls.	57
Figure 4.1.	Subcutaneously injected HA 4 and HA12 delays the clinical onset of active EAE and ameliorates chronic disease burden.	70

Figure 4.2.	HA12 treated EAE animals have less diffuse demyelination and more concentrated sites of infiltration than PBS sham 20 days post inoculation.	72
Figure 4.3.	Pre-treatment of activated LCs, not CNS ECs with HA12 disrupts LC adhesion.	73
Figure 4.4.	Treating WT LCs with HA12 impairs activated LC rolling on CNS ECs.	74
Figure 4.5.	HA12 impaired LC rolling phenotype is not altered in CD44 ^{-/-} LCs.	76
Figure 4.6.	TLR4 mRNA transcript is modestly increased at 72hr of activation in LC.	77
Figure 4.7.	Blockage or knockout of TLR4 signaling does not alter HA12 mediated LC rolling impairment.	78
Figure 5.1.	A Model of how HA and its degradation products could influence activated T-cell capture and rolling on CNS ECs.	85
Figure 5.2.	Subcutaneously injected PEG-PH20 delays the clinical onset of EAE, but exacerbates long-term chronic disease.	88
Figure 5.3.	A model of how degradation of HMW HA from CD44 on CNS ECs during inflammation can promote T-cell extravasation.	90
Figure 5.4.	Proposed model of how products of HA synthesis and catabolism influence inflammation <i>in vivo</i> .	94

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- APCs- antigen presenting cells
- BBB- blood-brain barrier
- CD44- cluster determinant 44
- CDI- cumulative disease index
- CNS- central nervous system
- CSF- cerebral spinal fluid
- DMEM- Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium
- EAE- experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
- **EBV- Epstein Barr Virus**
- EC-endothelial cell
- ECM- extracellular matrix
- ELISA- enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- ERM- Ezrin/Radixin/Moezin
- HA- Hyaluronan
- HA4- HA tetrasaccharide
- HA12- HA dodecasaccharide
- HABP- HA binding protein
- HARE- HA receptor for endocytosis
- HAS- HA synthases
- HBSS- Hank's balanced salt solution
- HEV- high endothelial venule
- HLA- human leukocyte antigen
- HMW- high molecular weight
- HYAL- hyaluronidase

IL- interleukin

INF- interferon

merlin- moesin-ezrin-radixin-like protein

MHC- major histocompatibility complex

MOG- myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein

MMPs- matrix metalloproteases

MS- multiple sclerosis

NF- neurofilament light chain

NO- nitric oxide

PDGF- plasma derived growth factor

PEG- polyethylene glycol

PLP- proteolipid protein

PSGL-1- P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1

qRT-PCR- quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

RHAMM- receptor for HA mediated motility

RTKs- receptor tyrosine kinases

SAS- subarachnoid space

TCR-T-cell receptor

TGF β - transforming growth factor β

TLR- Toll- like receptor

T_H1- CD4⁺ T helper 1

T_H2- CD4⁺ T helper 2

TNF- tumor necrosis factor

TSG-6- Tumor necrosis factor stimulated gene-6

VEGF - vascular endothelial growth factor

WT- wild type

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many people have provided me support, advice and help during the process of this thesis and throughout my life. As the majority of them will never look upon these pages, it behooves me to thank them in person. However, a certain "core" group of individuals deserve indelible recognition for their efforts. These people include:

My parents: Jim and Lucinda for their total and unconditional love and support. I can never thank either of you enough for what you have provided me and made possible.

My sister: Kristi, who has always had to be the trail-blazer and has deceptively large feet despite her size. Thank you for showing the way.

My mentor: Larry Sherman for his encouragement, support, enthusiasm and most importantly, his patience. Even when the chips were down, he always managed to pull me through or pick me up. I have learned a tremendous amount under his tutelage that will no doubt serve me well in all my future endeavors.

My second mentor: Steve Matsumoto who has continually helped me keep "it" all in perspective. His hand or probing intellect has touched nearly every experiment described in this thesis and he is also one of the best barbecue cooks I know.

My third mentor: Sue Aicher, who gave me the push. Her love of life and science is infectious. Without her support, guidance and faith, I would probably be swinging a hammer.

My lab mates, past and present: Marnie Preston, Kerstin Feistel, Ellen Witkowski, Jaime Struve, Rubing Xing, Fatima Banine, Weiping Su and especially Scott Foster, the EAE man. A more talented, generous group there is not.

My thesis committee: Phillip Copenhaver, Mike Forte, Dennis Bourdette and Owen McCarty whose ideas contributed significantly to this thesis and constructive feedback pushed me to be a better scientist.

My "flow" collaborators: Michelle Berny-Lang and Asako Itakura, who drove while I shifted gears.

I dedicate this thesis to my wife and children. You all are my reason for being and my inspiration. I could never have done this without you. I look forward to our next amazing adventure.

ABSTRACT

Demyelination and axonopathy characterize the central nervous system (CNS) inflammatory disease multiple sclerosis (MS). While the etiology remains unknown, extensive evidence suggests encephalitogenic mononuclear cells mediate disease pathology. A key step in disease onset involves the activation of CD4⁺ T-cells that recognize myelin antigens and their extravasation across the blood-brain-barrier (BBB). These cells mediate disease progression by recruiting components of the adaptive immune system that lead to the damage of myelin and axons. These events are recapitulated in a murine model of MS, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Therapeutically impairing extravasation of myelin-reactive T-cells in EAE and MS reduces disease severity and recurrence. However, the mechanisms involved in extravasation into the CNS are not completely understood. The extra-cellular matrix (ECM) glycosaminoglycan hyaluronan (HA) and its primary receptor CD44 have been implicated in this process; however, their respective roles remain unclear. Furthermore, HA has diverse, size-specific biological activity; the function of which has not been studied in regard to CNS demyelinating disease.

The studies presented in this dissertation examine the contribution of HA and CD44 to activated T-cell capture and rolling on CNS endothelial cells (ECs). This process is known to facilitate extravasation and therefore has therapeutic potential. Using an *in vitro* rolling assay, it was determined that CD44 on CNS ECs, but not activated lymphocytes, is necessary for capture and rolling. Further analysis of CD44^{-/-} CNS EC cultures demonstrated that CD44 is required to tether HMW HA to the cell surface, suggesting the glycosaminoglycan is also critical to lymphocyte rolling. This idea was confirmed by the finding that degradation of HMW HA from the surface of CNS ECs with

ix

a pegylated PH20 hyaluronidase (PEG-PH20) impaired lymphocyte rolling. Furthermore, EAE onset was delayed in CD44^{-/-} and PEG-PH20 treated animals and hyaluronidase treated animals had fewer infiltrating CD4⁺ T-cells two days following disease onset in controls.

Long-term treatment of EAE animals with PEG-PH20; however, worsened symptoms and promoted CD4⁺ cell infiltration later in disease. This suggested HA fragments produced by PEG-PH20 may exacerbate disease, possibly through TLR4 signaling. To test this hypothesis, HA dodecasaccharides (HA12) were administered to EAE animals. Surprisingly, disease onset was delayed, demyelination was decreased and overall disease severity was less suggesting HA12 may impair lymphocyte extravasation. This idea was tested in the in vitro rolling assay and HA12 treatment of activated lymphocytes, but not CNS ECs was found to impair lymphocyte capture and rolling. These findings suggesting a mechanism by which HA oligosacchdarides modulate inflammatory demyelinating disease. However, the effect of HA12 on lymphocytes was not dependent on CD44 or TLR4 implying another HA receptor may be involved. Collectively, these data indicate HMW HA tethered to CD44 on CNS ECs and HA oligosaccharides may represent potential therapeutics to reduce immune cell infiltration into the CNS during inflammatory demyelinating disease. Furthermore, this work highlights the importance of the effects of HA synthesis and catabolism on inflammatory processes.

Chapter 1: Background and Introduction

Multiple Sclerosis: past and present

The disease multiple sclerosis (MS) has likely afflicted humanity for at least hundreds of years. Symptomatic descriptions in the biographical case history of the Dutch Saint Lidwina of Schiedam (1380-1433) are consistent (if somewhat exaggerated) with the disease we know today (Medaer, 1979). However, the most widely recognized first recorded case of MS is from the personal diary of the English nobleman Sir Augustus d'Esté (1794-1848). Excerpts describe a disease spanning 26 years, beginning with a bout of optic neuritis at 28 years of age that quickly resolved. Over subsequent years, d'Esté suffered from various neurological symptoms ranging from weakness and numbness to paralysis and incontinence. Two years prior to his death, clinicians delivered a diagnosis of paraplegia (Landtblom et al., 2010). Convention at the time based diagnosis on clusters of symptoms, and vague, inaccurate diagnoses were common. It was not until 1868 when seminal work by Jean Martin Charcot defined the disorder as 'la sclérose en plaques disséminées' based on correlated symptomological and histological criteria (Charcot, 1868; see Talley, 2003 for review). This characterization provided a nosological framework that has been refined with improved histological methods and diagnostic tools.

Today, MS is the most prevalent neurological disease in young (20-40 years old) adults, with an estimated 2.5 million cases diagnosed worldwide (Miller, 2012). Approximately 85% of these cases are clinically categorized as having the relapsing-remitting form of MS. These patients have periods of clinical stability, punctuated by attacks that completely, or as the disease progresses, partially resolve. Following multiple attacks, typically over many years of disease, ~50% of relapsing-remitting MS patients develop

secondary progressive MS at which point, neurological deficit accumulates without obvious attacks. A small percentage of patients, 10% or less, present with primary progressive MS characterized by rapid, unremitting neurological deficits (Nylander & Hafler, 2012). Currently, clinical diagnosis requires attacks be spaced out through time and correlate to T2-hyperintense and T1-gadolinium-enhancing lesions on magnetic resonance imagining (Nylander & Hafler, 2012). Gadolinium-enhanced lesions are reflective of local inflammation, a hallmark of active disease. Although more than a century has passed since MS was first described, the etiology of the disease remains unknown. Furthermore, MS continues to be one of the most difficult central nervous system (CNS) diseases to diagnose and treat, due to its unpredictable presentation and progression.

The importance of histological observations to the understanding of MS pathology

Charcot's characterization of MS was preceded by reports by Robert Carswell (1838) and Jean Cruveilhier (1829-1842), documenting cases of paralysis associated with gross histological evidence of numerous focal lesions throughout the brain and spinal cord (Hickey, 1999b). These analyses provided little microscopic detail, yet both commented on discoloration and shrinkage of the neural tissue, now known to be caused by demyelination (loss of myelin); axonal loss and inflammation characteristic of active MS lesions (Popescu & Lucchinetti, 2012). Both reports influenced Charcot's work, as did Eduard Rindfleisch's description of perivascular 'round cells' within a CNS lesion that contained denuded nerve fibers (Lassmann, 2005). This was likely the first description of infiltrating immune cells into a MS lesion. Charcot's synthesis of this and his own work histologically defined MS lesions by the presence of demyelination, immune cell infiltration and axonal sparing. These criteria are still generally accepted today. Charcot's

immediate successors, including Joseph Babinski and Otto Marburg, broadened the criteria for diagnosis by demonstrating that inflammatory cells were directly involved in demyelination (Babinski, 1885), and that some axons degenerate in lesioned areas (Marburg 1906). The former observation is still generally accepted; however, debate over the later point has consumed much of the last century (Kornek & Lassmann, 1999). The prevailing notion had been that axons are generally spared until the patient develops secondary progressive MS. However, Trapp et al observed significant axonal damage and degeneration within two weeks of diagnosis (Trapp *et al.*, 1998). Interestingly, these authors observed a correlation with increasing local inflammation and axon damage, suggesting the two phenomena are linked. Collectively these findings demonstrate a role for immune cells in the two major MS pathologies. Amazingly, these conclusions were reached primarily through simple, diligent histological techniques.

The discovery and function of CNS myelin

It is important to note that the significance of the early MS histopathological observations was unclear, because myelin and its function were only just being discovered. The year prior to Carswell's study, the German anatomist Christian Ehrenberg described some nerve fibers in longitudinal section as having 'four parallel lines', the outer two forming the 'external boundary' (myelin) of the fiber and the inner two indicating the "boundaries of the inner cavity" (axon) (cited in Rosenbluth, 1999). Myelin was initially thought to be a component of the nerve cell fiber. Rudolf Virchow likened myelinated nerve fibers to long bones. He used the term "myelos" (Greek for marrow) to describe these fibers, and though it was later determined myelin was produced by oligodendrocytes, the name was retained (Virchow, 1858). Virchow was the first to hypothesize that myelin acts as an insulator of charge along the nerve fiber, allowing current to pass only at non-myelinated sites (Virchow 1854). In 1871, Louis Antoine Ranvier demonstrated that myelin sheaths

3

along nerve fibers are punctuated with non-myelinated sites or "nodes". These so-called "nodes of Ranvier" contain concentrations of voltage-gated ion channels that propagate action potentials by passing current (reviewed by Rosenbluth, 2009). As Virchow proposed, myelin between the nodes serves to increase membrane resistance and reduce capacitance along the axonal length, allowing current to "jump" from node to node in what is termed saltatory conduction (Huxley & Stampfli, 1949). It is now known that the saltatory conduction of action potentials is critical for normal CNS function and is impaired when myelin is damaged or eliminated from the axon in MS.

Physiologic consequence of immune-mediated demyelination and axonal damage

The most defining feature of MS pathology is demyelination of CNS axons by immune cells. It is also apparent that the majority of these axons initially survive this insult. While some axons remyelinate (Hanafy & Sloane, 2011) and recover near-normal conduction velocities (Felts & Smith, 1992; Honmou *et al.*, 1996), many are chronically demyelinated and suffer conduction block. Initially, chronically-demyelinated axons can recover function by redistributing and increasing expression of voltage gated Na⁺ channels along the demyelinated length of the axon (England *et al.*, 1990; Novakovic *et al.*, 1998). However, channel redistribution results in slow and inefficient continuous conduction of action potentials (Bostock & Sears, 1978). Furthermore, upregulation of Na⁺ channels in chronically demyelinated axons increases metabolic demand to maintain ion concentration gradients, causing failure of the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase pump. As a consequence, Ca²⁺ levels within the cell rise, causing mitochondrial dysfunction and eventual axonal damage, Wallerian degeneration and finally neuronal death (Waxman, 2006).

In addition to demyelination, CNS infiltrating immune cells and their products mediate axonal damage. T-cells, for example, are capable of neuronal cytotoxicity by a contactdependent mechanism (Giuliani et al., 2003; Hoftberger et al., 2004). Additionally, macrophages respond to pro-inflammatory signals from T-cells to produce cytotoxic nitric oxide (NO) (Bogdan, 2001). NO induces conduction block in axons by interfering with ATP synthesis (Su et al., 2009). This energy deficit results in increased intracellular Ca²⁺ and cell death, as described above. Demyelinated axons are particularly susceptible to NO-induced conduction block (Redford et al., 1997). In addition to NO, macrophages in MS lesions release high levels of the neurotransmitter glutamate which is known to cause excitotoxcity of neurons (Werner et al., 2001; Groom et al., 2003; Gonsette, 2008). Interestingly, prolonged exposure of myelinated CNS axons to glutamate receptor agonists results in demyelinating lesions, oligodendrocyte death, and axonal damage, suggesting excitotoxicity secondary to inflammation can account for much of the pathology observed in MS (Matute et al., 2001). Collectively, these findings demonstrate infiltrating immune cells cause demyelination, resulting in neuronal dysfunction, and can mediate axonal damage and neuronal death both directly and indirectly.

T-cells are essential components of the MS lesions and likely promote demyelination

Modern histological and immunohistological techniques have revealed much about the immune cell contingent associated with active demyelinating MS lesions. The predominant immune cells within active lesions are "foamy" (myelin-laden) macrophages and microglia. This has led to the idea that macrophages/microglia are major effectors of demyelination. Macrophages arise from infiltrating monocytes while microglia are native to the CNS (Charo & Ransohoff, 2006). During disease, macrophages/microglia are

5

activated to secrete multiple cellular substances that cause injury to oligodendrocytes and to ingest myelin debris (Rostasy, 2005). Various components of the adaptive immune systems, including antibodies, complement and CD4⁺ T-cells have been implicated in macrophages/microglia activation (Prineas & Graham, 1981; Rotshenker, 2003). All of these macrophage-activating factors are represented to some degree within classified subtypes of active MS lesions (Lucchinetti *et al.*, 2000; Nylander & Hafler, 2012). Among them; however, CD4⁺ T-cells are the only ones present in all lesion types (Traugott *et al.*, 1983; Chitnis, 2007; Popescu & Lucchinetti, 2012). This finding implies that CD4⁺ T-cells have a primary role in promoting demyelination.

Modeling MS: The usefulness of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)

The most compelling evidence that CD4⁺ T-cells may be mediating MS pathology comes from studies of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). This model was unintentionally identified in 1933 by Thomas Rivers, who observed acute disseminating encephalomyelitis in monkeys injected with rabbit brain extracts as a control (Rivers *et al.*, 1933). Today, EAE is typically induced by subcutaneous injection of a myelin antigen, such as myelin basic protein (MBP), myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) or proteolipid protein (PLP) emulsified in Complete Freund's Adjuvant. Often pertussis toxin is co-administered to induce more severe and reliable disease. Many species are susceptible to EAE, but it is typically induced in inbred rodent strains for ease of genetic manipulation, or in non-human primates due to their phylogenetic relevance to humans. Different inbred mouse strains immunized with different myelin peptides exhibit markedly different disease courses (Batoulis *et al.*, 2011). For example, SJL/J mice immunized with PLP₁₃₉₋₁₅₁ have a relapsing/remitting disease, while C57/BL6 immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ have chronic symptoms. This variability is convenient for model-specific disease types or phases, and they are similar to varied disease courses observed in MS. Histologically, EAE lesions exhibit demyelination, coincident with macrophage, T-cell, or (in some models), B-cell infiltration (Pachner, 2011). Due to their striking pathological similarity, this model initiated the hypothesis that MS may be an autoimmune disease (Baxter, 2007). Experimental evidence for this hypothesis is derived from adoptive transfer studies in EAE, where myelin-activated lymphocytes from a donor are injected into a host to induce disease (Paterson, 1960). It was determined that CD4⁺ T-cells specifically are required to induce disease in naïve animals (Pettinelli & McFarlin, 1981). These findings prompted researchers to focus on all aspects of CD4⁺ T-cell biology and its contribution to MS.

Genetic susceptibility in MS is related to genes involving CD4+ T-cell immunity

It is clear there is genetic susceptibility in MS, particularly related to genes involving CD4⁺ T-cell activation. Among female monozygotic twins, there is a concordance rate of ~25% for developing MS, compared to 5% among dizygotic twins (Willer *et al.*, 2003). Both rates are higher than the ~1 in 1000 prevalence in the general northern-European population. Linkage studies indicate that susceptibility is primarily related to alleles of the human leukocyte antigen (HLA)- DR and DQ genes (Oksenberg & Barcellos, 2005; Sospedra & Martin, 2005). The HLA locus encodes the human MHC class II proteins that are typically expressed by antigen-presenting cells (APCs). CD4+ T-cell activation requires stimulation of the T-cell receptor (TCR) by a cognate antigen bound to MHC II on an APC. Polymorphisms in HLA genes are estimated to account for 17-60% of the genetic susceptibility in MS (Hauser & Oksenberg, 2006). Furthermore, single nucleotide polymorphisms in other genes important for T-cell activation and survival; such as interleukin 2 (IL-2) and 7 (IL-7) receptors, have also been reported to increase susceptibility, although to a lesser degree (Gregory *et al.*, 2007; International Multiple

Sclerosis Genetics *et al.*, 2007). These findings support a role for CD4+ immunity in mediating MS pathology; however, the incomplete penetrance of these susceptibility loci suggest a role for non-genetic factors in disease initiation.

Epidemiology and molecular mimicry in T-cell activation: Clues to MS etiology

Because genetic linkage studies have provided only modest correlations, many researchers have proposed an environmental trigger of MS immune pathology. Proposed candidates include viral and bacterial infection, solar radiation, nutrition, and exposure to chemical agents. Among these, viral pathogens are the best studied and may be the most biologically plausible. A possible example of viral causation comes from studies of MS "outbreaks" among natives on Faroe and Shetland-Orkney Islands, following prolonged exposure to non-native soldiers post-World War II (Fujinami, 2001). Numbers of cases increased dramatically in the ten years following the end of the war, suggesting a critical window of exposure. Although, over 24 different viruses have been linked to MS (Chastain & Miller, 2012), the strongest evidence supports the ubiquitous herpesvirus Epstein Barr (EBV) playing a role. Virtually all MS patients are seropositive for EBV, while individuals who have had infectious mononucleosis, the disease caused by uncontrolled EBV infection, are more than two times as likely to develop MS (Ascherio et al., 2001; Nielsen et al., 2007). Conversely, individuals never infected by EBV are at low risk of developing MS (Hauser & Oksenberg, 2006). It is unknown how EBV or other viruses might cause MS pathogenesis; however, the leading theory involves ectopic activation of T-cells.

T-cells reactive to myelin components (such as myelin basic protein (MBP) and PLP) are present in the blood of both normal individuals and MS patients (Valli *et al.*, 1993; Wucherpfennig *et al.*, 1994; Steinman, 1996). Both myelin proteins are expressed in the

8

thymus, which should result in reactive T-cell death or anergy (Pribyl et al., 1993; 1996), but T-cells with low affinity for myelin antigens persist (Targoni & Lehmann, 1998). This escape from negative selection offers a mechanistic hypothesis for MS initiation termed molecular mimicry. According to this hypothesis, pathogen-derived peptides that mimic myelin peptides are expressed by MHC class II molecules on APCs in the peripheral blood and lymphatics. Myelin-reactive T-cells encounter these mimics and become autosensitized, initiating an autoimmune response against CNS antigens (Chastain & Miller, 2012). Interestingly, peptides derived from the expression of DNA polymerase of EBV robustly stimulate several MBP-reactive MS T-cell clones (Wucherpfennig & Strominger, 1995). Furthermore, these EBV peptides are recognized by reactive T-cells in the context of HLA class II DR2a protein (DRB5*0101 allele), which has one of the strongest genetic associations with MS predisposition (Lang et al., 2002). These findings collectively provide indirect evidence for CD4+ T-cell mediated molecular mimicry as an etiological basis for MS pathology. Coupled to histological and genetic linkage studies, this evidence suggests CD4⁺ T-cells are the primary initiators of MS pathology. Evolving research is focused on the multiple roles that CD4+ cells play in this process.

CD4⁺ T-cell biology and the MS autoimmune hypothesis

Adoptive transfer studies in EAE further suggest that MS is primarily a CD4⁺ T-celldriven autoimmune disease. Upon stimulation of their TCRs via a myelin antigen, CD4⁺ T-cells differentiate into distinct subsets. These include CD4+ T helper 1 (T_H1), helper 2, (T_H2) and T_H17 cells, each with unique effector functions (See Figure 1.1 for schematic). Evidence suggests these subsets coordinate to mediate the pathology of EAE and MS (Steinman, 2007). T_{H} cells, for example, are induced by IL-12 signaling to produce the pro-inflammatory cytokines interferon- γ (INF γ), IL-12 and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α). These signals activate macrophages/microglia which mediate CNS pathogenesis (see above), suggesting $T_{H}1$ cells drive disease. This idea is supported by adoptive transfer experiments, showing T_H1 cells alone are sufficient to induce EAE (Bennett & Stuve, 2009). Furthermore, T_H1 associated cytokines INF γ and IL-12 are detected in the CNS and cerebral spinal fluid (CSF) during EAE, and MS (Segal & Shevach, 1996; Gutcher & Becher, 2007). Furthermore, MS symptoms are worsened by INF γ administration (Panitch et al., 1987). Additionally, INFy produced by $T_H 1$ cells induces MHC II expression in the CNS and triggers release of chemokines that attract macrophages (Goverman, 2009). Conversely, T_{H2} cells stimulated by IL-4, produce anti-inflammatory factors such as IL-4, IL-10 and transforming growth factor β (TGF β) that suppress T_H1 inflammation by activation of FOXp3⁺ T-regulatory cells (Bennett & Stuve, 2009). T_H2 suppression may account for inactivity of disease between attacks. These findings suggest that T_H1 mediated inflammation is sufficient to establish MS-like pathology, which can be tempered by $T_{H}2$.

However, contrary to the T_H1 CNS autoimmune-mediated hypothesis, IL-12, INF γ and TNF α -deficient mice develop severe EAE (Ferber *et al.*, 1996; Liu *et al.*, 1998). Conversely, IL-23 null mice are completely resistant to EAE (Cua *et al.*, 2003). IL-23 maintains the survival of T_H17 cells, which are induced by TGF β and IL-6 to produce proinflammatory IL-17 (Hu *et al.*, 2011). These findings imply activated T_H17 rather than T_H1 cells are essential to CNS autoimmunity. Moreover, classic T_H1 and T_H2 cytokines (INF γ and IL-4 respectively) collectively suppress IL-17 *in vitro* and mitigate IL-17 dependent tissue damage, suggesting they may regulate T_H17 inflammation (Park *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, IL-17 transcripts have been isolated from MS lesions (Lock *et al.*, 2002). However, IL-17-deficient mice are still susceptible to EAE, and IL-17 overexpression in CD4⁺ T-cells does not exacerbate disease, calling into question the extent of T_H17 involvement in CNS autoimmunity (Haak *et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, the T_H17 phenotype is unstable and can convert into a T_H17/T_H1 phenotype, characterized by production of both INF γ and IL-17. Additionally, if treated with IL-12, T_H17 cells can re-acquire a T_H1 phenotype (Batoulis *et al.*, 2011). This phenotypic plasticity has led some to question the purity of T_H17 cells in earlier adoptive transfer experiments and to suggest "contaminating" INF γ -producing T_H1 cells were also present and may have been driving disease (Hofstetter *et al.*, 2005; Langrish *et al.*, 2005). Evidence that T_H1 cells enter the non-inflamed CNS prior to T_H17 cells further supports this idea (O'Connor *et al.*, 2008). Conflicting data and a lack of consensus on the involvement of individual CD4⁺ T-cell subsets suggests other players remain to be identified. However, therapies directed at T_H1/T_H17 CD4+ T-cells will likely moderate autoimmune inflammatory CNS disease.



Figure 1.1. T_H **cell differentiation, regulation and contribution to CNS disease**. Green arrows represent facilitation and red arrows inhibition. ?? indicates assumed function without direct experimental verification. This diagram is updated from that presented in (Steinman, 2007) to include data discussed in (Bennett & Stuve, 2009; Goverman, 2009; Batoulis *et al.*, 2011).

Translating animal models to MS

While the exact mechanisms mediating EAE pathogenesis and their analogy to MS are questioned, EAE has clearly proven itself a useful testing ground for MS therapeutics. Currently, eight medications are FDA approved for the treatment of MS. Four of these are re-formulations of INF- β , which has mixed results in EAE (Yu et al., 1996; Luca et al., 1999). Of the remaining four, all were pursued after showing promise in the EAE model, and two (glatiramer acetate and natalizumab) were developed as a direct result of proof-of-principle experiments in the EAE model (Steinman & Zamvil, 2006). Two of these drugs (natalizumab and fingolimod) act to suppress disease by impairing the movement of lymphocytes from the periphery into the CNS. In the case of fingolimod, lymphocytes are retained within lymphatic system. By contrast, natalizumab allows lymphocytes to access the blood (and presumably other organs and tissues), but selectively impairs CD4⁺ T-cell entry to the CNS (Yednock et al., 1992; Baron et al., 1993). With a 67% reduction in incidence of relapse and a 40% reduced risk of sustain progression of disability, natalizumab is clearly effective in slowing disease (Polman et al., 2006). However, complications from opportunistic infection in patients not observed in the EAE model have marred this drug's success. A number of cases of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy resulting from John Cunningham polyomavirus infection highlight the necessity of immune surveillance within the CNS. Nonetheless, blocking Tcell entry to the CNS is an effective means of slowing MS progression and EAE is an ideal model to test reagents aimed at this goal.

The blood-CNS interface is an obstacle to infiltrating T-cells

Under normal and disease conditions, T-cell infiltration, or extravasation into the brain parenchyma is actively regulated. Cells enter either through the CSF by crossing the choroid plexus epithelium fed by leptomeningeal capillaries, or directly through

capillaries of the CNS vasculature (Neuwelt et al., 2011). Choroid plexus epithelial and CNS endothelial cells (ECs) possess tight-junctions that form the anatomical basis of the so called blood-CSF barrier and the blood-brain-barrier (BBB), respectively. Tight junctions are macromolecular complexes formed of the transmembrane proteins claudin, occludin and junctional adhesion molecule that link adjacent cells, preventing circulating blood cell access to the CNS. In non-disease conditions, resting T-cells do not cross the BBB (Engelhardt, 2006). However, there is a large pool of CD4+/ CD69+, central memory T-cells in the subarachnoid space (SAS) that may be competent to enter the CNS parenchyma (Kivisakk et al., 2003). This has led to the idea that CSF T-cells are predominately responsible for normal CNS immune surveillance. Because CNS inflammation requires T-cell re-activation by APCs in the CNS, T-cells within the SAS are ideally positioned to initiate disease (Goverman, 2009). This idea is supported by findings that EAE-associated CNS inflammation is initially detected in the SAS (Lassmann & Wisniewski, 1978) and myelin-reactive T-cells contact MHC class II+ APCs in the SAS, resulting in their proliferation prior to T-cell extravasation in the CNS parenchyma (Kivisakk et al., 2009). These studies have led to the notion that T-cell reactivation in the SAS produces cytokine signaling that activates remote CNS ECs of the BBB, where the majority of T-cell extravasation occurs in both EAE and MS (Brown & Sawchenko, 2007).

In contrast to the blood-CSF barrier, the BBB allows minimal extravasation of memory or activated T-cells into the perivascular space (the space between the basement membrane of the endothelium and the glial limitans) in the absence of endothelial inflammation (Engelhardt & Ransohoff, 2005). The small number of T-cells that do cross the BBB, persist in the perivascular space for a short time without re-activation (Hickey, 1999a). However, peripheral APCs present in the perivascular space (Serafini *et al.*,

2000) of meningeal and CNS parenchymal blood vessels alone are sufficient to stimulate myelin-reactive T-cells and promote EAE (Greter *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, a small number of myelin-reactive T-cells extravasating into the perivascular space may be sufficient to induce disease. Furthermore, TNF α and INF γ produced by the T_H1 and T_H17 T-cells in the periphery induce CNS EC expression of cell adhesion molecules and cytokines implicated in T-cell extravasation (Piccio *et al.*, 2002; Larochelle *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, while SAS may be an initiation site of CNS inflammation, the perivascular space throughout the CNS parenchyma is also permissive to T-cell re-activation. *Because the majority of T-cell extravasation related to disease pathogenesis occurs through EC of the BBB, understanding the molecular mechanisms involved in this process is imperative and may aid in identifying therapeutic targets.*

T-cells extravasation is a coordinated multi-step molecular process

T-cell extravasation is mediated by sequential interactions of signaling and cell adhesion molecules on T-cells and ECs lining the vessel. Studies of T-cell recruitment into various organs including the lymph, gut, skin and CNS have revealed some commonalities in the process, but not necessarily in their molecular trafficking determinants (Ransohoff *et al.*, 2003). The classic model of extravasation is derived from extensive studies of lymphocytes moving from the blood stream to the lymph across the high endothelial venule (HEV). This is an essential step in the adaptive immune process. Extravasation at this site is generally considered a four-step process, where each step is associated with unique molecular players (Figure 1.2A). In the first step, T-cell, EC carbohydrate ligands, and selectin adhesion molecules initiate tethering and rolling along the endothelial surface (Step1). Rolling decreases the velocity of T-cells, allowing them to monitor their environment for 'activating factors' such as chemokines that signal through $G\alpha$ -protein coupled receptors (Step 2). T-cell 'activation' results in the conformational

change and clustering of constitutively expressed integrins on the cell surface which, in turn induces binding to integrin receptors on the endothelial surface that mediate firm adhesion (Step 3). Following adhesion, extravasation is culminated in the diapedesis of the T-cell into the perivascular space (Step 4) (For complete review see (Ransohoff *et al.*, 2003; Engelhardt, 2006; Greenwood *et al.*, 2011).

The molecular mechanism of T-cell extravasation into the CNS is less well understood. In general, the four steps hold true; however, a major point of controversy is the role of selectins and their ligands (Step 1) in the initial capture and rolling of T-cells on CNS ECs and their requirement for subsequent extravasation (Figure 1.2B). During EAE or following TNF α stimulation of CNS ECs, T-cell capture and rolling (Step 1) is observed in vivo by intravital microscopy and can be impaired by blocking antibodies against P- and E-selectin on ECs, suggesting they mediate this process (Kerfoot & Kubes, 2002; Piccio et al., 2002). However, repeated administration of P- and E-selectin blocking antibodies does not prevent overall T-cell extravasation in EAE or reduce disease severity, but rather delays disease onset, suggesting capture and rolling is not necessary for disease pathogenesis (Engelhardt et al., 1997). Furthermore, blocking P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL-1) on T-cells or deleting its expression does not prevent extravasation or disease (Engelhardt & Ransohoff, 2005). However, when blocking antibodies against Pselectin and α 4-intergrin (a mediator of T-cell firm adhesion and the molecular target of natalizumab) are co-injected in EAE animals, they synergize to allow less T-cell extravasation and result in better disease outcome than $\alpha 4$ integrin antibodies alone (Kerfoot et al., 2006). Collectively, these findings imply that T-cell capture and rolling is not obligatory, but does facilitate disease pathogenesis and is therefore a relevant therapeutic target. Furthermore, blocking both P-selectin and α 4-intergrin does not abolish EAE symptoms, while targeting the P-selectin/PSGL-1 pathway using knockout animals does not entirely prevent T-cell capture and rolling (Kerfoot *et al.*, 2006). *This implies other adhesion molecules are involved in T-cell capture and rolling and contribute to disease pathogenesis.* I hypothesize that the transmembrane receptor cluster determinant 44 (CD44) and its primary ligand, the extracellular matrix (ECM) molecule hyaluronan (HA), contribute to this process (Figure 1.2B, Step 1, ?).



Figure 1.2. The multistep process of T-cell extravasation. A) The molecular mechanisms of T-cell recruitment to the endothelium of the HEV. B) The proposed molecular mechanisms of T-cell recruitment to the CNS endothelium during EAE and MS updated from that proposed by (Greenwood *et al.*, 2011). ?? indicates the speculative involvement of P-selectin and PSGL-1 ligand in this process. ? denotes that CD44 (green) and HA (yellow) may be involved in T-cell recruitment to CNS endothelium, but has not been verified.

CD44 and HA mediate T-cell rolling during inflammation

CD44 glycoproteins are a family of single-pass transmembrane receptors that are present on a number of cell types, including T-cells and ECs where it is constitutively

expressed (Johnson et al., 2000). Through alternative splicing of 10 variant exons and post-translational modification including N- and O-linked glycosylation, the highly conserved CD44 gene produces distinct proteins, ranging in size from 80-250 kDa (Ponta et al., 2003). The most commonly expressed form is hematopoietic or standard CD44 (CD44s), which contains no variant (CD44v) exon encoded sequences and ranges from 80-90 kDa in size. All isoforms of CD44 express an N-terminal domain homologous to the HA binding extracellular Link protein (Lesley & Hyman, 1998). This domain enables CD44 to bind HA and other glycosaminoglycans; however, its binding activity is tightly regulated and requires conformational activation (Johnson et al., 2000). The membrane-proximal region is less conserved and contains the insertion site for the variant exons and multiple glycosylation sites that influence HA binding. The C-terminal cytoplasmic domain contains phosphorylation sites that regulate interactions with signaling molecules and the cytoskeleton (Ponta et al., 2003). CD44 has been shown to participate in numerous cellular behaviors, including growth, survival and migration, primarily through interactions with HA. It facilitates these behaviors via direct cell-cell adhesion interactions and through interactions with signaling molecules. Specifically, CD44 has been shown to promote the activation of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), (Sherman et al., 2000) and promote signaling through Src kinases and Rho GTPases (Johnson et al., 2000). It also interacts with proteins that regulated cytoskeletal organization, such as moesin-ezrin-radixin-like (merlin) and the Ezrin/Radixin/Moesin (ERM) family (see Ponta et al., 2003 for review).

HA is secreted as an un-branched glycosaminoglycan, composed of repeating disaccharide units of glucuronic acid and N-acetyl-glucosamine (Fraser *et al.*, 1997). It is a ubiquitous molecule found in the ECM of all tissues, where it influences hydration, provides a back-bone for large proteoglycan complexes in the ECM, and mediates

17

cellular migration and adherence. HA is a simple molecule that can be composed of 2,000 to >25,000 disaccharide units, with molecular weights in the 10^7 Da range. Unlike other glycosaminoglycans, which are modified in the Golgi, HA is synthesized and secreted at the inner leaflet of the cell membrane as a linear molecule. Mammals express three HA synthases (HAS1-3) that produce distinct sizes of HA. HAS1 and 2 produce high molecular weight (HMW) forms ($\geq 2.0-4.0 \times 10^6$ Da), while HAS3 generates intermediate sizes of lower molecular weight forms ($\leq 2.5 \times 10^5$ Da) (Itano & Kimata, 2002). Preferential HA size and expression patterns of the various HASs suggest that different HA products influence different cellular processes. HASs produce linear molecules that can incorporate into the surrounding cellular matrix or be retained at the cell surface via HA binding receptors such as CD44 and receptor for HA mediated motility (RHAMM) or by interactions with the HAS proteins themselves (Toole, 2004). Localization of HA at the cell surface facilitates cell-cell adhesion interactions, promotes receptor clustering and enhances cell signaling. Likewise, release of HA into the surrounding matrix can influence these processes in neighboring and migrating cells.

Both CD44 and HA are clearly involved in inflammation. Extensive experimental evidence from CD44 null animals and manipulations with CD44 modifying antibodies in a variety of inflammatory models, demonstrate that CD44-HA interactions play multiple roles in both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory events (Johnson & Ruffell, 2009). CD44 expression and HA binding activity are up-regulated on T-cells in response to TCR activation and pro-inflammatory cytokine signaling (Lesley *et al.*, 1994; DeGrendele *et al.*, 1997b). Moreover, T-cell activation results in receptor clustering, which facilitates cell-cell adhesion (Pure *et al.*, 1995). Therefore, CD44 on myelin-reactive T-cells in MS and EAE is primed to interact with HA. HA becomes enriched in the ECM of many cells in response to inflammation (Fraser *et al.*, 1997). HAS transcription is regulated by

various inflammatory factors, including growth factors and cytokines (Sugiyama *et al.*, 1998; Kennedy *et al.*, 2000; Ijuin *et al.*, 2001). Of particular relevance to T-cell extravasation, $TNF\alpha$ stimulation of microvascular ECs increases HA synthesis and activates CD44 to bind and tether HA on the cell surface (Mohamadzadeh *et al.*, 1998; Nandi *et al.*, 2000). *Thus, CD44 and HA are bi-directionally positioned to influence the adhesion of T-cells to the CNS endothelium.*

The involvement of CD44 in lymphocyte extravasation was first proposed when in vitro antibody screens designed to identify lymphocyte homing molecules demonstrated that an anti-CD44 antibody blocked lymphocyte adhesion to lymph and synovial ECs (Jalkanen et al., 1987). However, since the antibody did not inhibit HA binding to CD44, this observation was not pursued. Later, antibodies that induce CD44 shedding from the cell surface were shown to delay lymphocyte recruitment into skin (but not recirculation back to the lymph) in a model of hapten-induced delayed-type hypersensitivity (Camp et al., 1993). This observation suggested that CD44 played a role in facilitating extravasation at sites away from the lymph. DeGrendele et al were the first to demonstrate that antibodies blocking CD44 binding to HA could prevent lymphocyte cell line rolling on immobilized HA or cultured ECs in vitro (DeGrendele et al., 1996). Furthermore, in vivo, they demonstrated that T-cell homing and subsequent extravasation into sites of super-antigen induced inflammation requires CD44-HAdependent T-cell rolling on ECs (DeGrendele et al., 1997a). More recently, it has been shown in vivo that ovalbumin-activated T_H1 and T_H2 cell rolling on TNF α stimulated intestinal microvascular ECs is CD44-HA dependent (Bonder et al., 2006). Collectively, these data suggest a "sandwich model" of CD44-HA mediated rolling, whereby activated CD44 on T-cells binds to HA expressed by activated CD44 on inflamed ECs to initiate

19

rolling (Figure 1.3). This evidence demonstrates CD44-HA interactions mediate T-cell rolling in peripheral vessels; however their involvement in CNS T-cell rolling is unknown. Interestingly, in the short-term T-cell homing model, CD44 association with α 4 integrin via its cytoplasmic domain in T-cells is required to mediate firm adhesion. This suggests that primary and secondary adhesion molecules directly interact to mediate extravasation (Siegelman *et al.*, 2000; Nandi *et al.*, 2004). Due to α 4 intergrin involvement in EAE and MS pathogenesis, it is reasonable to consider CD44 and its ligands may have redundant function at the level of the CNS.



Figure 1.3. The 'sandwich model' of CD44-HA dependent rolling of activated T-cell on activated ECs. A) CD44 on naïve T-cells and unstimulated ECs is inactive to HA (red line) binding via steric hindrance from N-linked glycosylations. B) TCR activation in T-cells and TNF α activation of ECs triggers conformational changes in N-linked glycosylations, activating HA binding and triggering HA synthesis in ECs (not shown). TNFR (tumor necrosis factor receptor).

Manipulation of CD44 influences EAE onset and progression

Several lines of evidence suggest that CD44 is involved in EAE pathogenesis. Two studies have demonstrated that EAE disease symptoms and immune cell infiltrates can be abrogated by injection of CD44s blocking antibody (IM7) (Brennan *et al.*, 1999;

Brocke et al., 1999); perhaps by impairing CD44-dependent extravasation. Brennan et al propose, that CD44 shedding from the surface of the myelin-active T-cell in response to antibody treatment as a potential mechanism (Brennan et al., 1999). However, shedding induces a CD44^{low} state attributed to naïve T-cells still capable of interacting with lymphatic ECs, suggesting in this case, myelin-reactive cells may have preferentially regressed to the lymph node rather than extravasate into the brain (Bazil & Horeisi, 1992; Stoop et al., 2002). In contrast, a third study determined that blocking antibodies against CD44v6, 7 and 10, but not CD44s, impaired T-cell extravasation (Laman et al., 1998). However, in this study, IM7 administration was halted 4 days post immunization, which is generally considered prior to myelin-reactive T-cell egress from the lymph node (Kuerten & Lehmann, 2011). It is therefore possible that the effects of antibody treatment are attributable to deficits in T-cell activation rather than extravasation. Interestingly, a recent study found that EAE induced in CD44^{-/-} mice is significantly attenuated and correlated with a T-cell phenotypic shift from pro-inflammatoryT_H1/T_H17 to antiinflammatory T_{H2} (Guan *et al.*, 2011). However, the number of infiltrating T-cells was also reduced in CD44^{-/-} mice, suggesting extravasation may also be impaired. It is therefore unclear whether the contribution of CD44 to CNS inflammation described in these studies is due to alterations in myelin-reactive T-cell phenotype or impaired extravasation into the CNS. Moreover, the role of HA in EAE pathogenesis remains unclear. Given the conflicting and inconclusive results of these studies, a direct assessment of CD44-HA interactions in T-cell rolling during CNS inflammation is needed.

Hyaluronidases and their products could modulate T-cell rolling in the CNS

HA synthesis must be balanced with HA catabolism. An imbalance in this process has been noted in several pathological conditions, including rheumatoid arthritis, periodontal

disease and scleroderma, suggesting HA metabolism is a finely tuned system (Jiang et al., 2011). While HASs regulate HA synthesis, hyaluronidases (HYALs) are primarily responsible for its degradation. HYALs were first identified as 'spreading factors' because they increased the diffusion of dyes, drugs and viral particles via their degradation of HA (reviewed in (Girish & Kemparaju, 2007). Mammals have six known genes that code for HYALs, termed HYAL1-5 and PH20 (SPAM1). Humans lack HYAL5, but have a pseudogene, pHYAL1, which is not translated (Stern et al., 2006). HYALs generally fall into two distinct categories designated by their pH-dependent activity. In humans, HYAL1 and 2 are considered acid active (pH 3-4), and PH20 is neutrally active (pH 4-7.5) (Girish & Kemparaju, 2007). The role of HYAL3 as a functional hyaluronidase remains unclear, although evidence suggests it may be active at pH 3-4 (Hemming et al., 2008; Reese et al., 2010) while HYAL4 has no predicted activity (Csoka et al., 2001). Therefore, PH20 appears unique among human HYALs in that it is active across a broad spectrum of pH levels. This finding implies that PH20 would be an ideal molecular tool to test the involvement of HA expressed by CNS ECs to T-cell rolling because it will retain its enzymatic function at the pH of blood (7.35-7.45). HYAL degradation of EC HA has been previously shown to impair T-cell rolling and extravasation in vitro and in vivo (DeGrendele et al., 1996; DeGrendele et al., 1997a); however, its efficacy has not been demonstrated in CNS inflammation.

HA degradation via HYALs results in the formation of low molecular weight and oligosaccharide HA fragments. Consistent with the hypothesis that HA synthesis and catabolism are tightly regulated, HYAL expression is induced by the same proinflammatory cytokines that promote HASs (Sampson *et al.*, 1992; Girish & Kemparaju, 2007). Furthermore, inflammatory products such as reactive oxygen species fragment HA at glycoside linkages, increasing HA oligosaccharide concentrations beyond physiologic levels at sites of inflammation (Noble, 2002). As a consequence, low molecular weight and HA fragments are more abundant at sites of injury and inflammation than in the physiologic state. The presence of HA fragments can interfere with HMW HA interactions with membrane HA receptors. For example, HA oligosaccharides (6-40mers) enhance CD44 cleavage from the surface of tumor cells, while HMW forms inhibit cleavage (Sugahara *et al.*, 2003; Sugahara *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, HA oligosaccharides (as small as decasaccharides) can displace CD44-bound HMW HA on the surface of keratinocytes (Tammi *et al.*, 1998). HA oligosaccharides as small as 6mers also competitively bind CD44 with increasing concentrations (Teriete *et al.*, 2004). Due to its less elaborate structure, low molecular weight HA bound to membrane receptors diminishes receptor aggregations resulting in less intracellular signaling and weakened cell-cell adhesion interactions. *Therefore HA oligosaccharides may serve to impair T-cell extravasation by binding up available HA receptors on activated T-cells or displacing HMW HA bound to CD44 on the surface of activated CNS ECs.*

Accumulating evidence suggests HA fragments engage in cell signaling (see (Jiang *et al.*, 2007; 2011) reviews). This observation has led to the idea they act as sensors of tissue damage and inflammation and are therefore dangerous in that they promote pathology. HA oligosaccharides in particular signal through Toll- like receptors (TLRs) during inflammation (Taylor *et al.*, 2004; Jiang *et al.*, 2005). TLRs are a family of pattern-recognition receptors that are activated by molecular patterns associated with pathogens. Activation of TLRs initiate MyD88 mediated signaling pathways leading to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokines (Aderem & Ulevitch, 2000; Takeda *et al.*, 2003). HA is a component of *Streptococcus* and *P. Multocida* bacterial cell coat and is thus proposed to signal through TLR2 and 4, which are classically activated

23

by mycobacterium and LPS respectively. HA-mediated TLR pro-inflammatory signaling has been observed in macrophages (McKee *et al.*, 1997; Jiang *et al.*, 2005; Ernens *et al.*, 2010), dendritic cells (Termeer *et al.*, 2000; Termeer *et al.*, 2002), B lymphocytes (lwata *et al.*, 2009) and ECs (Taylor *et al.*, 2004). TLR signaling in ECs induces expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines that can increase expression of HASs and other cell adhesion molecules that facilitate T-cell extravasation (Estess *et al.*, 1999; Taylor *et al.*, 2004). Conversely, TLR4 signaling in T-cells has an anti-inflammatory effect, the removal of which exacerbates an experimental model of colitis (Gonzalez-Navajas *et al.*, 2010). *Taken together, these data suggest that HA oligosaccharides may have multiple and possibly opposing influences on T-cell extravasation and CNS inflammation in general. These effects are likely to be timing and cell-type dependent, however understanding the molecular mechanism behind their action will provide much needed insight into CNS inflammatory disease pathogenesis.*
Hypothesis and Rationale

MS and EAE pathogenesis are driven, at least in part, by the inflammatory actions of Tcells within the CNS. Impairing T-cell extravasation during both of these diseases has a beneficial effect on disease initiation, progression and severity. However, the process of T-cell extravasation in the CNS is not fully understood and cannot be completely abrogated therapeutically. CD44-HA adhesive interactions are involved in T-cell rolling and extravasation in peripheral tissues; however, their involvement in these processes within the CNS has not been examined. Furthermore, studies using CD44^{-/-} animals or antibodies that block HA binding to the receptor suggest these molecules are important to EAE pathogenesis, but the mechanism remains to be identified. These findings led to the hypothesis that interfering with CD44-HA interactions at the level of the CNS endothelium would impair myelin-reactive T-cell extravasation and decrease disease severity. To test this hypothesis, I utilized an in vitro model of activated lymphocyte rolling on CNS ECs and an in vivo model of CNS inflammation (EAE). My findings demonstrate that HA tethered to CD44 on CNS endothelial cells is involved in activated T-cell rolling and extravasation in CNS inflammation, but that CD44 on activated lymphocytes is dispensable to this process. However, chronic degradation of HMW HA from CNS ECs increases HAS1, and HA expression on the endothelium and promotes T-cell extravasation in late stage EAE. Surprisingly, HMW HA degradation products (oligosaccharides) delay EAE onset, reduce demyelination, and impair lymphocyte rolling. HA oligosaccharides mediate this effect through interactions with lymphocytes that is independent of CD44 and TLR4. Overall, these findings support a role for CD44-HA adhesion interactions in myelin-reactive T-cell extravasation in demyelinating CNS disease. They also suggest HYAL degradation products may have opposing effects on disease pathogenesis and progresion.

Chapter 2: Experimental Procedures

Induction of EAE– EAE in WT (wild-type) C57BL/6 or BL/6S129 and CD44^{-/-} mice was induced using mouse myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein, peptides 35-55 (MOG₃₅₋₅₅), synthesized artificially by Peptides International. MOG₃₅₋₅₅ was combined with complete Freund's adjuvant containing heat-inactivated mycobacterium tuberculosis as previously described (Tuohy *et al.*, 2004).

EAE scoring– Beginning the day following EAE induction, an experimenter, blinded to genotype or treatment condition, assigned a clinical disease score daily until day 13 or day 21. The following clinical disease scoring scale was used: 0, no symptoms; 1, tail-weakness (completely flaccid); 2, hindlimb weakness (animal can be easily flipped radially onto its back when grasped at base of tail); 3, animal walks with hind limbs splayed outwards; 4, one hindlimb partially or substantially paralyzed; 5, both hindlimbs completely paralyzed, no spastic movement; 6, moribund (animal is euthanized immediately). Increments of 0.5 were used for disease severity between indicated scores.

Hyaluronidase and HA4 or HA12 oligosaccharide administration in mice-PEG-PH20 and HA12 was provided by Halyozyme Therapeutics Inc. An aliquot of a PEG-PH20 or HA4 or HA12 stock solution was prepared in advance for each day that injections were to take place. Aliquots were diluted in PBS and passed through a 0.22 μ m low protein binding syringe filter to sterilize the solution. Mice were randomly assigned to two groups to receive injections every other day of either 50 μ l subcutaneous sterile PBS (vehicle control) or 50 μ l subcutaneous PEG-PH20 (50 U/kg)

or HA12 (50 mg/kg) into hind flanks. For PEG-PH20 experiments, injections continued until the experiment was terminated on day 13 or day 21 post-induction of EAE or 6 days after beginning of injections in the case of naïve animals. For HA12 experiments, injections continued until termination of the experiment (day 20).

Splenocyte culture and isolation–Splenocytes from WT, CD44^{-/-} or TLR4^{-/-} C57BL/6 mice were cultured in T75 flasks coated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 (eBioscience) antibodies for 72 hr to induce T-cell-specific activation and clonal expansion as previously described (Sugie *et al.*, 2004). Cultures were harvested using a Lympholyte® (Sigma) gradient according to the manufacturer's protocol. The lymphocyte layer was removed using a sterile Pasteur pipette and pelleted by centrifugation. The resulting pellet was washed and suspended in RPMI medium supplemented with 1% FBS, 2mM L-Glutamine, 50µM 2-ME and 1mM sodium pyruvate at a concentration of 1×10^7 splenocytes/ml. Cultures were maintained in a humidified 5% CO₂-95% air atmosphere at 37° C.

Murine primary cortical endothelial cell culture–Primary critical endothelial cells from WT and CD44^{-/-} mice were isolated and grown as previously described (Deli *et al.*, 2000). Briefly, forebrains from 8-week-old WT or CD44^{-/-} mice were isolated, minced, then digested with 1 mg/ml collagenase CLS2 (Worthington Biochemical) in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Sigma) containing 50 μ g/ ml gentamycin and 2 mM glutamine in a shaker for 1 hr at 37°C. The cell pellet was separated from white matter and other cellular debris by centrifugation in DMEM with 20% bovine serum albumin (1000x g, 20 min). The microvessels obtained in the pellet were further digested with 1 mg/ml collagenase/dispase (Roche) in DMEM for 45 min at 37°C. Microvessel fragments

were separated on a 33% continuous Percoll gradient (1000x g, 10 min), collected, and washed twice in DMEM before plating on 24 well plates, 35 mm plastic dishes or glass coverlips coated with rat tail collagen and human fibronectin (Sigma) for static adhesion, parallel plate assays or immunocytochemistry respectively. Cultures were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 20% plasma-derived bovine serum (Atlas Biologicals), 1 ng/ml fibroblast growth factor-2 (R&D Systems) and 4 μ g/ml puromycin (Sigma) in a humidified 5% CO₂-95% air atmosphere at 37°C. Four days following plating, EC cultures visually contained continuous monolayers of adherent spindle shaped cells consistent with previously published findings (Deli *et al.*, 2000) (Figure 3.4A). EC cultures contained strong CD31 (an endothelial marker) labeling that clearly delimited the cell membrane of most Hoechst⁺ nuclei (Figure 3.4B). No GFAP⁺ astrocyte contamination was observed in these cultures (Figure 3.4B, bottom panel).

Static adhesion assay– CNS EC cell monolayers in 24 well plates were stimulated with TNF α (10 ng/mL) 4hr prior to co-culture. For individual well co-cultures, 1x10⁴ WT CD3/CD28 stimulated LCs were loaded with calcein-AM dye (10 mM, Molecular Probes) for 15 min, followed by a spin, wash with fresh medium and a 30min incubation according to the manufacturer's protocol. During LC incubation either activated CNS ECs or activated LCs were treated with varying concentration of HA12 (50, 10 and 1 ug/mL) or PBS. Following HA12 treatment, activated LCs were added to ECs in the 24 well plates and allowed to co-culture for 1 hr. Cultures were washed twice with co-culture medium and fluorescence was measured at 538 nm by a FlexStation plate reader (Molecular Devices). Relative fluorescence of HA12 treated wells was compared as percent of PBS treated controls. All treatments were performed in triplicate in a minimum of two experiments.

Parallel plate assay–Lymphocyte adhesion and rolling along brain ECs was quantified under flow conditions using a parallel-plate flow chamber. A 35mm dish with an EC monolayer was assembled to a flow chamber (150-μm channel depth, 1.26-mm channel width) and mounted on the stage of a Zeiss Axiovert 200M microscope (Zeiss) and maintained at 37°C in an air curtain incubator. The exit port was connected to an infuse and withdraw syringe pump (Harvard Apparatus) to control flow rate through the chamber. The microscope was equipped with a CCD camera (Axiocam MRm, Zeiss) and imaging software (Stallion SlideBook v5.0.0.10, Intelligent Imaging Innovations, Inc.) for monitoring cell movement.

EC monolayers were stimulated with 10 ng/ml TNFα for 4 hr prior to flow chamber assembly to increase CD44 surface expression and HA binding activity (e.g. Figure 3.3B). In selected experiments, EC monolayers were incubated with either sterile PBS as vehicle control or 100 U/ml PEG-PH20 (Halozyme, Inc.) in PBS for 1 hr at 37°C prior to use in the flow chamber assembly. For experiments examining the effect of HA12 on LCs, LCs were pre-treated with either PBS, TLR4 blocking antibody (Clone MTS510, BD Pharmigen, 100 ng/mL) or isotype control antibody (Clone R35-95, BD Pharmigen, 100 ng/mL) for 10min prior to treatment with PBS or HA12 (10 ug/mL) for 30min. Additionally, CD44^{-/-} and TLR4^{-/-} LC were treated with HA12 (10 ug/mL) for 30 min prior to use in the parallel plate. After EC monolayers were washed with Hanks balanced salt solution (HBSS), 0.6 mL of CD3/CD28 stimulated lymphocytes (at 1x10⁶ total cells/mL in HBSS) were superfused through the chamber for 7 minutes at 0.5 dyn/cm² thereby mimicking the fluid mechanical environment of CNS postcapillary venules.

Interactions between lymphocytes and brain ECs were visualized in real-time by phasecontrast digital videomicroscopy. A single field of view (10x; 0.55 mm²) was monitored during each trial. The number of total interacting cells and the average rolling velocity of each interacting cell were analyzed for each experiment. Interacting lymphocytes were defined as those that interacted with the EC monolayer for at least 1 second. Average rolling speed was determined using the particle tracking features of the Stallion imaging software. Criteria were set with the automated particle tracking function to exclude mask objects that were 1) not phase bright 2) less than 8 μ m in diameter and 3) were moving faster than 100 μ m/sec. Each particle path was manually examined and in some cases, manual particle tracking was used to correct inaccuracies in the automated path.

CD44 exon specific RT-PCR analysis- Total RNA was isolated from WT and CD44^{-/-} EC cultures using TRIzol Reagent (Invitrogen). cDNAs were synthesized using MultiScribe[™] reverse transcriptase (Applied Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's protocol and a CD44 primer from the 3' non-variant portion of mouse CD44 (exon 19, 5' tag gca cta cac ccc aat ctt ca 3'). cDNA products were amplified using Phusion® Hot Start II DNA Polymerase (Finnzymes) and a primer from the 5' nonvariant region of mouse CD44 (exon 1, 5' tcc ctc cgt ttc atc cag cac 3') and another primer straddling two non-variant 3' exons (exon 16-17, 5' ggt tcg cac ttg agt gtc ca 3'). The PCR reaction was performed using a Mastercycler thermocycler (Eppendorf) with the following protocol: 40 cycles of 10 sec at 98 °C, 30 sec at 64 °C and 1.5 min at 72 °C, followed by incubation at 72 °C for 5 min. This reaction was stopped at the end of the 25th cycle and 2 µl was removed for CD44 variant specific nested primer analysis. The thermocycler protocol was subsequently re-started at the 25th cycle and the reaction was continued to completion.

The 2 μ l from the above reaction was amplified using the same reagents and protocols listed above with the exception that variant exon 6 (5' tgg ttt cag aac gga tgg cag g 3'), 7 (5' cca caa caa cca tcc aag tca aa 3'), and 10 (5' tct tcc cac aga tac aac tac tt 3') specific nested 5' primers were added. All reaction products were analyzed by electrophoresis in 1.5% agarose and visualized by ethidium bromide staining.

Sybr green I and TaqMan Assay real-time RT-PCR analysis (qRT-PCR)- Total RNA from WT and CD44^{-/-} EC cultures was obtained as above for HAS1-3 analysis. RNA from WT 0hr and 72hr CD3/CD28 stimulated lymphocyte cultures was obtained for TLR4 analysis. Single stranded cDNAs were synthesized using the ImProm-II Reverse Transcriptase synthesis kit (Promega Corporation) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The following primer sets were designed using Primer Express® Software v3.0 (Applied Biosystems) and synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies. The primer sequences were: HAS1 forward, 5'-gcg agc act cag gat cat ctt-3' and reverse, 5'-cca gga gtc cat agc gat ctg-3'; HAS2 forward, 5'-aaa ggg acc tgg tga gac aga a-3' and reverse, 5'-ccc att ttt gca tga tgc aa-3'; HAS3 forward, 5'-gcg cat tgc ctt tcc aaa-3' and reverse, 5'tgc cac cca gca cct cat-3'. For TLR4 analysis, specific TaqMan primers and probes (Mm00445274 m1) were obtained from Applied Biosystems. The 18s ribosomal RNA was used as a normalizing unit for each reaction. Primer sets were purchased as a kit (TaqMan Ribosomal RNA Control Reagents Kit; Applied Biosystems). The qPCR assays were carried out with Platinum SYBR Green qPCR Supermix-UDG (Invitrogen) in a 7500 Fast TaqMan instrument (Applied Biosystems) using a default thermo-cycling program. Or in the case of TLR4, cDNA was amplified in 1x Universal Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) with the following thermal cycler protocol: 50°C for 2 minutes and 95°C for 10 minutes, followed by 45 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds and 60°C for 1 minute. Assays

were performed in triplicate. The normalized expression of the target gene with respect to 18S was computed for all samples using the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method in Microsoft Excel.

HA quantification–HA was quantified from culture medium supernatant or cellular lysates of WT and CD44^{-/-} ECs cultured to confluence in 35mm dishes. Cell lysates were obtained by incubation of EC monolayers in 200ul of buffer containing 20mM Tris-HCL, 150mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA and 1% TritionX-100. Samples were applied to an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)-based assay (Echelon Biosciences) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Medium supernatant samples were diluted 1:4 and cell lysates 1:2 to a final volume of 350 μ l in the kit diluent buffer. Triplicate 100 μ L fractions were transferred into the ELISA plate. At the end of the assay, absorbances were read at 450 nm on a 96-well plate reader (Molecular Devices).

Immunohistochemistry–At appropriate EAE time points, mice were euthanized using isoflurane (NovaPlus) and perfused transcardially with heparin saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde. Lumbar spinal cords were removed, freeze-embedded and serially-sectioned at a thickness of 10 μm on a cryostat (Leica) and placed on glass slides. Sections were washed with PBS 3 x 5 min and blocked in PBS with 5% BSA with 0.05% Triton X-100 (blocking buffer) for 1 hr at room temperature. Sections were then incubated with primary antibodies against CD3 (1:150, AbD Serotec), CD4 (1:300, BD Pharmigen), CD31 (1:50, Ab cam), neurofilament-L (1:1000, Millipore) and/or HAS1 (1:25, Santa Cruz Biotech) in PBS overnight at 4°C. Biotinylated HA binding protein (bHABP, 1:250, Calbiochem) was used in place of a primary antibody to visualize HA. Negative controls included omitting the primary antibody. Sections were washed with PBS 3 x 5 min the next day and then incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody

(goat anti-rat Alexa 488 and goat anti-rabbit Alexa 633, 1:1000, Molecular Probes) or Cy3 streptavidin (1:2000, Jackson Labs) in place of secondary to visualize HA for 2 hr at room temperature. Sections were washed in PBS, and then incubated in FluoroMyelin (1:300, Invitrogen) for 20 min at room temperature to visualize myelin and Hoechst 33342 (1:5000, Invitrogen) for 10 min at room temperature to label nuclei. Sections were washed in PBS and mounted with Prolong Gold mounting media (Invitrogen) then imaged using a Zeiss Axioskop 40 fluorescence microscope (Zeiss) or an inverted Leica SP5 AOBS spectral confocal system (Leica).

Immunocytochemistry–EC cultures on coverslips were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS at room temperature for 15 min, rinsed with PBS, and treated for 1 hr with blocking buffer (see above). Cultures were incubated overnight at 4°C with the primary antibody diluted in PBS. Cells were stained with antibodies against CD44 (IM7 hybridoma, 1:40, ATCC), CD31 (see above) and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP 1:500, Dako). bHABP (see above) was used to visualize HA. Subsequently, cells were rinsed 3 x 5 min in PBS and incubated with the relevant secondary antibodies or Cy3 streptavidin as above for 2 hr at room temperature. Cultures were rinsed 3 x 5 min in PBS and incubated in Hoechst for 10 min, mounted and examined as above.

Stereology–Following immunohisto-chemical labeling, 12 sections of the lumbar spinal cord were analyzed from each animal (n=8 animals per group). Digital photomicroscopic images were captured on a Zeiss Axiovert 200M (Zeiss) fluorescence microscope interfaced with a Marianas Digital Microscopy Workstation (Intelligent Imaging Innovation Inc). Montages of the entire lumbar cord were created and analyzed using SlideBook[™] software. Using FluoroMyelin labeling, a mask delimiting the spinal cord white matter was created for each section and a grid was generated within the mask area for

analysis. The grid consisted of 10 μ m boxes spaced 50 μ m apart in the xy axis with each box representing a 2500 μ m square area. Based on FluoroMyelin labeling, boxes that fell entirely within lesioned areas were counted and divided by the total number of boxes within the grid and multiplied by 100 to determine a percent lesion area.

Infiltrating T-cell counts were performed by setting a threshold value for CD3 or CD4 immunolabeling in the green channel that resolved single cells. Subsequently, a mask was applied within the green channel to record each cell's position in the section. The software was then used to overlay the green channel mask onto the mask generated for the lesion analysis and to record the number of CD3⁺ or CD4⁺ cells within the white matter in each section.

Statistical Analysis–Differences between treatment groups in HA ELISA and parallel plate assays were analyzed by a Student's *t*-test. Differences in mean EAE disease score between groups were analyzed by a repeated Measures ANOVA. Statistical significance was defined as p<0.05 for all analyses.

Chapter 3: Hyaluronan Anchored to Activated CD44 on CNS Vascular Endothelial Cells Promotes Lymphocyte Extravasation in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis¹

Clayton W. Winkler[‡], Scott C. Foster[‡], Steven G. Matsumoto^{‡,¶}, Marnie A. Preston[‡], Rubing Xing[‡], Bruce F. Bebo[‡], Fatima Banine[‡], Michelle A. Berny-Lang[§], Asako Itakura[§], Owen J. McCarty[§] and Larry S. Sherman[‡]

^{*}Division of Neuroscience, Oregon National Primate Research Center, Oregon Health & Science University, Beaverton, OR, 97006
[¶]Integrative Biosciences Department, School of Dentistry, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR 97239, USA
[§]Department of Biomedical Engineering, School of Medicine, Oregon Health & Science

University, Portland, OR 97239, USA

Abstract

The extravasation of lymphocytes across central nervous system (CNS) vascular endothelium is a key step in inflammatory demyelinating diseases including multiple sclerosis (MS) and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). The glycosaminoglycan hyaluronan (HA) and its receptor, CD44, have been implicated in this process but their precise roles are unclear. We find that CD44^{-/-} mice have a delayed onset of EAE compared to wild type animals. Using an *in vitro* lymphocyte rolling assay, we find that fewer slow rolling (<1 μ m/sec) wild type (WT) activated lymphocytes interact with CD44^{-/-} brain vascular endothelial cells (ECs) than with WT ECs. We also find that

¹ Winkler CW et al. Hyaluronan Anchored to Activated CD44 on CNS Vascular Endothelial Cells Promotes Lymphocyte Extravasation in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. J.Biol Chem. 2012, Aug 3.

CD44^{-/-} ECs fail to anchor HA to their surfaces, and that slow rolling lymphocyte interactions with WT ECs are inhibited when the ECs are treated with a pegylated form of the PH20 hyaluronidase (PEG-PH20). Subcutaneous injection of PEG-PH20 delays the onset of EAE symptoms by ~1 day and transiently ameliorates symptoms for 2 days following disease onset. These improved symptoms correspond histologically to degradation of HA in the lumen of CNS blood vessels, decreased demyelination, and impaired CD4⁺ T-cell extravasation. Collectively these data suggest that HA tethered to CD44 on CNS ECs is critical for the extravasation of activated T cells into the CNS providing new insight into the mechanisms promoting inflammatory demyelinating disease.

Introduction

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is a central nervous system (CNS) disorder characterized by the extravasation of pathogenic lymphocytes into the brain and spinal cord. Lymphocyte recruitment into the CNS during MS attacks results in inflammation, demyelination and axonopathy, leading to neurological disability (Holmoy, 2007; McFarland & Martin, 2007). Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is an animal model of inflammatory demyelinating disease that recapitulates many of the pathological and clinical traits of MS. The molecular events that contribute to lymphocyte extravasation in MS and EAE include interactions between adhesion molecules on the surface of both activated lymphocytes and CNS vascular endothelial cells (ECs). These interactions lead to intracellular signaling events that enhance cell-cell adhesion and promote the crossing of lymphocytes across CNS vascular endothelium (Greenwood *et al.*, 2011). In most tissues, this process is initiated by L-selectin on lymphocytes and P- and E-selectins on ECs binding to their transmembrane glycoprotein ligands (Ley *et al.*, 2007). These transient interactions result in lymphocyte rolling along the endothelial cell

surface, enabling signaling that induces expression and activation of integrins that mediate firm adhesion (Kinashi, 2005). However, the involvement of selectins in EAE and MS pathogenesis is a contentious issue. While there is evidence that P- and E-selectins are expressed by superficial blood vessels of the brain and that they can mediate rolling (Kerfoot & Kubes, 2002; Piccio *et al.*, 2002; Kerfoot *et al.*, 2006), evidence from both antibody blocking experiments and from experiments with knock-out and transgenic mouse models suggest selectins and their ligands are not essential for the development of EAE (Engelhardt *et al.*, 1997; Doring *et al.*, 2007). These findings indicate the involvement of other adhesive molecules in lymphocyte rolling on vessels within the CNS.

CD44 is a single-pass transmembrane glycoprotein widely expressed on a number of cell types including lymphocytes and ECs (Siegelman *et al.*, 1999; Pure & Cuff, 2001; Jong *et al.*, 2008; Rampon *et al.*, 2008). CD44 functions as a receptor for hyaluronan (HA), a glycosaminoglycan that is synthesized in a wide range of sizes up to $\sim 10 \times 10^7$ Da. HA is composed of repetitive disaccharide units of N-acetyl-D-glucosamine and D-glucuronic acid. It is synthesized at the inner plasma membrane by one of three HA synthases (HAS1-3) that extrude HA into the extracellular matrix of many cell types including ECs (Mohamadzadeh *et al.*, 1998; Girish & Kemparaju, 2007). Once extruded, HA can be tethered to the surface of ECs by HA synthases or by CD44 (Nandi *et al.*, 2000). CD44 and HA have been implicated in regulating cell-cell adhesion, proliferation, migration and differentiation (Ponta *et al.*, 2003).

CD44 expression and HA synthesis are increased in response to pro-inflammatory signals and numerous studies have implicated CD44 and HA in lymphocyte-endothelial cell interactions as well as the regulation of inflammatory responses (Johnson & Ruffell,

2009). Pro-inflammatory stimulation of lymphocytes and ECs facilitates post-translation modification of CD44 inducing HA binding activity (Lesley *et al.*, 1994; Nandi *et al.*, 2000; Ponta *et al.*, 2003; Johnson & Ruffell, 2009). Disruption of HA-CD44 interactions by anti-CD44 antibodies is sufficient to impair activated T-cell adhesion to endothelial cells *in vitro* (DeGrendele *et al.*, 1996). Additionally, CD44-HA interactions are required for super-antigen stimulated T-cells to efficiently home to sites of inflammation in the peritoneal cavity (DeGrendele *et al.*, 1997a).

In the context of inflammatory CNS disease, blocking antibodies against CD44 delay EAE onset and decrease disease severity coincident with fewer lymphocytes present in the CNS (Laman *et al.*, 1998; Brennan *et al.*, 1999; Brocke *et al.*, 1999). Similarly, one report found that EAE induced in CD44^{-/-} mice is significantly attenuated (Guan *et al.*, 2011). However, in contrast to the studies utilizing CD44 blocking antibodies, this study attributed the decrease in EAE disease severity to a phenotypic shift in the activated lymphocyte population through an HA-independent mechanism (Guan *et al.*, 2011). It is unclear, therefore, whether the contribution of CD44 to EAE and MS disease progression is linked to lymphocyte extravasation or alterations in lymphocyte phenotypes. The requirement for HA in EAE onset and progression is also not clear.

To elucidate the role of CD44 and HA in lymphocyte-EC interactions during EAE pathogenesis, we utilized CD44^{-/-} mice and a pegylated form of recombinant human PH20 (PEG-PH20) to degrade HA in the lumen of CNS blood vessels. We find that HA is tethered by CD44 to the luminal surface of TNF α stimulated ECs isolated from the brain and that slow rolling lymphocyte interactions are disrupted on ECs lacking CD44. In contrast, CD3/CD28 stimulated CD44^{-/-} lymphocytes interact normally with wild type brain ECs. Removal of HA from ECs with PEG-PH20 treatment also results in impaired

lymphocyte rolling. *In vivo* PEG-PH20 treatment delays the onset of EAE and reduces the number of T-cell infiltrates early in disease. These data indicate that HA tethered to CD44 on ECs promotes lymphocyte rolling during EAE pathogenesis.

Results

EAE onset is delayed in CD44^{-/-} mice

Inhibition of CD44 activity using neutralizing antibodies (Laman *et al.*, 1998; Brennan *et al.*, 1999; Brocke *et al.*, 1999) or deletion of the *CD44* gene (Guan *et al.*, 2011) are reported to attenuate EAE onset and progression. To confirm that genetic ablation of *CD44* is sufficient to ameliorate EAE symptoms, we tested how EAE progresses in CD44^{-/-} mice that develop severe disease. Clinical disease signs were observed over a 25-day period in 8-week old female WT and CD44^{-/-} mice on a C57B6;129 background, actively immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅. Disease was evident by day 10 post-inoculation in WT animals with peak scores occurring by day 14 (Figure 3.1A). Consistent with the findings of Guan and co-workers (Guan *et al.*, 2011), CD44^{-/-} mice manifested disease with a delayed onset, no earlier than day 14 post-inoculation and as late as day 18 with an average peak disease on day 16 (Figure 3.1B). However, in contrast to the previous study (Guan *et al.*, 2011), we found that CD44^{-/-} mice developed similar levels of disability. For both groups, scores remained elevated to at least a score of 2.5 after 20 days post-inoculation. These data demonstrate that CD44 contributes to the initiation of EAE onset but is not necessary for disease progression.



Figure 3.1. EAE disease onset is delayed in CD44^{-/-}**animals.** Disease was induced by inoculation of female WT (A) or CD44^{-/-} (B) C57/B6/S129 background mice with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide emulsified in Complete Fruend's Adjuvant. Disease symptoms manifest on or near day 10 post inoculation in WT animals but 3-8 days later in CD44^{-/-}. Ψ represents animal being euthanized due to severe disease.

CD44 on brain ECs but not lymphocytes is critical for lymphocyte recruitment and rolling

Previous studies utilizing CD44 neutralizing antibodies suggest that CD44 contributes to EAE onset by promoting lymphocyte extravasation (Laman *et al.*, 1998; Brennan *et al.*, 1999; Brocke *et al.*, 1999). A second study suggests that CD44 promotes EAE pathogenesis by regulating lymphocyte phenotypes (Guan *et al.*, 2011). The exact role of CD44 in EAE pathogenesis remains unclear.

We used an *in vitro* parallel plate assay to determine if CD44 on the lymphocytes and/or the EC cells affects adhesion and rolling during early stages of lymphocyte extravasation. We examined WT and CD44^{-/-} lymphocyte adhesion and rolling on WT and CD44^{-/-} brain ECs. Fewer WT lymphocytes (44.6% less, *p<0.005) interacted with CD44^{-/-} ECs (Figure 3.2C, D) compared to WT EC controls (Figure. 3.2A). The presence of CD44 on the lymphocytes, however, was not critical. Thus there was no difference in the number of interacting cells between WT and CD44^{-/-} lymphocytes when superfused across WT ECs (Figure 3.2B, D).



Figure 3.2. CD44 on activated brain ECs but not lymphocytes is critical for slow rolling adhesion interactions of lymphocytes to brain ECs. A-C) Representative brightfield images of psuedo colored (blue) WT lymphocytes bound to WT ECs (A), CD44^{-/-} lymphocytes bound to WT ECs (B) or WT lymphocytes bound to CD44^{-/-} ECs (C) at the end of a 7 minute experiment. (D) The number of lymphocytes interacting with the endothelial surface was significantly reduced in the absence of endothelial but not lymphocytes than WT ECs. The number of CD44^{-/-} lymphocytes interacting with WT ECs. The number of CD44^{-/-} lymphocytes interacting with WT ECs in all three speed bins was not significantly different from control. Data are from three independent experiments performed in triplicate. *p<0.005, t- test compared to WT Lymphocytes+WT ECs.

Using particle-tracking techniques, the average rolling speed of all interacting cells was determined. Bins for slow (0-1 μ m/sec), medium (1-5 μ m/sec) and fast (>5 μ m/sec) rolling cells are plotted against the mean number of interacting cells for each group (Figure 3.2D). Within the slow rolling population, significantly fewer (*p<0.05) interacting cells

were observed when WT lymphocytes were superfused across CD44^{-/-} ECs, but not when CD44^{-/-} lymphocytes were superfused across WT ECs (Figure 3.2D). Meanwhile, the mean number of medium and fast rolling interacting lymphocytes in the experimental groups was not significantly different from controls. These results indicate that CD44 on CNS ECs, but not on lymphocytes, contributes to the capture and slowing of activated lymphocytes along the endothelial surface.

Standard CD44 tethers HA to the surface of brain ECs

Inflammatory mediators trigger HA synthesis and surface expression of CD44 by ECs (Johnson & Ruffell, 2009). CD44 binds HA as it is extruded through the cell membrane by HA synthases and can tether it to the cell surface (Nandi *et al.*, 2000). We therefore tested if HA is similarly anchored to CD44 on the surface of brain ECs. Brain EC cultures from WT (Figure 3.3A,B) and CD44^{-/-} (Figure 3.3C,D) mice were isolated, stimulated with TNF α and assayed for expression of CD31, HA, and CD44. Both WT and CD44^{-/-} cultures expressed high levels of the tight junctional marker CD31 as expected (Figure 3.3A,C and Figure 3.4B). WT cultures also displayed high levels of membrane CD44 that co-localized with areas of HA labeling (Figure 3.3B, arrows). In contrast, CD44 and HA were undetectable in CD44^{-/-} brain EC cultures (Figure 3.3D).



Figure 3.3. CD44 anchors HA to the surface of CNS endothelial cells. (A,B) WT EC cultures express high levels of CD31 (white) in addition to high levels of CD44 (green) and HA (red). Areas of CD44-HA colocalization are indicated (B, arrows). (C,D) CD44^{-/-} EC cultures also express high levels of CD31, but CD44 and HA were undetectable. All cultures were stimulated with TNF α (5ng/ml) for 4 hr. Unstimulated WT cultures expressed little CD44 or HA (insets A,B). Scale bar is 10µm. All images are 6µm z-projections. (E) qRT analysis of HAS mRNA in WT and CD44^{-/-} EC cultures show similar levels of induction when stimulated with TNF α for 4 hr. (F) Significantly more HA was found in the supernatant of CD44^{-/-} EC cultures compared to WT ECs in response 4 hr TNF α stimulation. Conversely, significantly less HA was found in the cell lysis fraction of CD44-/- ECs compared to WT ECs. *p<0.005, t- test compared to WT ECs.

CD44 splice variants 6, 7 and 10 have been implicated in the early initiation of EAE (Laman *et al.*, 1998). To determine if these variants could play a role in anchoring HA to ECs, we assayed ECs with and without TNF α stimulation for CD44 variant 6, 7 and 10 mRNA expression. CD3/CD28 stimulated lymphocytes, which transiently express CD44 variant 6 were used as a positive control (Arch *et al.*, 1992). Using CD44-specific primers corresponding to the 5' and 3' non-variant exons, we determined that WT ECs, regardless of TNF α stimulation, express predominantly standard CD44 (Figure 3.4C). Stimulated lymphocytes express predominately standard CD44, but a weaker band corresponding to CD44 variant 6 at the predicted size of 906bp is present (Figure 3.4C, red arrow). These results were confirmed using nested CD44 variant 6, 7 and 10 specific

primers to re-amplify EC and lymphocyte CD44 non-variant exon PCR products. A band corresponding to the predicted size product for CD44 variant 6 but not 7 and 10 was observed in lymphocytes and no predicted variant bands were observed in ECs (data not shown). These data indicate that standard CD44 is the predominant form of CD44 expressed by CNS ECs.

Our finding that HA is absent from the surface of CD44-/- ECs indicates that either CD44 anchors HA to brain EC cells or that HA synthesis in impaired in brain ECs lacking CD44. We examined HAS1-3 mRNA expression from WT and CD44^{-/-} EC cultures via qRT-PCR. In WT cultures, mRNA expression of HAS1 increased ~4 fold, HAS 2 was unchanged and HAS3 decreased ~0.5 fold in response to TNF α stimulation (Figure 3.3E).

The same trend of mRNA expression for all the HAS genes was observed in CD44^{-/-} cultures following TNF α stimulation (Figure 3.3E). Furthermore, an ELISA assay was used to measure the amount of HA produced by WT and CD44^{-/-} EC cultures in response to TNF α stimulation. CD44^{-/-} cultures contained significantly more HA in the culture supernatant and less on the cell surface than WT controls. (Figure 3.3F, *p<0.05). All together, these findings indicate that loss of CD44 does not affect HA synthesis by brain vascular ECs and that standard CD44 is required to anchor HA to the surface of these cells.



Figure 3.4. Primary EC culture characterization. (A) Bright-field image of EC culture 4 days post-plating. Visually the culture contains a continuous monolayers of adherent spindle shaped cells consistent with previous descriptions of cultured CNS ECs. (B) top panel, CD31 (green) labeling in an EC culture 4 days post-plating clearly delimits the cell membrane and demonstrates the tight-junction formation between adjacent cells. (B) bottom panel, overlay of CD31 staining in the top panel with nuclear stain (Hoechst, blue) and GFAP (red). No GFAP⁺ astrocyte contamination was observed in these cultures. Scale bars represent 100 μ m. C) RT-PCR characterization of CD44 variants in primary EC cultures and CD3/CD28 stimulated lymphocytes. The strong bands at 786bp represents standard CD44 which is the predominate species in in stimulated and unstimulated WT ECs and lymphocytes. Stimulated lymphocytes express a faint band at 906bp corresponding to the predicted CD44 variant 6 product (red arrow). CD44^{-/-} ECs do not express CD44 mRNA.

Degrading HA at the surface of brain ECs impairs lymphocyte recruitment and rolling

Given that CD44 anchors HA to brain vascular ECs, we tested if HA on the surface of brain ECs is required for lymphocyte recruitment and rolling. WT and CD44^{-/-} brain EC cultures were treated with a pegylated form of a hyaluronidase that functions at neutral pH (PEG-PH20) or vehicle prior to analysis in the parallel plate assay. PEG-PH20 treatment resulted in a loss of HA binding protein (HABP) staining; indicating that HA had been effectively degraded in these cultures (data not shown). Compared to vehicle controls, there was a significant decrease in the number of lymphocytes interacting with WT ECs pre-treated with PEG-PH20 (47.5%, *p<0.05; Figure. 3.5A). PEG-PH20 did not further decrease lymphocyte binding to CD44^{-/-} ECs (Figure 3.5A, NS). Similar to our findings with CD44^{-/-} brain ECs (Figure. 3.2C), PEG-PH20 treatment of WT ECs significantly (*p<0.05) reduced the number of slow rolling cells to a similar extent as observed in both the vehicle and PEG-PH20-treated CD44^{-/-} ECs (Figure 3.5B). No significant differences were observed between groups at the medium and fast rolling speeds. Taken together, these results demonstrate that HA tethered to CD44 on the surface of brain ECs is involved in the recruitment and rolling of lymphocytes.



Figure 3.5. Treating WT CNS ECs with PEG-PH20 impairs lymphocyte interactions with the endothelial surface and alters rolling to a similar extent as on CD44^{-/-} ECs. A) PEG-PH20 treated (1 hr, 100 U/ml) WT ECs had significantly fewer interacting lymphocytes compared to control. (NS) CD44^{-/-} EC cultures treated with PEG-PH20 were not significantly different in the number of interacting lymphocytes compared to vehicle treated CD44^{-/-} ECs. B) Treatment of WT ECs with PEG-PH20 significantly decreased the number of slow rolling (<1 μ m/sec) cells to a similar extent as observed with CD44^{-/-} ECs. Data from all experimental groups represent four independent experiments performed in duplicate *p<0.005, t- test compared to WT ECs+Vehicle.

Subcutaneous treatment with PEG-PH20 delays the onset of EAE but does not ameliorate later disease

Because degradation of HA by PEG-PH20 leads to decreased lymphocyte binding and rolling on brain ECs *in vitro*, we hypothesized that degradation of HA by PEG-PH20 would ameliorate EAE onset and severity *in vivo*. To test the ability of PEG-PH20 to remove HA from the luminal surface of CNS vessels, naïve animals were subcutaneously injected every other day with PEG-PH20 or vehicle for 6 days. Spinal tissue was harvested and labeled for CD31 and HA (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6. Subcutaneously injected PEG-PH20 degrades and removes HA from the lumen of naïve CNS blood vessels. (A, B) CD31 (white) positive CNS blood vessels from naïve animals treated with PBS express HA (red, in B) on the luminal surface and in the perivascular area. (C) Enlargement of boxed area in (B) demonstrates the HA (red) signal along the luminal surface of the vessel (white arrows). (D, E) CD31+ Vessels (white) treated with PEG-PH20 have virtually no HA signal (red) evident on the luminal surface. (F) Enlargement of the boxed are in (E) demonstrates the absence of HA signal on the luminal side of the vessel while some HA signal (red) is evident in the perivascular area (yellow arrow). The amount of perivascular HA signal in PEG-PH20 treated animals is reduced compared to PBS controls. The blue label in A and D represents cell nuclei (Hoechst stain). Yellow "L" indicates the luminal side of the vessel wall. Scale bar is 25µm. All images are 6 µm z-projections

Vehicle-treated vessels displayed a thin band of HABP label along the luminal surface (Figure 3.6A-C) while PEG-PH20-treated vessels were devoid of HABP within the vessel lumen (Supplemental Figure 3.6D-F). These results demonstrate that subcutaneous PEG-PH20 administration removes HA from the lumen of CNS blood vessels.

Mice with EAE were injected with either vehicle (PBS) or PEG-PH20 every other day beginning 7 days post-MOG inoculation. Similar to our observations in CD44^{-/-} mice, clinical disease signs of EAE were delayed in animals treated with PEG-PH20 compared to animals treated with vehicle (Figure. 3.7). Mean clinical disease scores were also significantly lower on both day 11 and 12 in PEG-PH20-treated animals as compared to controls (* p<0.05; Figure 3.7). Clinical scores of PEG-PH20 treated animals lagged behind vehicle-injected animals until day 19 post-inoculation. At later times in disease progression, PEG-PH20 treated animals demonstrated more severe symptoms, starting at day 19 and became significant by day 21 (* p<0.05; Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.7. Subcutaneously injected PEG-PH20 delays the clinical onset of active EAE but does not ameliorate disease severity later in disease. EAE was induced in 48 C57BL/6 female mice. Half (24) of the animals were randomly selected to receive subcutaneous PBS (vehicle) injections (50 ul) and the other half, PEG-PH20 (1000 U in 50 ul PBS). Injections were given in the hind flank every other day beginning 7 days post inoculation (green arrows). Mice were scored by a blinded experimenter. PEG-PH20 treated animals had delayed onset of disease by two days, but by day 21 had higher disease scores than controls (*). n=8 animals were randomly selected from each group and euthanized 8, 13 and 21 days post inoculation for histology (red arrows). *p<0.05, repeated measures ANOVA.

At 8 days post-inoculation, lumbar spinal tissues from control and PEG-PH20 treated animals contained no histological evidence of CD4⁺ cell extravasation within the spinal cord (data not shown). By day 13 post-inoculation, demyelinated lesions in vehicletreated mice, visualized by staining with FluoroMyelin, contained numerous CD4⁺ cells (Figure 3.8A). In addition to having lower clinical scores, there was a significant reduction in the number of infiltrating CD4⁺ cells (2.3 fold fewer cells; p<0.005; Figure 3.8B) and less demyelination (69.1% less than controls; p<0.005; Figures 3.8C, D) in the spinal cords of PEG-PH20 treated mice.



Figure 3.8. PEG-PH20 treated EAE animals have less demyelination and fewer CD4⁺ infiltrating T-cells than PBS sham controls 13 days post inoculation. Representative ventral funicular lesions of lumbar spinal cord from PBS (vehicle, A) and PEG-PH20 treated (B) EAE animals taken on day 13 are illustrated. Myelin FluoroMyelin) is shown as red, CD4+ T-cells are green and cell nuclei are stained blue (Hoechst). Vehicle-treated animals have more demyelination than PEG-PH20 treated animals as quantified by stereology in (C). Also, fewer CD4⁺ cells are present in PEG-PH20 treated sections (D) by stereologic quantification demonstrating delayed infiltration. Scale bar=100μm.* p<0.005, t- test.

To address the possibility that delayed disease onset in PEG-PH20 treated animals is related to reduced axonopathy, spinal cords from naïve, day 13 control and PEG-PH20-treated animals were labeled with neurofilament-L. Representative, high magnification images of similar sized lesion areas are illustrated in Figure 3.9. Axons from PEG-PH20-treated animals demonstrated fewer varicosities and swellings than controls (Figure 3.9, F vs. E). Additionally, more denuded axons were evident in PEG-PH20 treated lesions than controls (Figure 3.9 H and I arrows).



Figure 3.9. Some axons in demyelinated lesions are spared at EAE day 13 but not day 21 by PEG-PH20 treatment. Representative ventral lumbar spinal cord sections from a naïve animal (left column), an EAE PBS vehicle control (middle column) and a PEG-PH20 treated EAE animal (right column) on day 13 (top) and 21 (bottom) are shown. Demyelinating lesions, identified by the lack of FluoroMyelin label (FM row and red in overlay) in EAE day 13 PEG-PH20 treated animal contained more neurofilament (NF row and green in overlay) positive axons (arrows in overlays) compared to PBS vehicle control. Demyelinated areas from both treatment groups contain few axons relative to naïve control indicating PEG-PH20 mediated axonal sparing was not extensive at the EAE day 13 time point. By EAE day 21, there was no visual difference between groups in the number of axons in demyelinated areas (bottom two overlays). Scale bar= 100μm.

Stereologic analysis of spinal cords from mice with EAE 21 days post-inoculation revealed that PEG-PH20 treatment continued to significantly reduce the degree of demyelination albeit to a lesser extent than at day 13 (24.4% smaller lesion volume than controls; Figure 3.10A-C). However, consistent with the elevated disease scores at this time point, these animals demonstrated significantly increased numbers of infiltrating T-cells (1.9 fold more than controls; Figure 3.10D). Additionally, the number of neurofilament-L positive axons proximal to and within areas of demyelination was visually indistinguishable between treatment groups (Figure 3.9J, K).



Figure 3.10. PEG-PH20 treated EAE animals have less demyelination and more CD4⁺ T-cells 21 days post inoculation. Representative ventral funicular lesions of lumbar spinal cord from PBS (vehicle, A) and PEG-PH20-treated (B) EAE animals taken on day 21 are illustrated. Myelin FluoroMyelin) is shown as red, CD4+ T-cells are green and cell nuclei are stained blue (Hoechst). Vehicle-treated animals have more demyelination than PEG-PH20 treated animals as quantified by stereology in (C). Also, more CD4⁺ cells are present in PEG-PH20 treated sections (D) by stereologic quantification suggesting elevated CNS inflammation relative to control at this time-point. Scale bar=100µm. * p<0.005, t- test.

Overall, these data suggest that PEG-PH20 treatment effectively delays disease onset by impairing T-cell extravasation resulting in less CNS inflammation, demyelination and axonopathy early in disease. However, prolonged administration of PEG-PH20 increases CNS inflammation resulting in more severe clinical disease and negates/diminishes respectively its benefit to axon survival/demyelination observed in early disease.

HA is removed from CNS bloods vessels at EAE day 13 by PEG-PH20 but is reexpressed at EAE day 21

To confirm that PEG-PH20 treatment leads to chronic reductions in HA in CNS blood vessels, lumbar spinal tissue from animals with EAE was harvested from PEG-PH20-treated and vehicle-treated mice at 13-days post-inoculation and labeled for ECs, T-cells and HA (Figure 3.11A, B).

A representative image of a blood vessel from a vehicle-treated animal shows HA labeling within the EC lumen adjacent to CD31 positive tight-junctions (Figure 3.11A). Additionally, CD4⁺ cells were often observed (18/32 vessels) co-localizing with HA within the lumen of the vessel (arrow and arrowhead). CD4⁺ cells are also observed in the perivascular space co-localized with high levels of HA, as is typical of active EAE lesions (curved arrows, Figure 3.11A). In contrast, HA is undetectable within the luminal area of blood vessels from PEG-PH20 treated animals. No CD4⁺ cells are observed within the lumen of PEG-PH20 treated vessels (0/26 vessels), however, some CD4⁺ cells are present in HA-rich areas within the perivascular area (block arrows, Figure 3.11B).



Figure 3.11. Subcutaneously injected PEG-PH20 degrades and removes HA from CNS blood vessels of day 13 EAE animals. Representative images of CNS blood vessels (CD31, white) from EAE animals treated with PBS (vehicle) (A) or PEG-PH20 (B) are shown. A) In vehicle-treated EAE vessels, HA (red) is present in the vessel lumen (arrows) and frequently co-localizes with CD4⁺ (green) T-cells (18/32 vessels, block arrow). The orthogonal view (far right A) demonstrates CD4⁺ T-cell contacting HA tethered to the endothelial lumen proximal to a CD31 positive tight junction (arrow head). B) In PEG-PH20 treated vessels, HA is absent from the vessel lumen. CD4⁺ T-cells were never visualized contacting the vessel lumen (0/26 vessels). CD4⁺ cells were only found in the immediate perivascular area (asterisk) and not widespread throughout the demyelinating lesion as in vehicle-treated animals (curved arrows). Scale bar is 25 μ m. Images are 8 μ m z-projections.

A possible explanation for increased T-cell infiltration into the CNS of mice with EAE following prolonged PEG-PH20 treatment is that HA is re-expressed in the lumen of CNS vessels at later times of disease progression. To address this possibility, CNS vessels from day 21 EAE animals treated with vehicle or PEG-PH20 were examined for HA expression. We find that HA is present along the lumen surface (arrows) in both vehicle- and PEG-PH20 treated EAE day 21 vessels (Figure 3.12A,B), but that the intensity of staining in both cases is significantly less than is observed in vessels from day 13 vehicle-treated EAE animals. Consistent with the low intensity HA staining, few

vessels in vehicle-treated day 21 EAE mice contained CD4⁺ cells interacting with the luminal surface (2/34 vessels). However, despite the relatively weak HA label, vessels from PEG-PH20 treated EAE day 21 mice often had CD4⁺ cells interacting with the luminal surface (14/27 vessels, Figure 3.12B, block arrow and arrow heads).



Figure 3.12. CNS blood vessels of PEG-PH20 treated EAE animals re-express HA 21 days postinoculation. Representative images of CNS blood vessels (CD31, white) from EAE animals treated with PBS (vehicle, A) or PEG-PH20 (B) are shown. A) In vehicle-treated EAE vessels, HA (red) is present in the vessel lumen (arrows) but with less intensity than was observed in EAE day 13 vehicle treated animals (Figure 6A) Few CD4⁺ cells are observed contacting the luminal surface (2/34 vessels). B) Within PEG-PH20 treated vessels, HA is observed with similar intensity of signal as in PBS treated vessels of the same time point (arrows). Many CD4⁺ cells are observed contacting the vessel lumen (14/27 vessels, block arrow). The orthogonal view (far right B) demonstrates a CD4⁺ T-cell (block arrow) within the vessel lumen in close apposition to HA present in the luminal area proximal to a CD31 positive tight junction (arrow head in right orthogonal view). The same cell is also in direct apposition to luminal HA in an area distal from intense CD31 staining (arrow head in lower orthogonal view). Scale bar is 25μm. Images are 6μm z-projections.

Given that CNS ECs increase expression of HAS1 mRNA in response to proinflammatory stimulation (Figure 3.3E), we reasoned that HAS1 expression may be elevated in EAE day 21 PEG-PH20 treated vessels relative to PBS EAE controls. We examined HAS1 expression in EAE day 21 vessels via immunohistochemistry and found HAS1 expression was higher in PH20 treated vessels relative to PBS controls (Figure 3.13B vs A, left panels). Also, HAS1 labeling co-localized with HA labeling within the luminal area of PEG-PH20 treated vessels suggesting the HA may be newly synthesized (Figure 3.13B, middle panel, white arrows).



Figure 3.13. CNS blood vessels of PEG-PH20 treated EAE animals express more HAS1 21 days postinoculation than PBS controls. Representative images of CNS blood vessels (CD31, white) from EAE animals treated with PBS (vehicle, A) or PEG-PH20 (B) are shown. A) In PBS treated EAE vessels, HAS1 (green) and HA (red) are present in the vessel lumen, but no obvious co-localization is observed. B) HAS1 staining in PEG-PH20 treated vessels is brighter than in PBS controls and areas of co-localization with HA are observed. Co-localization may indicate that HA within this vessel is newly synthesized. Scale bar is 25µm. Images are 6µm z-projections.

These results are consistent with the hypothesis that PEG-PH20 degrades HA from the vessel lumen in early disease, impairing T-cell extravasation. However, HA is re-expressed within the lumen of PEG-PH20-treated vessels at EAE day 21 due to

increased HAS1 expression. HA re-expression may therefore account for the elevated disease score and the increased number of T-cells observed within the spinal cord.

Discussion

We have demonstrated that HA and the standard form of CD44 on the luminal surface of CNS ECs contribute significantly to the initial capture and subsequent rolling of encephalitogenic lymphocytes in an inflammatory demyelinating disease model. We found that both CD44^{-/-} animals and animals treated with a hyaluronidase experience delayed onset of EAE that could be accounted for by reduced numbers of encephalitogenic lymphocytes in demyelinating lesions. Our *in vitro* data indicate that CD44 expressed by stimulated brain ECs, but not by stimulated lymphocytes, contributes to lymphocyte rolling on ECs, and that this effect depends on HA being anchored to CD44 on the ECs. While this finding is novel in regard to CNS disease, a role for endothelial HA tethered to CD44 in lymphocyte extravasation has also been observed in a model of arthritis (Mikecz *et al.*, 1995). Together, these data support the idea that HA anchored to the CNS endothelial surface is a critical mediator of encephalitogenic immune cell trafficking in multiple organs and may represent a therapeutic target to treat inflammatory disease.

The finding that CD44 expressed by activated lymphocytes was dispensable for lymphocyte-EC interactions implies that lymphocytes possess an alternative mechanism for HA binding. One candidate HA binding protein is the receptor for hyaluronan mediated motility (RHAMM), which is expressed by developing CD3+ thymocytes although is reported to be largely absent from mature lymphocytes (Pilarski *et al.*, 1993; Pilarski *et al.*, 1994; Gares & Pilarski, 2000). Like CD44, RHAMM can be expressed at the cell surface where it can bind and tether HA and is capable of signaling through Src

kinase to influence cytoskeletal rearrangement (Turley *et al.*, 2002). If RHAMM expression was retained beyond thymic development in CD44^{-/-} lymphocytes, it could account for the lack of phenotype observed in our flow model. Another candidate is the HA receptor for endocytosis (HARE). It can be expressed on the cell surface, but it predominately localizes within sinusodial endothelia and its expression by lymphocytes has not been reported (Zhou *et al.*, 2000; Falkowski *et al.*, 2003). Interestingly, antibody blockage of HA binding to HARE impairs tumor cell metastasis, a process likened to active lymphocyte extravasation (Bockhorn *et al.*, 2007; Simpson *et al.*, 2012). HARE is also capable of initiating intracellular signaling via MAP kinases (Kyosseva *et al.*, 2008). If a redundant or compensatory mechanism for HA binding on activated lymphocytes cellular rearrangement in preparation for extravasation.

PEG-PH20 treatment of mice with EAE results in the degradation and removal of HA from the luminal surface of spinal cord vessels after 6 days of treatment (EAE day 13). However, after 14 days of PEG-PH20 treatment (EAE day 21), HAS1 protein expression was elevated in the vessel lumen relative to PBS controls and HA was re-expressed in the same area. Coincident with HA re-expression, the number of CD4⁺ infiltrates within the spinal cord of PEG-PH20 treated animals was elevated relative to controls. The mechanism underlying this reversal in disease progression is unknown. It is possible that degradation products of the injected enzyme may be signaling back onto ECs to enhance HAS1 expression. A likely candidate receptor is Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 which induces NF- κ B dependent signaling in response to HA fragments resulting in pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Shimada *et al.*, 2008). Indeed, cytokines such as TFN α have been shown to increase HAS expression and HA synthesis on human ECs

resulting in enhanced monocyte adhesion (Vigetti *et al.*, 2010). Additionally, HA signaling through TLR4 on ECs increases the expression of other molecules involved in immune cell extravasation. For example, in dermal ECs, TLR4 signal induced by HA fragments increases expression of the cell adhesion molecule ICAM-1 and the chemokine MIP-2 which are involved in the recruitment of neutrophils (Taylor *et al.*, 2004). CD44/HA interactions mediate neutrophil and lymphocyte adhesion and migration across endothelium (Khan *et al.*, 2004). Additionally, siRNA inhibition of endogenous hyaluronidases in fibroblasts subjected to collagen-induced arthritis decreases TLR4 expression, NF- κ B activation and IL-1 β production elicited by TNF α stimulation (Campo *et al.*, 2012).

An alternative explanation for enhanced T-cell infiltration in PEG-PH20-treated EAE animals at day 21 may be that the injected enzyme is being inactivated by the endogenous humoral response. Both non-human primates and mice have been shown to generate anti-PH20 specific antibodies against injected recombinant PH20 protein (Deng *et al.*, 2002; Hardy *et al.*, 2004). Interestingly, co-injection of recombinant protein with an adjuvant results in higher anti-PH20 titers. Because our subcutaneous PEG-PH20 injections were made coincident with adjuvant injections, the humoral response against PEG-PH20 may have been enhanced.

Using *in vitro* and *in vivo* approaches, we determined that HA anchored to standard CD44 on CNS endothelial cells contributes to the adhesion and subsequent extravasation of lymphocytes. However, approximately 50% of activated lymphocytes are still capable of slow rolling in our blood flow model and PEG-PH20 treated animals still develop EAE. The question remains what other cell adhesion molecules contribute to the capture and rolling of encephalitogenic T-cells? Endothelial P-selectin and its T-cell ligand, PSGL-1 have been implicated in the development of EAE but this is a
contentious issue. Several studies, using P-selectin^{-/-} animals and blocking antibodies down-play the importance of these molecules in EAE development (Engelhardt et al., 1997; Doring et al., 2007), while others contend they are critical mediators of this process (Kerfoot & Kubes, 2002; Piccio et al., 2002). A recent study claims that Pselectin facilitates the ability of T-cell $\alpha 4$ integrin to induce firm adhesion of T-cells to CNS endothelium, but is not itself critical for the induction of EAE (Kerfoot et al., 2006). These conclusions stem from the finding that P-selectin^{-/-} animals have delayed EAE onset but eventually develop severe disease. Additionally, if blocking antibodies to Pselectin and $\alpha 4$ integrin are co- injected, animals have delayed onset and quicker recovery than $\alpha 4$ integrin antibodies alone. The authors of this study speculate Pselectin facilitates firm adhesion by mediating capture and rolling of T-cells to the endothelial surface but that $\alpha 4$ integrin mediates encephalitogenic T-cell extravasation into CNS tissue. These results mirror closely our own findings with regard to EAE in CD44^{-/-} animals and suggest that HA tethered to CD44^{-/-} ECs may have redundant function with P-selectin in EAE development. The fact that a common signaling pathway activated by both CD44 and PSGL-1 mediates slow-rolling in neutrophils could explain why manipulating either pathway alone fails to completely abrogate T-cell rolling in vitro (Yago et al., 2010).

T-cell recruitment into the CNS depends on α 4 integrins (Yednock *et al.*, 1992). However α 4 integrins have also been implicated in mediating T-cell capture (Vajkoczy *et al.*, 2001). Low affinity α 4 integrin interacting with endothelial VCAM-1 allows for the transient capture of encephalitogenic T-cells at the CNS endothelial luminal surface. Following capture, G-protein-coupled signaling induces high affinity α 4 integrin could

represent another adhesion molecule contributing to T-cell adhesion in our experimental conditions. Indeed HA tethered to CD44 on endothelial cells may be functioning to capture T-cells and facilitate signaling to induce high affinity α 4 integrin expression in inflammatory disease. Due to the complex nature of T-cell capture, rolling and adherence to the CNS endothelium, a potential therapeutic strategy may include the blockage of a combination of cell adhesion molecules so far discussed. Further experiments may be required to reveal additional mechanisms involved in this process.

Axonal degeneration is responsible for chronic disability in MS and EAE (Wujek *et al.*, 2002). We attempted to quantify neurofilament-L labeling but due to the extensive and highly variable axonal damage were unable to produce reliable counts. We determined that the quality and number of axons in and around lesions was increased with PEG-PH20 treatment on day 13 post-inoculation. However the causative relationship between PEG-PH20 treatment and reduced axonal damage is unclear due to fewer CD4⁺ cells in the spinal cord at this time point. A recent EAE study demonstrates foci of infiltrating immune cells correlate with locally impaired axonal transport and markers of axonal damage at disease onset (Soulika *et al.*, 2009). It is likely the increase in spared axons is related to lower levels of inflammation within demyelinating lesions and not directly attributable to the activity of PEG-PH20. This idea is supported by the fact that the quality and number of axons in and around lesions was indistinguishable between treatment groups at 21 days post-inoculation. These findings are reminiscent of other studies inhibiting immune cell infiltration where axonopathy continues despite decreased CNS inflammation (Trapp & Nave, 2008).

Our experiments showed that both CD44^{-/-} and PEG-PH20 treated mice eventually became symptomatic and attained disease scores equivalent to controls. A recent study

(Guan *et al.*, 2011) reported a delay in onset of disease, which the authors did not discuss further, coupled with prolonged attenuation of symptoms when EAE was induced in CD44^{-/-} animals. The authors conclude that signaling through CD44 in encephalitogenic CD4⁺ T-cells results in epigenetic changes that drive differentiation of the cell toward a Th1/Th17 pro-inflammatory phenotype. Although such phenotypic shifts may contribute to EAE progression, results from our group and others (Laman *et al.*, 1998; Brennan *et al.*, 1999; Brocke *et al.*, 1999) indicate that CD44 also plays a significant role in the initiation of T cell rolling on ECs and, therefore, the extravasation of encephalitogenic lymphocytes into the CNS.

It is possible that the difference between our studies is related to differences in the severity of EAE that is being induced. Guan et al reported a maximal mean disease score of ~3.25 in WT controls and ~1.15 for CD44^{-/-} while our animals reached a maximal mean score of 4.33 for controls and 4.40 for CD44^{-/-}. Recently it was shown that the monosaccharide N-Acetylglucosamine, a component of HA, effectively inhibited Tcell activation and ameliorated MOG₃₅₋₅₅ induced C57BL/6 EAE. However, treatment is clinically ineffective if EAE is induced in 2D2 T cell receptor transgenic mice, which display more robust disease (Grigorian et al., 2011). The severity of EAE disease is known to vary depending on the population of cellular infiltrates. Other studies have shown that adoptive transfer of myelin reactive CD8⁺ T-cells induces more severe disease than active disease induction alone (Sun et al., 2001). Although we did not directly assay CD8⁺ cells, our ability to induce more severe disease implies a greater contribution of the CD8⁺ phenotype to disease pathogenicity in our model. As such, the contribution of deficient CD44 signaling to CD4⁺ encephalitogenic T-cell phenotype described by Guan et al may be masked in our findings. Because myelin reactive CD8⁺ cells are more prevalent within MS lesions than CD4⁺ cells (Hauser et al., 1986), our findings may better reflect the potential therapeutic outcomes of manipulating CD44 or HA.

In conclusion we have demonstrated that standard CD44 on CNS ECs but not activated lymphocytes contributes to lymphocyte rolling on the endothelial surface. These findings expand the knowledge of mechanisms promoting inflammatory demyelinating CNS disease and suggest that HA anchored to EC CD44 represents a therapeutic target to reduce immune cell infiltration into the brain. Future studies aimed at testing whether transient HA degradation during early stage disease might have the potential to enhance other therapeutic agents that limit MS attacks will reveal the potential of targeting HA as a means of limiting disease severity.

Chapter 4: Hyaluronan oligosaccharides act on activated lymphocytes to delay the onset of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis²

Clayton W. Winkler[‡], Scott C. Foster[‡], Asako Itakura[§], Steven G. Matsumoto^{‡,¶}, Akira Asari^{*}, Owen J.T. McCarty[§] and Lawrence S. Sherman[‡]

^{*}Division of Neuroscience, Oregon National Primate Research Center, Oregon Health & Science University, Beaverton, OR, 97006

[§] Department of Cell & Developmental Biology, School of Medicine, Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR 97239, USA

[¶]Integrative Biosciences Department, School of Dentistry, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR 97239, USA

^{*}Hyaluronan Research Institute, Inc., 4-5-9, Kichijojimnami-cho Musashino-shi Tokyo 180-0003, Japan

Abstract

Multiple sclerosis (MS) and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) are inflammatory demyelinating diseases characterized by mononuclear cell infiltration into the central nervous system (CNS). The glycosaminoglycan hyaluronan (HA) and HA receptors, including CD44 and particular Toll-like receptors (TLRs), have been implicated in MS and EAE pathogenesis. We previously found that digestion of high molecular weight HA tethered to brain vascular endothelial cells using a hyaluronidase delayed EAE onset. It is unclear if these effects were due to the removal of HA or the generation of HA digestion products that acted on mononuclear cell signaling. Here, we find that subcutaneously injected HA dodecasaccharides (HA12) delay the onset and

² Submitted to the Journal of Leukocyte Biology prior to defense.

reduce the severity of EAE. Although HA12 treatment had no effect on the infiltration of CD3⁺ cells into the CNS, it leads to less severe demyelination. HA12 impaired activated lymphocyte rolling on CNS vascular endothelium when applied to lymphocytes but not CNS endothelial cells. The effects of HA12 on lymphocyte rolling were not abrogated in CD44-null or TLR4-null lymphocytes, or in wild type lymphocytes treated with a TLR4 neutralizing antibody. These data support the hypothesis that HA oligosaccharides can modulate inflammatory demyelinating disease in the CNS by acting directly on lymphocytes.

Introduction

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) and its animal model experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) are inflammatory diseases characterized by the infiltration or extravasation of myelin-reactive lymphocytes into the central nervous system (CNS) (Kuerten & Lehmann, 2011; Nylander & Hafler, 2012). These encephalitogenic cells, particularly CD4⁺ T-cells, cause demyelination, axonal damage and both glial cell and neuronal death (Goverman, 2009). Impairing lymphocyte extravasation across CNS vascular endothelium delays disease progression and reduces disease severity (Yednock *et al.*, 1992; Baron *et al.*, 1993; Polman *et al.*, 2006). However, our understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying this process is incomplete and the molecules involved have been disputed (Kerfoot *et al.*, 2006; Doring *et al.*, 2007).

Several studies, including the work present in Chapter 3, have implicated a role for the transmembrane receptor and adhesion molecule CD44 in promoting EAE pathogenesis by facilitating lymphocyte extravasation (Laman *et al.*, 1998; Brennan *et al.*, 1999; Brocke *et al.*, 1999, Guan *et al.*, 2011). This role depends at least in part on lymphocyte interactions with high molecular weight (HMW) forms of the CD44 ligand hyaluronan

(HA) bound to CNS vascular endothelial cells (see Chapter 3). HA is a large (up to 10⁷ Da) glycosaminoglycan composed of repeating units of D-glucuronic acid and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine. In mammals, it is synthesized at the inner leaflet of the cell membrane by one of three synthases (HAS1-3) that extrude HA into the extracellular matrix as a linear, non-sulfated molecule. During inflammation, HAS expression increases, resulting in local accumulation of HMW HA (Kennedy *et al.*, 2000; Tammi *et al.*, 2005). Concomitant induction of HYAL expression results in accumulation of HA fragments as small as oligosaccharides (Sampson *et al.*, 1992; Girish & Kemparaju, 2007). Furthermore, inflammatory products such as reactive oxygen species fragment HA at glycoside linkages increasing HA oligosaccharide concentrations beyond physiologic levels at sites of inflammation (Noble, 2002).

There are conflicting data regarding the roles of CD44 in HA oligosaccharide signaling. CD44 is widely expressed, including by lymphocytes and CNS endothelial cells (EC) and is capable of both cell adhesion and signaling interactions (Lokeshwar *et al.*, 1996; Pure & Cuff, 2001; Ponta *et al.*, 2003). CD44 on lymphocytes has been shown to interact with HA tethered to CD44 on ECs to mediate capture, rolling and adhesion (DeGrendele *et al.*, 1996; DeGrendele *et al.*, 1997a; Nandi *et al.*, 2004). Our own findings support a role for CD44-HA interactions in lymphocyte extravasation into the CNS and suggest that disrupting these interactions has a beneficial outcome for inflammatory demyelinating diseases (see Chapter 3). HA oligosaccharides are capable of interfering with CD44-HA interactions via several mechanisms. These include CD44 receptor cleavage (Sugahara *et al.*, 2003), displacement of bound HMW HA (Tammi *et al.*, 1998) or competitive binding (Teriete *et al.*, 2004). Conceivably, loss of CD44 or displacement of HWM HA would result in decreased receptor aggregation, diminishing cell-cell adhesion

interactions and intracellular signaling. These effects, singly or in combination may interrupt activated lymphocyte rolling and adhesion in the CNS.

During inflammation, HA fragments, including oligosaccharides may signal through a number of receptors other than CD44, including Toll-like receptor-2 (TLR2) and -4 (TLR4) (Taylor *et al.*, 2004; Jiang *et al.*, 2005; Scheibner *et al.*, 2006). TLRs are a family of pattern-recognition receptors involved in microbial recognition by the immune system (Barton & Medzhitov, 2003). HA oligosaccharide-mediated signaling through TLRs is generally considered to be pro-inflammatory (Stern *et al.*, 2006; Jiang *et al.*, 2007); however their roles in HA-mediated CNS inflammation and lymphocyte extravasation have not been addressed. Naïve lymphatic-derived mouse CD4⁺ T cells express transcripts for TLR4 but not TLR2 (Gelman *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, TLR4 signaling inhibits T cell activation (Gonzalez-Navajas *et al.*, 2010) and HA oligosacchardies can induce elevated CD44 and TLR4 expression (Campo *et al.*, 2010; Campo *et al.*, 2012). It is possible; therefore, that HA oligosaccharide-induced TLR4 signaling may influence T-cell mediated inflammation during EAE progression leading to reduced extravasation of encephalitogenic cells.

In this study, we tested the ability of HA oligosaccharides to inhibit the onset and progression of EAE. We show that dodecasaccharides of HA (HA12) delay the onset of EAE and reduce disease burden. Treating lymphocytes with HA12 impairs their interaction with CNS ECs, however the candidate receptors CD44 and TLR4 do not mediate this effect. These findings suggest another HA receptor or receptors on lymphocytes signals in response to HA12 and can modulate the onset and course of inflammatory demyelinating disease.

Results

HA oligosaccharides delay the onset of EAE

We previously determined that HA tethered to CD44 on the surface of CNS ECs facilitates lymphocyte rolling that contributes to the onset of EAE (described in Chapter 3). Degradation of HA by a hyaluronidase delayed EAE onset. These effects may have resulted from the removal of HMW HA from the lumen of CNS blood vessels or the generation of low molecular weight forms of HA that have distinct biological activities on ECs or lymphocytes. HA oligosaccharides, including those generated by HMW HA digestion, can prevent CD44 binding to HMW HA through various means, including ligand displacement and receptor cleavage (Tammi et al., 1998; Sugahara et al., 2003), but can also have distinct biological activities that influence inflammatory responses (Genasetti et al., 2008; Campo et al., 2010; Campo et al., 2012). We therefore tested if two different oligosaccharides of HA, HA12 and HA4 influenced EAE onset and progression. HA4, HA12 or PBS alone (vehicle control) were subcutaneously administered to mice every 2 days starting 7 days after the induction of chronic EAE. Clinical scores were rated over a 20-day period in 8 week old WT C57/B6 mice immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ to induce active EAE. Symptoms were evident in PBS-treated animals by 12 days post-inoculation with a mean onset on day 13 (Figure 4.1A,C). In contrast animals treated with HA4 (Figure 4.1A) or HA12 (Figure 4.1C) on average had a 2 day delay in disease onset, with a mean onset on day 15 (*p<0.05 repeated measures ANOVA). Although not statistically significant, mean daily EAE scores of HA12 treated animals after day 15 remained lower than PBS treated controls through the end of the experiment while animals treated with HA4 had disease scores that actually exceeded control by day 20 post-inoculation. Reinforcing this observation, the mean cumulative disease index (CDI) score of HA12 treated animals was significantly less than PBS controls (*p<0.05 t-test, Figure 4.1D) but there was no significant difference in the CDIs

of animals treated with HA4 (Figure 4.1 B). Thus, both HA12 and HA4 delay the onset of EAE, but only HA12 results in an improved CDI score.



Figure 4.1. Subcutaneously injected HA 4 and HA12 delays the clinical onset of active EAE and ameliorates chronic disease burden. A-D) EAE was induced in 10 C57BL/6 female mice in two different experiments. For each experiment, half (n=5) of the animals were randomly selected to receive subcutaneous PBS (vehicle) injections (50 ul) and the other half, HA4 (A, B) or HA12 (C, D) (50 mg/kg, in 50 ul PBS). Injections were given in the hind flank every other day beginning 7 days post inoculation (gray arrows). Mice were injected and scored by a blinded experimenter. HA4 (A) and HA12 (C) treated animals had delayed onset of disease by two days (*).Animals were perfused for histology 20 days post inoculation. *p<0.05, repeated measures ANOVA. B and D) Mean cumulative disease score was determined by summing individual daily scores for each animal and averaging across the group. HA4 (B) CDI scores were not significantly different than PBS control. However HA12 (D) treated animals had significantly lower CDI than control (*). *p<0.05 t-test.

HA oligosaccharides improve EAE histological outcome

Our finding that HA12 treated animals have delayed disease onset and less chronic disease burden suggests that CNS inflammation was reduced by this treatment. Therefore, EAE lumbar spinal cord sections were histologically assayed for myelin and infiltrating CD3⁺ T-cells. PBS treated controls exhibited diffuse and robust demyelination as visualized by FluoroMyelin stain (Figure 4.2A, B red). In contrast, HA12-treated animals had significantly less demyelination as determined by stereologic quantification (Figure 4.2D, E and G). CD3⁺ T-cells were distributed fairly evenly across demyelinated areas in PBS controls (Figure 4.2B, C). However, CD3⁺ T-cells were concentrated toward a presumably perivascular focal point within the lesions of HA12-treated animals (Figure 4.2E, F). Interestingly, there was no significant difference in the mean number of CD3⁺ T-cells between groups via stereology (Figure 4.2H).



Figure 4.2. HA12 treated EAE animals have less diffuse demyelination and more concentrated sites of infiltration than PBS sham controls 20 days post inoculation. Representative ventral funicular lesions of lumbar spinal cord from PBS (vehicle, A-C) and HA12 treated (D-F) EAE animals taken on EAE day 20. Myelin FluoroMyelin) is shown as red, $CD3^+$ T-cells are green and cell nuclei are stained blue (Hoechst). PBS-treated animals have more demyelination than PEG-PH20 treated animals as quantified by stereology in (G). No significant difference in $CD3^+$ cell number is was quantified (H), however infiltrates are concentrated at presumably perivascular sites consistent with recent infiltration. Scale bar=100 μ m.* p<0.05, t- test.

HA oligosaccharides impair activated lymphocyte rolling on CNS ECs

Our previous study indicated that digestion of HA by a hyaluronidase inhibited T cell rolling on CNS vascular ECs. To test if HA12 similarly inhibited T cell rolling on ECs, we utilized an *in vitro* static adhesion assay where calcein-AM loaded WT lymphocytes or CNS WT ECs grown in a mono-layer were pre-treated with HA12 prior to interaction in a

co-culture for 1 hour. Following two washes with culture medium, fluorescent intensity emitted by lymphocytes was decreased in wells where lymphocytes had been treated with 50 ug/mL and 10 ug/mL HA12 (Figure 4.3A). No change in fluorescent intensity was observed in co-cultures where ECs had been treated with HA12 (Figure 4.3B). These findings demonstrate HA12 impairs activated lymphocyte adherence through a lymphocyte-dependent mechanism.



Figure 4.3. Pre-treatment of activated LCs, not CNS ECs with HA12 disrupts LC adhesion. CD3/CD28 stimulated LCs were loaded with calcein-AM dye for 15min. Activated LCs (A) or CNS ECs (B) were pre-incubated with various concentration of HA12 (50, 10 and 1 ug/mL) or PBS 30 minutes prior to a 1 hour co-culture. Fluorescence was measured at 538 nm after 2 washes with culture medium. * p<0.05, t- test.

Because CD44-HA interactions are proposed to be critical for lymphocyte rolling on ECs (DeGrendele *et al.*, 1996), we utilized an *in vitro* parallel-plate physiologic flow assay to better model this process. Confirming our static adhesion assay results, HA12 treatment

of lymphocytes prior to use in the flow assay reduced the number of interacting cells compared to PBS controls (Figure 4.4B vs. A).



Figure 4.4. Treating WT LCs with HA12 impairs activated LC rolling on CNS ECs. Representative bright-field images of psuedo colored (black) of PBS treated WT LCs (A) and HA12 treated WT LCs bound to WT ECs at the end of a 7 minute experiment. (C) HA12 treated (30min, 10 ug/mL) WT LCs had significantly fewer interactions with CNS endothelial cell than PBS treated controls. D) Treatment of WT LCs with HA12 significantly decreased the number of slowest (<0.5 μ m/sec) and slow (0.5-1 μ m/sec) rolling cells compared to PBS control. Data from all experimental groups represent two independent experiments performed in triplicate. *p<0.05, t- test compared to WT LCs+Vehicle.

Quantification of the parallel plate assays revealed a 27.9.% decrease in the number of interacting cells (Figure 4.4C, *p<0.05 t-test). Using particle tracking software, the average rolling speed of all cells was determined. Bins for slowest (<0.5 μ m/sec), slow (0.5-1 μ m/sec), medium (1-5 μ m/sec) and fast (5+ μ m/sec) rolling cells were generated and plotted against mean number of interacting cells for both treatment groups (Figure

4.4D). Within the slowest and slow groups, HA12 treatment significantly decreased the number of rolling lymphocytes (Figure 4.4D, *p<0.05, t-test). HA12 treatment also trended toward increasing the number of fast rolling interacting cells although not significantly. Collectively, these data indicate that HA12 treatment interferes with the capture and slow rolling of lymphocytes on CNS ECs, decreasing the opportunity for subsequent lymphocyte extravasation.

The effect of HA12 on activated lymphocyte rolling is independent of CD44

We previously demonstrated that CD44 on lymphocytes is dispensable for the adhesive interactions with HA tethered to CNS endothelial cells (Figure 3.2). However, CD44 also functions as a signaling molecule that can influence lymphocyte migration and cell-cell adhesion (Ponta *et al.*, 2003). CD44 may therefore mediate other aspects of lymphocyte interactions with ECs that could be altered by HA12. To address this possibility, CD44^{-/-} lymphocytes were pretreated with HA12 or PBS prior to use in the parallel plate assay. Similar to WT lymphocytes, HA12 treatment of CD44^{-/-} lymphocytes significantly reduced the number of interacting cells compared to control (28.1%, Figure 4.5A, *p<0.05 t-test). Furthermore, like WT cells, HA12 treatment significantly decreased the number of CD44^{-/-} lymphocytes in the slowest rolling bin and trended toward an increase in the number of fast rolling cells (Figure 4.5B, *p,0.05 t-test). Interestingly, the number of slow rolling cells was not significantly different between the groups; however, this may be accounted for by mild deficits in lymphocyte extravasation previously observed in the CD44^{-/-} phenotype (Protin *et al.*, 1999). Overall, these data imply that the impaired slowest/slow rolling phenotype generated by HA12 treatment is not mediated by CD44.



Figure 4.5. HA12 impaired LC rolling phenotype is not altered in CD44^{-/-} **LCs.** (A) HA12 treated (30min, 10 ug/mL) CD44^{-/-} LCs had significantly fewer interactions with activated CNS ECs than PBS treated CD44^{-/-} LC controls. D) Treatment of CD44^{-/-} LCs with HA12 significantly decreased the number of slowest (<0.5 μ m/sec) rolling cells compared to PBS control. Data from all experimental groups represent two independent experiments performed in triplicate. *p<0.05, t- test compared to CD44^{-/-} LCs+Vehicle.</sup>

The effect of HA12 on activated lymphocyte rolling is independent of TLR4

HA oligosaccharides can signal through TLR4, typically inducing expression of proinflammatory cytokines (Taylor *et al.*, 2004; Shimada *et al.*, 2008). However, TLR4 signaling has been shown to have an inhibitory role in T-cell mediated inflammation (Gonzalez-Navajas *et al.*, 2010). Previously, TLR4 mRNA transcripts in T-cells have been reported to decrease with CD3/CD28 activation out to 24 hr (Gelman *et al.*, 2004; Gonzalez-Navajas *et al.*, 2010). Consistent with these findings, at the 72 hr postactivation time-point we utilized for our experiments, we found a modest induction of TLR4 transcripts in activated lymphocytes (Figure. 4.6).



Figure 4.6. TLR4 mRNA transcript is modestly increased at 72hr of activation in LC. qRT analysis of *Tlr4* mRNA in WT LCs stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 for 0 and 72hr. There is a modest, but statistically insignificant increase in transcript at this time point.

To test if the effects of HA12 on lymphocyte rolling are regulated by TLR4, we assayed activated lymphocyte recruitment and rolling in WT lymphocytes pre-treated with HA12 and a TLR4 blocking antibody (anti-TLR4) or an isotype control (anti-Iso). Additionally, we assayed TLR4^{-/-} lymphocytes pretreated with HA12. HA12 treatment alone decreased the number of interacting lymphocytes as expected (45%, Figure 4.7A). This effect was not altered by the TLR4 blocking antibody or an isotype control antibody (49% and 52% respectively Figure 4.7A). Furthermore, activated TLR4^{-/-} lymphocytes treated with HA12 had a 49% decrease in interacting cells relative to PBS controls (Figure 4.7A). No significant difference in number of interacting lymphocytes was observed in any of the HA12- treated groups (Figure 4.7A). Similarly, no significant difference was observed in the number of interacting cells within speed bins between the HA12 only, HA12 + TLR4 blocking antibody, HA12 + isotype control or HA12 + TLR4^{-/-} lymphocyte

treatment groups (Figure 4.7B). These data indicate that TLR4 signaling is not required to mediate the effects of HA12 on lymphocyte rolling.



Figure 4.7. Blockage or knockout of TLR4 signaling does not alter HA12 mediated LC rolling impairment. A) WT LCs treated with PBS (vehicle) interacted more frequently with activated CNS ECs than did WT LCs treated with HA12 (10 ug/mL, 30 min) only, HA12+TLR4 blocking antibody (anti-TLR4, clone MTS510, 100 ng/mL, 10min prior to HA12), HA12+Isotype antibody (anti-Iso, Rat IgG2a, κ , 100ng/mL, 10min prior to HA12) or HA12 treated TLR4^{-/-} LCs. B) PBS treated LCs has significantly more rolling cells in the slowest (<0.5 mm/sec) speed bin and the medium (1-5 mm/sec). However, no significance (NS) was observed in the number of rolling cells between any of the HA12 treated LC + treatment conditions in any speed bin. Data from all experimental groups represent one experiment performed in triplicate. *p<0.05, t-test compared to WT LCs+HA12.

Discussion

Digestion of HMW HA tethered to CNS ECs in mice with EAE is sufficient to delay the onset of disease and impair lymphocyte rolling (Figure 3.6 and 3.5). HWM HA digestion produces HA fragments and oligosaccharides that contribute to an already increased pool of HA products resulting from inflammatory processes. We find that subcutaneously injected HA12 delays EAE onset and reduces disease burden. Additionally, histological analysis reveals less demyelination in discrete spinal cord EAE lesions in HA12-treated animals 20 days post-immunization, consistent with the idea that HA12 treatment delays demyelinating disease. These findings are consistent with an impaired extravasation phenotype; however, we did not find a significant difference in number of infiltrating CD3⁺ T-cells at the day 20 time point. Our previous study indicated that manipulations of HA resulting in impaired extravasation have quantifiable differences in infiltrating T-cells at disease onset and not later (described in Chapter 3). Therefore, the observation of similar numbers of infiltrating cells in the treatment group compared to controls could be accounted for by perivascular proliferation of T-cells consistent with newly active lesions (Serafini *et al.*, 2006; Liu *et al.*, 2007).

Our findings also demonstrate that HA12 treatment of activated lymphocytes but not CNS ECs is sufficient to impair lymphocyte interactions with CNS endothelia. This implies an HA receptor competent to interact with HA oligosaccharides is mediating this process. CD44 and TLR4 are known HA oligosaccharide receptors expressed by lymphocytes; however our results indicate they are not involved in lymphocyte rolling and capture. Therefore the question remains: how is HA12 treatment of activated lymphocytes mediating this effect? It is likely that another HA receptor, such as RHAMM interacts with HA oligosaccharides to impair lymphocyte-CNS endothelial interactions.

RHAMM is known to mediate cell adhesion and migration in both normal and pathological states (Sherman *et al.*, 1994) and has been implicated in T-cell development and migration (Pilarski *et al.*, 1993). Furthermore, RHAMM is expressed at the cell surface of lymphocytes and facilitates cytoskeletal re-arrangements that could influence T-cell extravasation (Turley *et al.*, 2002). However, HA and HA oligosaccharides interact with RHAMM to promote leukocyte infiltration in an arthritis model (Nedvetzki *et al.*, 2004) and macrophage recruitment during lung injury (Zaman *et al.*, 2005). Collectively these data imply that RHAMM-HA interactions in immune cells are generally pro-inflammatory and would likely promote lymphocyte extravasation at the CNS endothelium, contrary to our observed phenotype.

Our finding that TLR4 signaling is not required for the effects of HA12 on lymphocyte rolling was surprising in light of several studies implicating TLR4 in the activities of HA oligosaccharides. TLR4 has been implicated in inhibiting activation of naïve T-cells and may be functionally expressed on circulating T-cells (Komai-Koma *et al.*, 2004; Gonzalez-Navajas *et al.*, 2010). HA oligosaccharides also signal through TLR2 which has been shown to have some over-lapping function with TLR4 (Jiang *et al.*, 2005; Shimada *et al.*, 2008), although in other studies, HA oligosaccharides functioned through TLR4 and not TLR2 (Termeer *et al.*, 2002). Impairing signaling of both receptors can also be required to completely abolish HA oligosaccharide-induced activity (Jiang *et al.*, 2005; Shimada *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, if TLR signaling were involved in lymphocyte rolling at the CNS endothelium we would expect a modest phenotype when TLR4 signaling is impaired that is magnified when TLR2 signaling is abolished. Nonetheless, experiments impairing signaling through TLR2 either alone or in combination with TLR4 could further establish if TLR signaling is involved in the effects of HA12 on lymphocyte rolling.

Tumor necrosis factor stimulated gene-6 (TSG-6) could also influence the effects of HA oligosaccharides on lymphocyte rolling. TSG-6 is a secreted protein whose expression is up-regulated in many cell types including peripheral blood mononuclear cells in response to cytokines and growth factors (Milner & Day, 2003). Its expression by lymphocytes is unknown; however a gene with significant sequence homology to TSG-6 was identified in lymphocytes in lampreys (Mayer et al., 2002). TSG-6 is principally known to rearrange components of the ECM through catalytic transfer with serine proteases (Jiang et al., 2011), but can also facilitate lymphocyte capture and rolling on ECs by promoting HA adhesion to the cell surface in vitro (Lesley et al., 2004). Furthermore, HA oligosaccharides (8-10mers) can competitively bind to TSG-6 displacing HMW species (Heng et al., 2008). This suggests that TSG-6 could function to support HA mediated adhesion with lymphocytes at the CNS vascular endothelium. Conversely, TSG-6 has been shown to prevent neutrophil infiltration into sites of inflammation during arthritis presumably by interfering with HA-CD44 interactions at the synovial endothelium (Szanto et al., 2004). Therefore HA oligosaccharide-induced expression of TSG-6 at sites of inflammation may also prevent immune cell extravasation.

Collectively, our data support the notion that digestion products of HWM HA species can delay the onset of CNS inflammatory disease and impair the rolling and subsequent extravasation of activated lymphocytes. These products likely mediate this effect through HA receptor interactions on lymphocytes, although the molecular mechanism remains unknown. We propose that HA degradation products produced during CNS inflammation, through the activities of hyaluronidases or other mechanisms, may function as a molecular brake on lymphocyte extravasation as local concentrations of HA

fragments increases throughout disease. Moreover, HA oligosaccharides are not overtly pro-inflammatory as has been previously suggested. As such, HA oligosaccharides represent a potential therapeutic tool aimed at slowing inflammatory demyelinating disease progression and reducing severity.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions

Much effort has been expended in understanding the etiology of MS (see Chapter 1), but the precise mechanisms underlying disease onset and progression remain unknown. Lacking this knowledge, attention has focused on treating disease symptoms. Evidence suggests that immune cells, particularly CD4+ T-cells are mediating MS pathology and symptomatology. Great strides have occurred in understanding the basic biology of Tcell activation and trafficking during autoimmune CNS inflammation. Much of this work has taken place in the animal model EAE which has also proven itself an effective therapeutic screen. Most notably the development of the α 4-integrin blocking antibody natalizumab, demonstrates the therapeutic validity of impairing T-cell extravasation. Adhesion molecules on lymphocytes and ECs that mediate T-cell capture and rolling are also therapeutic targets as they facilitate this process (Kerfoot & Kubes, 2002; Piccio *et al.*, 2002; Kerfoot *et al.*, 2006). Studies have suggested a role for the transmembrane signaling receptor and adhesion molecule CD44 and by association, its primary ligand HA, in promoting EAE pathogenesis by facilitating lymphocyte extravasation (Laman *et al.*, 1998; Brennan *et al.*, 1999; Brocke *et al.*, 1999).

A role for CD44-HA interactions in CD4+ T-cell extravasation in CNS demyelinating disease

The work presented in this thesis expands upon these observations by experimentally demonstrating HMW HA tethered to CD44 on CNS ECs facilitates activated T-cell capture and rolling. Surprisingly, CD44 on T-cells is dispensable for this process. These results are confirmed by PEG-PH20 hyaluronidase degradation of HMW HA on ECs, which impairs T-cell rolling, delays EAE onset and reduces demyelination. Interestingly, prolonged treatment of CNS ECs with PEG-PH20 results in HA re-expression *in vivo* during late-stage EAE. HA re-expression is coincident with increased HAS1 expression

and suggests that T-cell capture and rolling may be re-established at this time point. Indeed, increased numbers of CD4⁺ T-cells in the CNS were observed later in EAE (Day 21) and disease score was elevated. This finding implies the removal of HMW HA from CD44 on CNS endothelial cells induces pro-inflammatory signaling. Likely mediators of this effect are degradation and fragmentation products of HWM HA which signal through CD44 and TLRs on ECs (Savani et al., 2001; Taylor et al., 2004; Slevin et al., 2007). Therefore, I investigated the role of HA oligosaccharides in EAE pathogenesis and activated T-cell rolling. Surprisingly, treatment of EAE animals with oligosaccharides delays disease onset and reduces demyelination and CDI scores. Furthermore, HA oligosaccharides impair T-cell capture and rolling through a lymphocyte dependent mechanism that does not involve CD44 or TLR4. Collectively, these data support a model where HMW HA bound to CD44 on ECs promotes T-cell extravasation early in disease (Figure 5.1, A), while HA fragments produced by HYALs and reactive oxygen species during chronic inflammation may have opposing effects on disease pathogenesis that are independent of CD44 or TLR4 on lymphocytes (Figure 5.1, B). These findings highlight the importance of HA synthesis and catabolism during inflammatory CNS disease and suggest manipulations of this process may have therapeutic potential.



Figure 5.1. A Model of how HA and its degradation products could influence activated T-cell capture and rolling on CNS ECs. A) During early inflammation, HMW HA synthesis is induced by pro-inflammatory cytokines and is tethered to the surface of the EC cell via CD44. The T-cell initiates capture and rolling via an unknown cell surface receptor to initiate the process of extravasation. B) During chronic inflammation HYALs and reactive oxygen species degrade and fragment HMW HA. HA fragments 1) interact with HA receptor(s) on lymphocytes and impair capture and rolling, potentially via intracellular signaling, 2) possibly induce shedding of CD44 on the surface of ECs, 3) exclude HMW HA from the surface of ECs and 4) possibly signal through TLR to induce expression of cell adhesion molecules and cytokines. ? denotes lack of experimental data.

CD44 on WT T-cells may be involved in capture and rolling

The finding that HMW HA tethered to EC CD44 facilitates T-cell rolling supports the endothelial component of the 'sandwich model' hypothesis presented in Chapter 1. It is surprising, however, that T-cell CD44 is not necessary for this process. Alternative HA receptors have been discussed in Chapters 3 and 4; however, the work in this thesis does not exclude the possibility that CD44 on WT T-cells is sufficient to mediate T-cell rolling in the CNS. We and others have demonstrated that CD44^{-/-} mice develop chronic EAE symptoms following a delay in disease onset (Guan *et al.*, 2011; Winkler *et al.*, 2012). This modest phenotype could be accounted for by our finding that T-cell capture and rolling decreases ~50% in the absence of CD44 on ECs. Additionally, HA receptors

such as RHAMM have been shown to compensate for the loss of lymphocyte CD44 during inflammation (Nedvetzki et al., 2004). However, CD44 blocking antibody (IM7) injection into WT EAE mice completely prevents disease and T-cell extravasation (Brennan et al., 1999; Brocke et al., 1999). It has been proposed that IM7 induces CD44 shedding from T-cells, preventing capture and rolling during inflammatory disease; however this mechanism has not been directly confirmed in a rolling assay (Mikecz et al., 1995; Brennan et al., 1999). Alternatively, IM7 has been shown to directly block CD44-HA binding (Lesley et al., 1990) and is the proposed mechanism by which IM7 treatment of WT T-cells completely blocks capture and rolling on ECs in vitro (DeGrendele et al., 1996). Overall, these findings suggest acute removal or inactivation of CD44's HA binding activity on WT T-cells is necessary to demonstrate the receptor's contribution to capture and rolling. The most direct way to determine if CD44 on WT Tcells is sufficient to facilitate this process is to intravenously inject activated, fluorescently labeled T-cells that have been treated with IM7 into EAE mice at the time of disease onset and perform intravital microscopy as described by Kerfoot et al (Kerfoot & Kubes, 2002; Kerfoot et al., 2006). The advantages of this technique over in vitro parallel plate is that it will conclusively determine the contribution of CD44 on WT T-cells to capture and rolling in the context of inflammatory CNS disease and CD44's effect on extravasation can be directly measured by histology.

Degradation of HMW HA from CD44 on ECs may promote CNS inflammation

A fundamental, yet unexplained finding in this thesis is that degradation of HMW HA from CNS ECs during chronic EAE worsens disease and increased CD4⁺ infiltrates. A possible explanation for this observation is that because onset of CNS inflammation was delayed, so is its remission. To test this hypothesis, a long-term (to day 35 post-

immunization) EAE experiment was performed where PEG-PH20 was subcutaneously administered over the course of disease using the same protocol described for Figure 3.7 (Figure 5.2). Interestingly, disease scores, demyelination and CD4⁺ infiltrates were higher in PEG-PH20 animals at day 35 relative to controls (Figure 5.2 A, B and C respectively). This finding established the pro-inflammatory effect of PEG-PH20 treatment is long-lasting and is therefore related to treatment. As previously discussed, HA degradation products signaling through TLR2 and/or TLR4 could be mediating this effect by increasing expression of inflammatory signals and cell adhesion molecules on ECs. However, alternative mechanisms may account for these observations.



Figure 5.2. Subcutaneously injected PEG-PH20 delays the clinical onset of EAE, but exacerbates long-term chronic disease. A) EAE was induced in 16 C57BL/6 female mice. Half (8) of the animals were randomly selected to receive subcutaneous PBS (vehicle) injections (50 ul) and the other half, PEG-PH20 (1000 U in 50 ul PBS). Injections were given in the hind flank every other day beginning 7 days post inoculation (green arrow) and ending 35 days post inoculation (red arrow). Mice were scored by a blinded experimenter. PEG-PH20 treated animals had delayed onset of disease by three days, but by day 20 had higher disease scores than controls *p<0.05, repeated measures ANOVA. Stereological analysis (as described in Chapter 2) determined that by day 35, PH20 treated mice had more demyelination (B) and CD4⁺ T-cell infiltrates (C). *p<0.05, t-test.

It is possible that removing HMW HA from CD44 on ECs alters the cytoskeletal dynamics of the endothelium to favor T-cell extravasation. Cytoskeletal reorganization in

ECs is critical for this process (Etienne-Manneville et al., 2000). EC cytoskeletal rearrangement is increased during angiogenesis (the growth of new vessels), which often occurs as a result of inflammation (Bryan & D'Amore, 2007). Interestingly, HMW HA is inhibitory to angiogenesis (Slevin et al., 2007); however, the mechanism is unknown. I propose that CD44's ability to facilitate activation of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) may be involved (see Chapter 1). When HMW HA is bound to CD44, the receptor is unable to promote RTK activation, possibly via steric exclusion or the presence of an as yet unidentified 'growth inhibitory complex' (Ponta et al., 2003). In this state, dephosphorylated merlin is bound to CD44 (Morrison et al., 2001), suppressing its interaction with ERMs that control actin cytoskeletal dynamics and promote T-cell extravasation (Figure 5.3, A). During inflammation however, HMW HA degradation is increased, allowing CD44 to facilitate RTK dimerization and activation. Subsequent RTK activation by inflammatory, angiogenic growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) (Croll et al., 2004; Hassoun et al., 2009) inactivates merlin by phosphorylation and induces its dissociation from CD44 thus allowing CD44 to interact with ERMs (Figure 5.3 B). Concomitantly, RTK phosphorylation of ERM proteins promotes their binding to CD44 and links the RTK-CD44-ERM complex to the actin cytoskeleton (Orian-Rousseau et al., 2002). In this activated state, CD44 could directly influence actin cytoskeletal organization. This idea is supported by the finding that PDGF receptor mediated cytoskeletal rearrangement in fibroblasts is restored following HMW HA treatment with a phosphatase inhibitor, which promotes phospho-merlin (Li et al., 2006). Collectively, this hypothesis explains how removal of HMW HA bound to CD44 could promote angiogenesis and actin cytoskeletal dynamics to facilitate T-cell extravasation into the CNS (Figure 5.3). A test of this hypothesis requires identification of a candidate CD44-interacting RTK in endothelial

cells. The VEGF and PDGF receptors are likely candidates as their ligands are produced during inflammation.



Figure 5.3. A model of how degradation of HMW HA from CD44 on CNS ECs during inflammation can promote T-cell extravasation. A) CD44's interaction with RTKs is impaired by its binding to HMW HA. Active phospho-merlin is bound to CD44 impair interactions with ERM cytoskeletal organizer proteins. B) During inflammation, HMW HA is degraded from the surface of ECs, allow CD44 to interact with RTKs and induce their activation. Inflammatory growth factors (VEGF, PDGF) produced during inflammation, stimulate RTKs and induce angiogenesis. Activated RTKs phosphorylate merlin and ERM proteins, allow CD44 to be linked to the cytoskeleton and promote T-cell extravasation.

It is equally possible that increased angiogenesis is mediating the long-term enhanced disease severity observed in PEG-PH20 treated EAE animals. Aside from proinflammatory signaling through TLRs, HA oligosaccharides are capable of inducing angiogenesis by signaling through CD44 and RHAMM (Savani *et al.*, 2001; Cao *et al.*, 2006; Slevin *et al.*, 2007; Jiang *et al.*, 2011). Angiogenesis involves not only cytoskeletal alterations, but increased vascular permeability that facilitates influx of inflammatory factors into the CNS and the extravasation of immune cells during disease (Pan *et al.*, 1997; Graesser *et al.*, 2002; Dvorak, 2005). Primary effectors of vascular permeability related to angiogenesis are matrix metalloproteases (MMPs). MMPs breakdown the EC basement membrane, allowing growth factor diffusion and new vessel formation (Pepper, 2001; Bryan & D'Amore, 2007). HA oligosaccharides signaling through CD44 increase expression of MMP-9 by ECs during angiogenesis (Matou-Nasri *et al.*, 2009). CD44 also docks MMP-9 on the surface of ECs, which is required for EC migration associated with angiogenesis (Matou-Nasri *et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, MMP-9 is also produced by myelin-reactive T-cells and has been implicated in promoting disruption of the BBB (Leppert *et al.*, 1998; Leppert *et al.*, 2001; Shinto *et al.*, 2011). While it has not been experimentally determined, MMP-9 produced by ECs and T-cells during MS could be 'paving the way' for angiogenic growth into lesions as extravasation occurs. Other pro-angiogenic factors are also present within active CNS lesions. These include VEGF, INF γ , TNF α and HA (Van Meir, 1995; Proescholdt *et al.*, 2002; Back *et al.*, 2007). Its production is stimulated in many pathological conditions where cellular hypoxia and inflammation are present (Jackson *et al.*, 1997). Interestingly, VEGF and HA oligosaccharides synergize to facilitate more rapid and sustained angiogenesis than when applied individually (Montesano *et al.*, 1996).

Despite these observations, very few studies have addressed the idea that angiogenesis could contribute to MS pathogenesis. A handful of histological studies suggest that vessel density and endothelial cell proliferation are increased in EAE and MS lesions (Proescholdt *et al.*, 2002; Kirk *et al.*, 2004; Holley *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, MRI studies have demonstrated evidence of increased cerebral perfusion during relapsing-remitting and secondary progressive MS suggesting there may be increased number of vessels in inflammatory lesions (Rashid *et al.*, 2004). Additionally, increased permeability of vessels in normal appearing white matter during MS could also be interpreted as new vessels expansion into the region (Plumb *et al.*, 2002). Overall, these findings suggest that the environment in and around the MS lesion is permissive to vessel growth and the

addition of HA oligosaccharides would likely facilitate the process. This could be easily tested by probing PBS and PH20 treated EAE tissue from the experiments described in this thesis with mitotic markers (e.g. Ki67) and vessel specific antibodies (e.g. CD31). It would also be interesting to generate high-resolution (12T) magnetic resonance images of PH20 treated and control brains to determine alterations in CNS vascular density.

Are HA fragments truly 'danger signals'?

A surprising observation from the work in this dissertation is that HA oligosaccharides suppress CNS inflammation when chronically administered in EAE. They appear to mediate this effect through signaling in activated lymphocytes. This finding is novel, in that in all previous studies of interactions between HA oligosaccharides and immune cells, inflammation is induced (McKee *et al.*, 1997; Termeer *et al.*, 2000; Termeer *et al.*, 2002; Jiang *et al.*, 2005; Scheibner *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, HA oligosaccharides have garnered a reputation for inducing pro-inflammatory signaling in multiple cell types through TLRs (Fieber *et al.*, 2004; Taylor *et al.*, 2004; Voelcker *et al.*, 2008; Campo *et al.*, 2012). As such, they have been termed 'dangerous'. However, in all of these studies, pro-inflammatory responses to HA oligosaccharides were elicited and measured from *in vitro* systems. Therefore the effects of HA oligosaccharides promoting inflammation may be over-stated.

The effect of HA oligosaccharides *in vivo* has not been well characterized, however, several studies have examined their ability to affect and modify various pathologies. Injection of HA fragments as small as tetrasaccharides was found to prevent synovial degeneration by up-regulation of heat shock proteins and suppress prostaglandin E_2 mediated inflammation in a model of arthritis (Asari *et al.*, 1998; Xu *et al.*, 2002). This is particularly interesting in respect to the studies of Campo et al (Campo *et al.*, 2010;

Campo *et al.*, 2012), who demonstrated tetrasaccharides promote inflammation via TLR4 in chondrocytes. Other, recent *in vivo* data demonstrates orally administered HA oligosaccharides 35 kD in weight signal through TLR4 on gut epithelial cells to promote expression β -Defensin 2, which is critical for intestinal epithelial integrity (Hill *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, fragments as small as tetrasaccharides were tested in this model and did not illicit overt inflammation or tissue damage. Finally, a mixture of di- to decasaccharides injected into mice with malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors enhanced chemotherapy treatment and was found to be non-immunogenic (Slomiany *et al.*, 2009). Collectively, these studies demonstrate HA oligosaccharides in sufficient quantity to influence cellular interactions are not sufficient to induce inflammation *in vivo*.

It is fascinating that the administration of potent, pro-inflammatory signaling molecules such as HA oligosaccharides does not appear to induce inflammation *in vivo*. Because we know HA synthesis and catabolism are inextricably linked, we must also consider the effect of HMW HA on inflammation. Aside from involvement in recruitment and adhesion of immune cells to inflamed endothelium (Khan *et al.*, 2004; Kessler *et al.*, 2008; Winkler *et al.*, 2012), HMW HA is generally anti-inflammatory in terms of its influence on cell signaling (Stern *et al.*, 2006; Bollyky *et al.*, 2007). As discussed in Chapter 1 HMW HA is degraded by HYALs and fragmented by reactive oxygen species during inflammation. Presumably, these catabolic processes occur more rapidly than does HA synthesis. Therefore, based on the findings of this thesis and the literature cited above, I propose a model whereby the loss of HMW HA *in vivo* more robustly promotes inflammation than the does the accumulation of HA fragments (Figure 5.3). Furthermore, a mechanism exists such that accumulating HA fragments can function as a brake on inflammation which promotes resolution and allows for restored equilibrium of HA synthesis and catabolism. This makes evolutionary sense in that chronic inflammation is typically

detrimental. However, it is intriguing to wonder if such a brake mechanism would exist in the opposing direction, such that excess accumulation of HMW species is not overly immunosuppressive. Based on the model presented here, a small excess of HMW HA could dramatically increase the likelihood of immune-suppression which also carries negative evolutionary consequence. Overall, the work presented and discussed here stresses the exquisite balance required to maintain the physiologic state.



Figure 5.4. Proposed model of how products of HA synthesis and catabolism influence inflammation *in vivo.* A) During physiologic state HA synthesis and catabolism are in homeostasis. B) Loss of HMW HA by degradation and fragmentation quickly promotes inflammation (or possibly loss of suppression), while accumulating HA fragments apply a molecular break. C) Resolution of inflammation begins as HA synthesis produces HMW HA *de novo* (green arrow) and HA fragments are cleared from the system (red arrow). Note the emphasis on the fulcrum being oriented toward HA-o, as work discussed in this thesis demonstrates adding super-physiologic concentrations *in vivo* is not overtly inflammatory. HA-o= HA oligosaccharides.

Our knowledge of the mechanisms mediating demyelinating CNS inflammatory disease is growing. As this thesis exemplifies, they are rarely straight-forward and often have location, concentration and timing specific effects. Nonetheless, the work presented here posits that manipulations of the synthesis and catabolism of HA may have therapeutic benefit. An emerging trend in the field of medicine is the utilization of combinatorial or adjuvant therapies. The reagents described here could be used in in this fashion to promote the efficacy of existing disease modifying drugs. Both hyaluronidases and HA oligosaccharides have been show to effectively modify pathological states such as cancer and diabetes. However, further studies are required to determine additionally mechanisms of action that will influence their feasibility and efficacy within the unique environment of the CNS compartment.

References

- Aderem, A. & Ulevitch, R.J. (2000) Toll-like receptors in the induction of the innate immune response. *Nature*, **406**, 782-787.
- Arch, R., Wirth, K., Hofmann, M., Ponta, H., Matzku, S., Herrlich, P. & Zoller, M. (1992) Participation in normal immune responses of a metastasis-inducing splice variant of CD44. *Science*, **257**, 682-685.
- Asari, A., Miyauchi, S., Matsuzaka, S., Ito, T., Kominami, E. & Uchiyama, Y. (1998) Molecular weight-dependent effects of hyaluronate on the arthritic synovium. *Archives of histology and cytology*, **61**, 125-135.
- Ascherio, A., Munger, K.L., Lennette, E.T., Spiegelman, D., Hernan, M.A., Olek, M.J., Hankinson, S.E. & Hunter, D.J. (2001) Epstein-Barr virus antibodies and risk of multiple sclerosis: a prospective study. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association*, **286**, 3083-3088.
- Babinski, J. (1885) Recherches sur l'anatomie pathologique de la sclerose en plaque et etude comparative des diverses varietes de la scleroses de la moelle. *Arch Physiol (Paris)*, **5-6**, 186-207.
- Back, S.A., Tuohy, T.M., Chen, H., Wallingford, N., Craig, A., Struve, J., Luo, N.L., Banine, F., Liu, Y., Chang, A., Trapp, B.D., Bebo, B.F., Jr., Rao, M.S. & Sherman, L.S. (2005) Hyaluronan accumulates in demyelinated lesions and inhibits oligodendrocyte progenitor maturation. *Nature medicine*, **11**, 966-972.
- Baron, J.L., Madri, J.A., Ruddle, N.H., Hashim, G. & Janeway, C.A., Jr. (1993) Surface expression of alpha 4 integrin by CD4 T cells is required for their entry into brain parenchyma. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **177**, 57-68.
- Barton, G.M. & Medzhitov, R. (2003) Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. *Science*, **300**, 1524-1525.
- Batoulis, H., Recks, M.S., Addicks, K. & Kuerten, S. (2011) Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis--achievements and prospective advances. *APMIS : acta pathologica, microbiologica, et immunologica Scandinavica*, **119**, 819-830.
- Baxter, A.G. (2007) The origin and application of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Nature reviews. Immunology*, **7**, 904-912.
- Bazil, V. & Horejsi, V. (1992) Shedding of the CD44 adhesion molecule from leukocytes induced by anti-CD44 monoclonal antibody simulating the effect of a natural receptor ligand. *Journal of immunology*, **149**, 747-753.
- Bennett, J.L. & Stuve, O. (2009) Update on inflammation, neurodegeneration, and immunoregulation in multiple sclerosis: therapeutic implications. *Clinical neuropharmacology*, **32**, 121-132.
- Bockhorn, M., Jain, R.K. & Munn, L.L. (2007) Active versus passive mechanisms in metastasis: do cancer cells crawl into vessels, or are they pushed? *The lancet* oncology, 8, 444-448.
- Bogdan, C. (2001) Nitric oxide and the immune response. *Nature immunology*, **2**, 907-916.
- Bollyky, P.L., Lord, J.D., Masewicz, S.A., Evanko, S.P., Buckner, J.H., Wight, T.N. & Nepom, G.T. (2007) Cutting edge: high molecular weight hyaluronan promotes the suppressive effects of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Journal of immunology*, **179**, 744-747.
- Bonder, C.S., Clark, S.R., Norman, M.U., Johnson, P. & Kubes, P. (2006) Use of CD44 by CD4+ Th1 and Th2 lymphocytes to roll and adhere. *Blood*, **107**, 4798-4806.
- Bostock, H. & Sears, T.A. (1978) The internodal axon membrane: electrical excitability and continuous conduction in segmental demyelination. *The Journal of physiology*, **280**, 273-301.
- Brennan, F.R., O'Neill, J.K., Allen, S.J., Butter, C., Nuki, G. & Baker, D. (1999) CD44 is involved in selective leucocyte extravasation during inflammatory central nervous system disease. *Immunology*, **98**, 427-435.
- Brocke, S., Piercy, C., Steinman, L., Weissman, I.L. & Veromaa, T. (1999) Antibodies to CD44 and integrin alpha4, but not L-selectin, prevent central nervous system inflammation and experimental encephalomyelitis by blocking secondary leukocyte recruitment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **96**, 6896-6901.
- Brown, D.A. & Sawchenko, P.E. (2007) Time course and distribution of inflammatory and neurodegenerative events suggest structural bases for the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, **502**, 236-260.
- Bryan, B.A. & D'Amore, P.A. (2007) What tangled webs they weave: Rho-GTPase control of angiogenesis. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS*, **64**, 2053-2065.
- Camp, R.L., Scheynius, A., Johansson, C. & Pure, E. (1993) CD44 is necessary for optimal contact allergic responses but is not required for normal leukocyte extravasation. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **178**, 497-507.
- Campo, G.M., Avenoso, A., Campo, S., D'Ascola, A., Nastasi, G. & Calatroni, A. (2010) Small hyaluronan oligosaccharides induce inflammation by engaging both tolllike-4 and CD44 receptors in human chondrocytes. *Biochemical pharmacology*, **80**, 480-490.
- Campo, G.M., Avenoso, A., D'Ascola, A., Scuruchi, M., Prestipino, V., Nastasi, G., Calatroni, A. & Campo, S. (2012) The inhibition of hyaluronan degradation reduced pro-inflammatory cytokines in mouse synovial fibroblasts subjected to collagen-induced arthritis. *Journal of cellular biochemistry*.

- Cao, G., Savani, R.C., Fehrenbach, M., Lyons, C., Zhang, L., Coukos, G. & Delisser, H.M. (2006) Involvement of endothelial CD44 during in vivo angiogenesis. *The American journal of pathology*, **169**, 325-336.
- Charcot, JM., (1868) Histologyde la sclerose en plaques. *Gaz. Hop. de Paris*, 40, 554-555, 557-558, 566.
- Charo, I.F. & Ransohoff, R.M. (2006) The many roles of chemokines and chemokine receptors in inflammation. *The New England journal of medicine*, **354**, 610-621.
- Chastain, E.M. & Miller, S.D. (2012) Molecular mimicry as an inducing trigger for CNS autoimmune demyelinating disease. *Immunological reviews*, **245**, 227-238.
- Chitnis, T. (2007) The role of CD4 T cells in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. International review of neurobiology, **79**, 43-72.
- Croll, S.D., Ransohoff, R.M., Cai, N., Zhang, Q., Martin, F.J., Wei, T., Kasselman, L.J., Kintner, J., Murphy, A.J., Yancopoulos, G.D. & Wiegand, S.J. (2004) VEGFmediated inflammation precedes angiogenesis in adult brain. *Experimental neurology*, **187**, 388-402.
- Csoka, A.B., Frost, G.I. & Stern, R. (2001) The six hyaluronidase-like genes in the human and mouse genomes. *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*, **20**, 499-508.
- Cua, D.J., Sherlock, J., Chen, Y., Murphy, C.A., Joyce, B., Seymour, B., Lucian, L., To, W., Kwan, S., Churakova, T., Zurawski, S., Wiekowski, M., Lira, S.A., Gorman, D., Kastelein, R.A. & Sedgwick, J.D. (2003) Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. *Nature*, **421**, 744-748.
- DeGrendele, H.C., Estess, P., Picker, L.J. & Siegelman, M.H. (1996) CD44 and its ligand hyaluronate mediate rolling under physiologic flow: a novel lymphocyteendothelial cell primary adhesion pathway. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **183**, 1119-1130.
- DeGrendele, H.C., Estess, P. & Siegelman, M.H. (1997a) Requirement for CD44 in activated T cell extravasation into an inflammatory site. *Science*, **278**, 672-675.
- DeGrendele, H.C., Kosfiszer, M., Estess, P. & Siegelman, M.H. (1997b) CD44 activation and associated primary adhesion is inducible via T cell receptor stimulation. *Journal of immunology*, **159**, 2549-2553.
- Deli, M.A., Sakaguchi, S., Nakaoke, R., Abraham, C.S., Takahata, H., Kopacek, J., Shigematsu, K., Katamine, S. & Niwa, M. (2000) PrP fragment 106-126 is toxic to cerebral endothelial cells expressing PrP(C). *Neuroreport*, **11**, 3931-3936.
- Deng, X., Meyers, S.A., Tollner, T.L., Yudin, A.I., Primakoff, P.D., He, D.N. & Overstreet, J.W. (2002) Immunological response of female macaques to the PH-20 sperm

protein following injection of recombinant proteins or synthesized peptides. *Journal of reproductive immunology*, **54**, 93-115.

- Doring, A., Wild, M., Vestweber, D., Deutsch, U. & Engelhardt, B. (2007) E- and Pselectin are not required for the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in C57BL/6 and SJL mice. *Journal of immunology*, **179**, 8470-8479.
- Dvorak, A.M. (2005) Mast cell-derived mediators of enhanced microvascular permeability, vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor, histamine, and serotonin, cause leakage of macromolecules through a new endothelial cell permeability organelle, the vesiculo-vacuolar organelle. *Chemical immunology and allergy*, **85**, 185-204.
- Engelhardt, B. (2006) Molecular mechanisms involved in T cell migration across the blood-brain barrier. *Journal of neural transmission*, **113**, 477-485.
- Engelhardt, B. & Ransohoff, R.M. (2005) The ins and outs of T-lymphocyte trafficking to the CNS: anatomical sites and molecular mechanisms. *Trends in immunology*, **26**, 485-495.
- Engelhardt, B., Vestweber, D., Hallmann, R. & Schulz, M. (1997) E- and P-selectin are not involved in the recruitment of inflammatory cells across the blood-brain barrier in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Blood*, **90**, 4459-4472.
- England, J.D., Gamboni, F., Levinson, S.R. & Finger, T.E. (1990) Changed distribution of sodium channels along demyelinated axons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **87**, 6777-6780.
- Ernens, I., Leonard, F., Vausort, M., Rolland-Turner, M., Devaux, Y. & Wagner, D.R. (2010) Adenosine up-regulates vascular endothelial growth factor in human macrophages. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, **392**, 351-356.
- Estess, P., Nandi, A., Mohamadzadeh, M. & Siegelman, M.H. (1999) Interleukin 15 induces endothelial hyaluronan expression in vitro and promotes activated T cell extravasation through a CD44-dependent pathway in vivo. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **190**, 9-19.
- Etienne-Manneville, S., Manneville, J.B., Adamson, P., Wilbourn, B., Greenwood, J. & Couraud, P.O. (2000) ICAM-1-coupled cytoskeletal rearrangements and transendothelial lymphocyte migration involve intracellular calcium signaling in brain endothelial cell lines. *Journal of immunology*, **165**, 3375-3383.
- Falkowski, M., Schledzewski, K., Hansen, B. & Goerdt, S. (2003) Expression of stabilin-2, a novel fasciclin-like hyaluronan receptor protein, in murine sinusoidal endothelia, avascular tissues, and at solid/liquid interfaces. *Histochemistry and cell biology*, **120**, 361-369.
- Felts, P.A. & Smith, K.J. (1992) Conduction properties of central nerve fibers remyelinated by Schwann cells. *Brain research*, **574**, 178-192.

- Ferber, I.A., Brocke, S., Taylor-Edwards, C., Ridgway, W., Dinisco, C., Steinman, L., Dalton, D. & Fathman, C.G. (1996) Mice with a disrupted IFN-gamma gene are susceptible to the induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). *Journal of immunology*, **156**, 5-7.
- Fieber, C., Baumann, P., Vallon, R., Termeer, C., Simon, J.C., Hofmann, M., Angel, P., Herrlich, P. & Sleeman, J.P. (2004) Hyaluronan-oligosaccharide-induced transcription of metalloproteases. *Journal of cell science*, **117**, 359-367.
- Fraser, J.R., Laurent, T.C. & Laurent, U.B. (1997) Hyaluronan: its nature, distribution, functions and turnover. *Journal of internal medicine*, **242**, 27-33.
- Fujinami, R.S. (2001) Can virus infections trigger autoimmune disease? *Journal of autoimmunity*, **16**, 229-234.
- Gares, S.L. & Pilarski, L.M. (2000) Balancing thymocyte adhesion and motility: a functional linkage between beta1 integrins and the motility receptor RHAMM. *Developmental immunology*, **7**, 209-225.
- Gelman, A.E., Zhang, J., Choi, Y. & Turka, L.A. (2004) Toll-like receptor ligands directly promote activated CD4+ T cell survival. *Journal of immunology*, **172**, 6065-6073.
- Genasetti, A., Vigetti, D., Viola, M., Karousou, E., Moretto, P., Rizzi, M., Bartolini, B., Clerici, M., Pallotti, F., De Luca, G. & Passi, A. (2008) Hyaluronan and human endothelial cell behavior. *Connective tissue research*, **49**, 120-123.
- Girish, K.S. & Kemparaju, K. (2007) The magic glue hyaluronan and its eraser hyaluronidase: a biological overview. *Life sciences*, **80**, 1921-1943.
- Giuliani, F., Goodyer, C.G., Antel, J.P. & Yong, V.W. (2003) Vulnerability of human neurons to T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Journal of immunology*, **171**, 368-379.
- Gonsette, R.E. (2008) Neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis: the role of oxidative stress and excitotoxicity. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, **274**, 48-53.
- Gonzalez-Navajas, J.M., Fine, S., Law, J., Datta, S.K., Nguyen, K.P., Yu, M., Corr, M., Katakura, K., Eckman, L., Lee, J. & Raz, E. (2010) TLR4 signaling in effector CD4+ T cells regulates TCR activation and experimental colitis in mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, **120**, 570-581.
- Goverman, J. (2009) Autoimmune T cell responses in the central nervous system. *Nature reviews. Immunology*, **9**, 393-407.
- Graesser, D., Solowiej, A., Bruckner, M., Osterweil, E., Juedes, A., Davis, S., Ruddle, N.H., Engelhardt, B. & Madri, J.A. (2002) Altered vascular permeability and early onset of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in PECAM-1-deficient mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, **109**, 383-392.
- Greenwood, J., Heasman, S.J., Alvarez, J.I., Prat, A., Lyck, R. & Engelhardt, B. (2011) Review: leucocyte-endothelial cell crosstalk at the blood-brain barrier: a

prerequisite for successful immune cell entry to the brain. *Neuropathology and applied neurobiology*, **37**, 24-39.

- Gregory, S.G., Schmidt, S., Seth, P., Oksenberg, J.R., Hart, J., Prokop, A., Caillier, S.J., Ban, M., Goris, A., Barcellos, L.F., Lincoln, R., McCauley, J.L., Sawcer, S.J., Compston, D.A., Dubois, B., Hauser, S.L., Garcia-Blanco, M.A., Pericak-Vance, M.A., Haines, J.L. & Multiple Sclerosis Genetics, G. (2007) Interleukin 7 receptor alpha chain (IL7R) shows allelic and functional association with multiple sclerosis. *Nature genetics*, **39**, 1083-1091.
- Greter, M., Heppner, F.L., Lemos, M.P., Odermatt, B.M., Goebels, N., Laufer, T., Noelle, R.J. & Becher, B. (2005) Dendritic cells permit immune invasion of the CNS in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. *Nature medicine*, **11**, 328-334.
- Grigorian, A., Araujo, L., Naidu, N.N., Place, D.J., Choudhury, B. & Demetriou, M. (2011) N-acetylglucosamine inhibits T-helper 1 (Th1)/T-helper 17 (Th17) cell responses and treats experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **286**, 40133-40141.
- Groom, A.J., Smith, T. & Turski, L. (2003) Multiple sclerosis and glutamate. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, **993**, 229-275; discussion 287-228.
- Guan, H., Nagarkatti, P.S. & Nagarkatti, M. (2011) CD44 Reciprocally regulates the differentiation of encephalitogenic Th1/Th17 and Th2/regulatory T cells through epigenetic modulation involving DNA methylation of cytokine gene promoters, thereby controlling the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of immunology*, **186**, 6955-6964.
- Gutcher, I. & Becher, B. (2007) APC-derived cytokines and T cell polarization in autoimmune inflammation. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, **117**, 1119-1127.
- Haak, S., Croxford, A.L., Kreymborg, K., Heppner, F.L., Pouly, S., Becher, B. & Waisman, A. (2009) IL-17A and IL-17F do not contribute vitally to autoimmune neuro-inflammation in mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, **119**, 61-69.
- Hanafy, K.A. & Sloane, J.A. (2011) Regulation of remyelination in multiple sclerosis. *FEBS letters*, **585**, 3821-3828.
- Hardy, C.M., Clydesdale, G., Mobbs, K.J., Pekin, J., Lloyd, M.L., Sweet, C., Shellam, G.R. & Lawson, M.A. (2004) Assessment of contraceptive vaccines based on recombinant mouse sperm protein PH20. *Reproduction*, **127**, 325-334.
- Hassoun, P.M., Mouthon, L., Barbera, J.A., Eddahibi, S., Flores, S.C., Grimminger, F., Jones, P.L., Maitland, M.L., Michelakis, E.D., Morrell, N.W., Newman, J.H., Rabinovitch, M., Schermuly, R., Stenmark, K.R., Voelkel, N.F., Yuan, J.X. & Humbert, M. (2009) Inflammation, growth factors, and pulmonary vascular remodeling. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, **54**, S10-19.
- Hauser, S.L., Bhan, A.K., Gilles, F., Kemp, M., Kerr, C. & Weiner, H.L. (1986) Immunohistochemical analysis of the cellular infiltrate in multiple sclerosis lesions. *Annals of neurology*, **19**, 578-587.

- Hauser, S.L. & Oksenberg, J.R. (2006) The neurobiology of multiple sclerosis: genes, inflammation, and neurodegeneration. *Neuron*, **52**, 61-76.
- Hemming, R., Martin, D.C., Slominski, E., Nagy, J.I., Halayko, A.J., Pind, S. & Triggs-Raine, B. (2008) Mouse Hyal3 encodes a 45- to 56-kDa glycoprotein whose overexpression increases hyaluronidase 1 activity in cultured cells. *Glycobiology*, **18**, 280-289.
- Heng, B.C., Gribbon, P.M., Day, A.J. & Hardingham, T.E. (2008) Hyaluronan binding to link module of TSG-6 and to G1 domain of aggrecan is differently regulated by pH. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **283**, 32294-32301.
- Hickey, W.F. (1999a) Leukocyte traffic in the central nervous system: the participants and their roles. *Seminars in immunology*, **11**, 125-137.
- Hickey, W.F. (1999b) The pathology of multiple sclerosis: a historical perspective. *Journal of neuroimmunology*, **98**, 37-44.
- Hill, D.R., Kessler, S.P., Rho, H.K., Cowman, M.K. & de la Motte, C.A. (2012) Specificsized Hyaluronan Fragments Promote Expression of Human beta-Defensin 2 in Intestinal Epithelium. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **287**, 30610-30624.
- Hofstetter, H.H., Ibrahim, S.M., Koczan, D., Kruse, N., Weishaupt, A., Toyka, K.V. & Gold, R. (2005) Therapeutic efficacy of IL-17 neutralization in murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Cellular immunology*, **237**, 123-130.
- Hoftberger, R., Aboul-Enein, F., Brueck, W., Lucchinetti, C., Rodriguez, M., Schmidbauer, M., Jellinger, K. & Lassmann, H. (2004) Expression of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules on the different cell types in multiple sclerosis lesions. *Brain pathology*, **14**, 43-50.
- Holley, J.E., Newcombe, J., Whatmore, J.L. & Gutowski, N.J. (2010) Increased blood vessel density and endothelial cell proliferation in multiple sclerosis cerebral white matter. *Neuroscience letters*, **470**, 65-70.
- Holmoy, T. (2007) Immunopathogenesis of multiple sclerosis: concepts and controversies. Acta neurologica Scandinavica. Supplementum, **187**, 39-45.
- Honmou, O., Felts, P.A., Waxman, S.G. & Kocsis, J.D. (1996) Restoration of normal conduction properties in demyelinated spinal cord axons in the adult rat by transplantation of exogenous Schwann cells. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, **16**, 3199-3208.
- Hu, Y., Shen, F., Crellin, N.K. & Ouyang, W. (2011) The IL-17 pathway as a major therapeutic target in autoimmune diseases. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, **1217**, 60-76.
- Huxley, A.F. & Stampfli, R. (1949) Evidence for saltatory conduction in peripheral myelinated nerve fibres. *The Journal of physiology*, **108**, 315-339.

- Ijuin, C., Ohno, S., Tanimoto, K., Honda, K. & Tanne, K. (2001) Regulation of hyaluronan synthase gene expression in human periodontal ligament cells by tumour necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1beta and interferon-gamma. *Archives of oral biology*, **46**, 767-772.
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics, C., Hafler, D.A., Compston, A., Sawcer, S., Lander, E.S., Daly, M.J., De Jager, P.L., de Bakker, P.I., Gabriel, S.B., Mirel, D.B., Ivinson, A.J., Pericak-Vance, M.A., Gregory, S.G., Rioux, J.D., McCauley, J.L., Haines, J.L., Barcellos, L.F., Cree, B., Oksenberg, J.R. & Hauser, S.L. (2007) Risk alleles for multiple sclerosis identified by a genomewide study. *The New England journal of medicine*, **357**, 851-862.
- Itano, N. & Kimata, K. (2002) Mammalian hyaluronan synthases. *IUBMB life*, **54**, 195-199.
- Iwata, Y., Yoshizaki, A., Komura, K., Shimizu, K., Ogawa, F., Hara, T., Muroi, E., Bae, S., Takenaka, M., Yukami, T., Hasegawa, M., Fujimoto, M., Tomita, Y., Tedder, T.F. & Sato, S. (2009) CD19, a response regulator of B lymphocytes, regulates wound healing through hyaluronan-induced TLR4 signaling. *The American journal of pathology*, **175**, 649-660.
- Jackson, J.R., Seed, M.P., Kircher, C.H., Willoughby, D.A. & Winkler, J.D. (1997) The codependence of angiogenesis and chronic inflammation. *The FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, **11**, 457-465.
- Jalkanen, S., Bargatze, R.F., de los Toyos, J. & Butcher, E.C. (1987) Lymphocyte recognition of high endothelium: antibodies to distinct epitopes of an 85-95-kD glycoprotein antigen differentially inhibit lymphocyte binding to lymph node, mucosal, or synovial endothelial cells. *The Journal of cell biology*, **105**, 983-990.
- Jiang, D., Liang, J., Fan, J., Yu, S., Chen, S., Luo, Y., Prestwich, G.D., Mascarenhas, M.M., Garg, H.G., Quinn, D.A., Homer, R.J., Goldstein, D.R., Bucala, R., Lee, P.J., Medzhitov, R. & Noble, P.W. (2005) Regulation of lung injury and repair by Toll-like receptors and hyaluronan. *Nature medicine*, **11**, 1173-1179.
- Jiang, D., Liang, J. & Noble, P.W. (2007) Hyaluronan in tissue injury and repair. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology*, **23**, 435-461.
- Jiang, D., Liang, J. & Noble, P.W. (2011) Hyaluronan as an immune regulator in human diseases. *Physiological reviews*, **91**, 221-264.
- Johnson, P., Maiti, A., Brown, K.L. & Li, R. (2000) A role for the cell adhesion molecule CD44 and sulfation in leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion during an inflammatory response? *Biochemical pharmacology*, **59**, 455-465.
- Johnson, P. & Ruffell, B. (2009) CD44 and its role in inflammation and inflammatory diseases. *Inflammation & allergy drug targets*, **8**, 208-220.

- Jong, A., Wu, C.H., Shackleford, G.M., Kwon-Chung, K.J., Chang, Y.C., Chen, H.M., Ouyang, Y. & Huang, S.H. (2008) Involvement of human CD44 during Cryptococcus neoformans infection of brain microvascular endothelial cells. *Cellular microbiology*, **10**, 1313-1326.
- Kennedy, C.I., Diegelmann, R.F., Haynes, J.H. & Yager, D.R. (2000) Proinflammatory cytokines differentially regulate hyaluronan synthase isoforms in fetal and adult fibroblasts. *Journal of pediatric surgery*, **35**, 874-879.
- Kerfoot, S.M. & Kubes, P. (2002) Overlapping roles of P-selectin and alpha 4 integrin to recruit leukocytes to the central nervous system in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of immunology*, **169**, 1000-1006.
- Kerfoot, S.M., Norman, M.U., Lapointe, B.M., Bonder, C.S., Zbytnuik, L. & Kubes, P. (2006) Reevaluation of P-selectin and alpha 4 integrin as targets for the treatment of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of immunology*, **176**, 6225-6234.
- Kessler, S., Rho, H., West, G., Fiocchi, C., Drazba, J. & de la Motte, C. (2008) Hyaluronan (HA) deposition precedes and promotes leukocyte recruitment in intestinal inflammation. *Clinical and translational science*, **1**, 57-61.
- Khan, A.I., Kerfoot, S.M., Heit, B., Liu, L., Andonegui, G., Ruffell, B., Johnson, P. & Kubes, P. (2004) Role of CD44 and hyaluronan in neutrophil recruitment. *Journal* of immunology, **173**, 7594-7601.
- Kinashi, T. (2005) Intracellular signalling controlling integrin activation in lymphocytes. *Nature reviews. Immunology*, **5**, 546-559.
- Kirk, S., Frank, J.A. & Karlik, S. (2004) Angiogenesis in multiple sclerosis: is it good, bad or an epiphenomenon? *Journal of the neurological sciences*, **217**, 125-130.
- Kivisakk, P., Imitola, J., Rasmussen, S., Elyaman, W., Zhu, B., Ransohoff, R.M. & Khoury, S.J. (2009) Localizing central nervous system immune surveillance: meningeal antigen-presenting cells activate T cells during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Annals of neurology*, **65**, 457-469.
- Kivisakk, P., Mahad, D.J., Callahan, M.K., Trebst, C., Tucky, B., Wei, T., Wu, L., Baekkevold, E.S., Lassmann, H., Staugaitis, S.M., Campbell, J.J. & Ransohoff, R.M. (2003) Human cerebrospinal fluid central memory CD4+ T cells: evidence for trafficking through choroid plexus and meninges via P-selectin. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, **100**, 8389-8394.
- Komai-Koma, M., Jones, L., Ogg, G.S., Xu, D. & Liew, F.Y. (2004) TLR2 is expressed on activated T cells as a costimulatory receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **101**, 3029-3034.
- Kornek, B. & Lassmann, H. (1999) Axonal pathology in multiple sclerosis. A historical note. *Brain pathology*, **9**, 651-656.

- Kuerten, S. & Lehmann, P.V. (2011) The immune pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: lessons learned for multiple sclerosis? *Journal of interferon & cytokine research : the official journal of the International Society for Interferon and Cytokine Research*, **31**, 907-916.
- Kyosseva, S.V., Harris, E.N. & Weigel, P.H. (2008) The hyaluronan receptor for endocytosis mediates hyaluronan-dependent signal transduction via extracellular signal-regulated kinases. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **283**, 15047-15055.
- Laman, J.D., Maassen, C.B., Schellekens, M.M., Visser, L., Kap, M., de Jong, E., van Puijenbroek, M., van Stipdonk, M.J., van Meurs, M., Schwarzler, C. & Gunthert, U. (1998) Therapy with antibodies against CD40L (CD154) and CD44-variant isoforms reduces experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induced by a proteolipid protein peptide. *Multiple sclerosis*, **4**, 147-153.
- Landtblom, A.M., Fazio, P., Fredrikson, S. & Granieri, E. (2010) The first case history of multiple sclerosis: Augustus d'Este (1794-1848). Neurological sciences : official journal of the Italian Neurological Society and of the Italian Society of Clinical Neurophysiology, **31**, 29-33.
- Lang, H.L., Jacobsen, H., Ikemizu, S., Andersson, C., Harlos, K., Madsen, L., Hjorth, P., Sondergaard, L., Svejgaard, A., Wucherpfennig, K., Stuart, D.I., Bell, J.I., Jones, E.Y. & Fugger, L. (2002) A functional and structural basis for TCR crossreactivity in multiple sclerosis. *Nature immunology*, **3**, 940-943.
- Langrish, C.L., Chen, Y., Blumenschein, W.M., Mattson, J., Basham, B., Sedgwick, J.D., McClanahan, T., Kastelein, R.A. & Cua, D.J. (2005) IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **201**, 233-240.
- Larochelle, C., Alvarez, J.I. & Prat, A. (2011) How do immune cells overcome the bloodbrain barrier in multiple sclerosis? *FEBS letters*, **585**, 3770-3780.
- Lassmann, H. (2005) Multiple sclerosis pathology: evolution of pathogenetic concepts. *Brain pathology*, **15**, 217-222.
- Lassmann, H. & Wisniewski, H.M. (1978) Chronic relapsing EAE. Time course of neurological symptoms and pathology. *Acta neuropathologica*, **43**, 35-42.
- Leppert, D., Ford, J., Stabler, G., Grygar, C., Lienert, C., Huber, S., Miller, K.M., Hauser, S.L. & Kappos, L. (1998) Matrix metalloproteinase-9 (gelatinase B) is selectively elevated in CSF during relapses and stable phases of multiple sclerosis. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, **121 (Pt 12)**, 2327-2334.
- Leppert, D., Lindberg, R.L., Kappos, L. & Leib, S.L. (2001) Matrix metalloproteinases: multifunctional effectors of inflammation in multiple sclerosis and bacterial meningitis. *Brain research. Brain research reviews*, **36**, 249-257.
- Lesley, J., Gal, I., Mahoney, D.J., Cordell, M.R., Rugg, M.S., Hyman, R., Day, A.J. & Mikecz, K. (2004) TSG-6 modulates the interaction between hyaluronan and cell surface CD44. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **279**, 25745-25754.

- Lesley, J., Howes, N., Perschl, A. & Hyman, R. (1994) Hyaluronan binding function of CD44 is transiently activated on T cells during an in vivo immune response. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **180**, 383-387.
- Lesley, J. & Hyman, R. (1998) CD44 structure and function. *Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library*, **3**, d616-630.
- Lesley, J., Schulte, R. & Hyman, R. (1990) Binding of hyaluronic acid to lymphoid cell lines is inhibited by monoclonal antibodies against Pgp-1. *Experimental cell research*, **187**, 224-233.
- Ley, K., Laudanna, C., Cybulsky, M.I. & Nourshargh, S. (2007) Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nature reviews. Immunology*, **7**, 678-689.
- Li, L., Heldin, C.H. & Heldin, P. (2006) Inhibition of platelet-derived growth factor-BBinduced receptor activation and fibroblast migration by hyaluronan activation of CD44. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **281**, 26512-26519.
- Liu, J., Marino, M.W., Wong, G., Grail, D., Dunn, A., Bettadapura, J., Slavin, A.J., Old, L. & Bernard, C.C. (1998) TNF is a potent anti-inflammatory cytokine in autoimmune-mediated demyelination. *Nature medicine*, **4**, 78-83.
- Liu, J.Q., Carl, J.W., Jr., Joshi, P.S., RayChaudhury, A., Pu, X.A., Shi, F.D. & Bai, X.F. (2007) CD24 on the resident cells of the central nervous system enhances experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of immunology*, **178**, 6227-6235.
- Lock, C., Hermans, G., Pedotti, R., Brendolan, A., Schadt, E., Garren, H., Langer-Gould, A., Strober, S., Cannella, B., Allard, J., Klonowski, P., Austin, A., Lad, N., Kaminski, N., Galli, S.J., Oksenberg, J.R., Raine, C.S., Heller, R. & Steinman, L. (2002) Gene-microarray analysis of multiple sclerosis lesions yields new targets validated in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Nature medicine*, **8**, 500-508.
- Lokeshwar, V.B., Iida, N. & Bourguignon, L.Y. (1996) The cell adhesion molecule, GP116, is a new CD44 variant (ex14/v10) involved in hyaluronic acid binding and endothelial cell proliferation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **271**, 23853-23864.
- Luca, M.E., Visser, L., Lucas, C.J. & Nagelkerken, L. (1999) IFN-beta modulates specific T cell responses in vitro but does not affect Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis in the SJL mouse. *Journal of neuroimmunology*, **100**, 190-196.
- Lucchinetti, C., Bruck, W., Parisi, J., Scheithauer, B., Rodriguez, M. & Lassmann, H. (2000) Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. *Annals of neurology*, **47**, 707-717.
- Marburg, O. (1906) Die sogenannte "akute Multiple Sklerose". Jahrbücher für Psychiatrie und Neurologie, **27**, 211-312.

- Matou-Nasri, S., Gaffney, J., Kumar, S. & Slevin, M. (2009) Oligosaccharides of hyaluronan induce angiogenesis through distinct CD44 and RHAMM-mediated signalling pathways involving Cdc2 and gamma-adducin. *International journal of* oncology, **35**, 761-773.
- Matute, C., Alberdi, E., Domercq, M., Perez-Cerda, F., Perez-Samartin, A. & Sanchez-Gomez, M.V. (2001) The link between excitotoxic oligodendroglial death and demyelinating diseases. *Trends in neurosciences*, **24**, 224-230.
- Mayer, W.E., Uinuk-Ool, T., Tichy, H., Gartland, L.A., Klein, J. & Cooper, M.D. (2002) Isolation and characterization of lymphocyte-like cells from a lamprey. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **99**, 14350-14355.
- McFarland, H.F. & Martin, R. (2007) Multiple sclerosis: a complicated picture of autoimmunity. *Nature immunology*, **8**, 913-919.
- McKee, C.M., Lowenstein, C.J., Horton, M.R., Wu, J., Bao, C., Chin, B.Y., Choi, A.M. & Noble, P.W. (1997) Hyaluronan fragments induce nitric-oxide synthase in murine macrophages through a nuclear factor kappaB-dependent mechanism. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **272**, 8013-8018.
- Medaer, R. (1979) Does the history of multiple sclerosis go back as far as the 14th century? *Acta neurologica Scandinavica*, **60**, 189-192.
- Mikecz, K., Brennan, F.R., Kim, J.H. & Glant, T.T. (1995) Anti-CD44 treatment abrogates tissue oedema and leukocyte infiltration in murine arthritis. *Nature medicine*, 1, 558-563.
- Miller, E. (2012) Multiple sclerosis. Advances in experimental medicine and biology, **724**, 222-238.
- Milner, C.M. & Day, A.J. (2003) TSG-6: a multifunctional protein associated with inflammation. *Journal of cell science*, **116**, 1863-1873.
- Mohamadzadeh, M., DeGrendele, H., Arizpe, H., Estess, P. & Siegelman, M. (1998) Proinflammatory stimuli regulate endothelial hyaluronan expression and CD44/HA-dependent primary adhesion. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, **101**, 97-108.
- Montesano, R., Kumar, S., Orci, L. & Pepper, M.S. (1996) Synergistic effect of hyaluronan oligosaccharides and vascular endothelial growth factor on angiogenesis in vitro. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology*, **75**, 249-262.
- Morrison, H., Sherman, L.S., Legg, J., Banine, F., Isacke, C., Haipek, C.A., Gutmann, D.H., Ponta, H. & Herrlich, P. (2001) The NF2 tumor suppressor gene product, merlin, mediates contact inhibition of growth through interactions with CD44. *Genes & development*, **15**, 968-980.

- Nandi, A., Estess, P. & Siegelman, M. (2004) Bimolecular complex between rolling and firm adhesion receptors required for cell arrest; CD44 association with VLA-4 in T cell extravasation. *Immunity*, **20**, 455-465.
- Nandi, A., Estess, P. & Siegelman, M.H. (2000) Hyaluronan anchoring and regulation on the surface of vascular endothelial cells is mediated through the functionally active form of CD44. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **275**, 14939-14948.
- Nedvetzki, S., Gonen, E., Assayag, N., Reich, R., Williams, R.O., Thurmond, R.L., Huang, J.F., Neudecker, B.A., Wang, F.S., Turley, E.A. & Naor, D. (2004) RHAMM, a receptor for hyaluronan-mediated motility, compensates for CD44 in inflamed CD44-knockout mice: a different interpretation of redundancy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **101**, 18081-18086.
- Neuwelt, E.A., Bauer, B., Fahlke, C., Fricker, G., Iadecola, C., Janigro, D., Leybaert, L., Molnar, Z., O'Donnell, M.E., Povlishock, J.T., Saunders, N.R., Sharp, F., Stanimirovic, D., Watts, R.J. & Drewes, L.R. (2011) Engaging neuroscience to advance translational research in brain barrier biology. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*, **12**, 169-182.
- Nielsen, T.R., Rostgaard, K., Nielsen, N.M., Koch-Henriksen, N., Haahr, S., Sorensen, P.S. & Hjalgrim, H. (2007) Multiple sclerosis after infectious mononucleosis. *Archives of neurology*, 64, 72-75.
- Noble, P.W. (2002) Hyaluronan and its catabolic products in tissue injury and repair. *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*, **21**, 25-29.
- Novakovic, S.D., Tzoumaka, E., McGivern, J.G., Haraguchi, M., Sangameswaran, L., Gogas, K.R., Eglen, R.M. & Hunter, J.C. (1998) Distribution of the tetrodotoxinresistant sodium channel PN3 in rat sensory neurons in normal and neuropathic conditions. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, **18**, 2174-2187.
- Nylander, A. & Hafler, D.A. (2012) Multiple sclerosis. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, **122**, 1180-1188.
- O'Connor, R.A., Prendergast, C.T., Sabatos, C.A., Lau, C.W., Leech, M.D., Wraith, D.C. & Anderton, S.M. (2008) Cutting edge: Th1 cells facilitate the entry of Th17 cells to the central nervous system during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of immunology*, **181**, 3750-3754.
- Oksenberg, J.R. & Barcellos, L.F. (2005) Multiple sclerosis genetics: leaving no stone unturned. *Genes and immunity*, **6**, 375-387.
- Orian-Rousseau, V., Chen, L., Sleeman, J.P., Herrlich, P. & Ponta, H. (2002) CD44 is required for two consecutive steps in HGF/c-Met signaling. *Genes & development*, **16**, 3074-3086.
- Pachner, A.R. (2011) Experimental models of multiple sclerosis. *Current opinion in neurology*, **24**, 291-299.

- Pan, W., Banks, W.A. & Kastin, A.J. (1997) Permeability of the blood-brain and bloodspinal cord barriers to interferons. *Journal of neuroimmunology*, **76**, 105-111.
- Panitch, H.S., Hirsch, R.L., Schindler, J. & Johnson, K.P. (1987) Treatment of multiple sclerosis with gamma interferon: exacerbations associated with activation of the immune system. *Neurology*, **37**, 1097-1102.
- Park, H., Li, Z., Yang, X.O., Chang, S.H., Nurieva, R., Wang, Y.H., Wang, Y., Hood, L., Zhu, Z., Tian, Q. & Dong, C. (2005) A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nature immunology*, 6, 1133-1141.
- Paterson, P.Y. (1960) Transfer of allergic encephalomyelitis in rats by means of lymph node cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **111**, 119-136.
- Pepper, M.S. (2001) Role of the matrix metalloproteinase and plasminogen activatorplasmin systems in angiogenesis. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, **21**, 1104-1117.
- Pettinelli, C.B. & McFarlin, D.E. (1981) Adoptive transfer of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in SJL/J mice after in vitro activation of lymph node cells by myelin basic protein: requirement for Lyt 1+ 2- T lymphocytes. *Journal of immunology*, **127**, 1420-1423.
- Piccio, L., Rossi, B., Scarpini, E., Laudanna, C., Giagulli, C., Issekutz, A.C., Vestweber, D., Butcher, E.C. & Constantin, G. (2002) Molecular mechanisms involved in lymphocyte recruitment in inflamed brain microvessels: critical roles for P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 and heterotrimeric G(i)-linked receptors. *Journal of immunology*, **168**, 1940-1949.
- Pilarski, L.M., Masellis-Smith, A., Belch, A.R., Yang, B., Savani, R.C. & Turley, E.A. (1994) RHAMM, a receptor for hyaluronan-mediated motility, on normal human lymphocytes, thymocytes and malignant B cells: a mediator in B cell malignancy? *Leukemia & lymphoma*, **14**, 363-374.
- Pilarski, L.M., Miszta, H. & Turley, E.A. (1993) Regulated expression of a receptor for hyaluronan-mediated motility on human thymocytes and T cells. *Journal of immunology*, **150**, 4292-4302.
- Plumb, J., McQuaid, S., Mirakhur, M. & Kirk, J. (2002) Abnormal endothelial tight junctions in active lesions and normal-appearing white matter in multiple sclerosis. *Brain pathology*, **12**, 154-169.
- Polman, C.H., O'Connor, P.W., Havrdova, E., Hutchinson, M., Kappos, L., Miller, D.H., Phillips, J.T., Lublin, F.D., Giovannoni, G., Wajgt, A., Toal, M., Lynn, F., Panzara, M.A., Sandrock, A.W. & Investigators, A. (2006) A randomized, placebocontrolled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *The New England journal of medicine*, **354**, 899-910.

- Ponta, H., Sherman, L. & Herrlich, P.A. (2003) CD44: from adhesion molecules to signalling regulators. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology*, **4**, 33-45.
- Popescu, B.F. & Lucchinetti, C.F. (2012) Pathology of demyelinating diseases. *Annual* review of pathology, **7**, 185-217.
- Pribyl, T.M., Campagnoni, C.W., Kampf, K., Kashima, T., Handley, V.W., McMahon, J. & Campagnoni, A.T. (1993) The human myelin basic protein gene is included within a 179-kilobase transcription unit: expression in the immune and central nervous systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **90**, 10695-10699.
- Pribyl, T.M., Campagnoni, C.W., Kampf, K., Kashima, T., Handley, V.W., McMahon, J. & Campagnoni, A.T. (1996) Expression of the myelin proteolipid protein gene in the human fetal thymus. *Journal of neuroimmunology*, **67**, 125-130.
- Prineas, J.W. & Graham, J.S. (1981) Multiple sclerosis: capping of surface immunoglobulin G on macrophages engaged in myelin breakdown. *Annals of neurology*, **10**, 149-158.
- Proescholdt, M.A., Jacobson, S., Tresser, N., Oldfield, E.H. & Merrill, M.J. (2002) Vascular endothelial growth factor is expressed in multiple sclerosis plaques and can induce inflammatory lesions in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis rats. *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology*, **61**, 914-925.
- Protin, U., Schweighoffer, T., Jochum, W. & Hilberg, F. (1999) CD44-deficient mice develop normally with changes in subpopulations and recirculation of lymphocyte subsets. *Journal of immunology*, **163**, 4917-4923.
- Pure, E., Camp, R.L., Peritt, D., Panettieri, R.A., Jr., Lazaar, A.L. & Nayak, S. (1995) Defective phosphorylation and hyaluronate binding of CD44 with point mutations in the cytoplasmic domain. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **181**, 55-62.
- Pure, E. & Cuff, C.A. (2001) A crucial role for CD44 in inflammation. *Trends in molecular medicine*, **7**, 213-221.
- Rampon, C., Weiss, N., Deboux, C., Chaverot, N., Miller, F., Buchet, D., Tricoire-Leignel, H., Cazaubon, S., Baron-Van Evercooren, A. & Couraud, P.O. (2008) Molecular mechanism of systemic delivery of neural precursor cells to the brain: assembly of brain endothelial apical cups and control of transmigration by CD44. *Stem cells*, **26**, 1673-1682.
- Ransohoff, R.M., Kivisakk, P. & Kidd, G. (2003) Three or more routes for leukocyte migration into the central nervous system. *Nature reviews. Immunology*, **3**, 569-581.
- Rashid, W., Parkes, L.M., Ingle, G.T., Chard, D.T., Toosy, A.T., Altmann, D.R., Symms, M.R., Tofts, P.S., Thompson, A.J. & Miller, D.H. (2004) Abnormalities of cerebral perfusion in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry*, **75**, 1288-1293.

- Redford, E.J., Kapoor, R. & Smith, K.J. (1997) Nitric oxide donors reversibly block axonal conduction: demyelinated axons are especially susceptible. *Brain : a journal of neurology*, **120 (Pt 12)**, 2149-2157.
- Reese, K.L., Aravindan, R.G., Griffiths, G.S., Shao, M., Wang, Y., Galileo, D.S., Atmuri, V., Triggs-Raine, B.L. & Martin-Deleon, P.A. (2010) Acidic hyaluronidase activity is present in mouse sperm and is reduced in the absence of SPAM1: evidence for a role for hyaluronidase 3 in mouse and human sperm. *Molecular reproduction and development*, **77**, 759-772.
- Rivers, T.M., Sprunt, D.H. & Berry, G.P. (1933) Observations on Attempts to Produce Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis in Monkeys. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **58**, 39-53.
- Rosenbluth, J. (1999) A brief history of myelinated nerve fibers: one hundred and fifty years of controversy. *Journal of neurocytology*, **28**, 251-262.
- Rosenbluth, J. (2009) Multiple functions of the paranodal junction of myelinated nerve fibers. *Journal of neuroscience research*, **87**, 3250-3258.
- Rostasy, K.M. (2005) Inflammation and neuroaxonal injury in multiple sclerosis and AIDS dementia complex: implications for neuroprotective treatment. *Neuropediatrics*, **36**, 230-239.
- Rotshenker, S. (2003) Microglia and macrophage activation and the regulation of complement-receptor-3 (CR3/MAC-1)-mediated myelin phagocytosis in injury and disease. *Journal of molecular neuroscience : MN*, **21**, 65-72.
- Sampson, P.M., Rochester, C.L., Freundlich, B. & Elias, J.A. (1992) Cytokine regulation of human lung fibroblast hyaluronan (hyaluronic acid) production. Evidence for cytokine-regulated hyaluronan (hyaluronic acid) degradation and human lung fibroblast-derived hyaluronidase. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, **90**, 1492-1503.
- Savani, R.C., Cao, G., Pooler, P.M., Zaman, A., Zhou, Z. & DeLisser, H.M. (2001) Differential involvement of the hyaluronan (HA) receptors CD44 and receptor for HA-mediated motility in endothelial cell function and angiogenesis. *The Journal* of biological chemistry, **276**, 36770-36778.
- Scheibner, K.A., Lutz, M.A., Boodoo, S., Fenton, M.J., Powell, J.D. & Horton, M.R. (2006) Hyaluronan fragments act as an endogenous danger signal by engaging TLR2. *Journal of immunology*, **177**, 1272-1281.
- Segal, B.M. & Shevach, E.M. (1996) IL-12 unmasks latent autoimmune disease in resistant mice. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **184**, 771-775.
- Serafini, B., Columba-Cabezas, S., Di Rosa, F. & Aloisi, F. (2000) Intracerebral recruitment and maturation of dendritic cells in the onset and progression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *The American journal of pathology*, **157**, 1991-2002.

- Serafini, B., Rosicarelli, B., Magliozzi, R., Stigliano, E., Capello, E., Mancardi, G.L. & Aloisi, F. (2006) Dendritic cells in multiple sclerosis lesions: maturation stage, myelin uptake, and interaction with proliferating T cells. *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology*, **65**, 124-141.
- Sherman, L., Sleeman, J., Herrlich, P. & Ponta, H. (1994) Hyaluronate receptors: key players in growth, differentiation, migration and tumor progression. *Current* opinion in cell biology, 6, 726-733.
- Sherman, L.S., Rizvi, T.A., Karyala, S. & Ratner, N. (2000) CD44 enhances neuregulin signaling by Schwann cells. *The Journal of cell biology*, **150**, 1071-1084.
- Shimada, M., Yanai, Y., Okazaki, T., Noma, N., Kawashima, I., Mori, T. & Richards, J.S. (2008) Hyaluronan fragments generated by sperm-secreted hyaluronidase stimulate cytokine/chemokine production via the TLR2 and TLR4 pathway in cumulus cells of ovulated COCs, which may enhance fertilization. *Development*, **135**, 2001-2011.
- Shinto, L., Marracci, G., Bumgarner, L. & Yadav, V. (2011) The effects of omega-3 Fatty acids on matrix metalloproteinase-9 production and cell migration in human immune cells: implications for multiple sclerosis. *Autoimmune diseases*, **2011**, 134592.
- Siegelman, M.H., DeGrendele, H.C. & Estess, P. (1999) Activation and interaction of CD44 and hyaluronan in immunological systems. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, **66**, 315-321.
- Siegelman, M.H., Stanescu, D. & Estess, P. (2000) The CD44-initiated pathway of T-cell extravasation uses VLA-4 but not LFA-1 for firm adhesion. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, **105**, 683-691.
- Simpson, M.A., Weigel, J.A. & Weigel, P.H. (2012) Systemic blockade of the hyaluronan receptor for endocytosis (HARE) prevents lymph node metastasis of prostate cancer. *International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer.*
- Slevin, M., Krupinski, J., Gaffney, J., Matou, S., West, D., Delisser, H., Savani, R.C. & Kumar, S. (2007) Hyaluronan-mediated angiogenesis in vascular disease: uncovering RHAMM and CD44 receptor signaling pathways. *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*, **26**, 58-68.
- Slomiany, M.G., Dai, L., Bomar, P.A., Knackstedt, T.J., Kranc, D.A., Tolliver, L., Maria, B.L. & Toole, B.P. (2009) Abrogating drug resistance in malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors by disrupting hyaluronan-CD44 interactions with small hyaluronan oligosaccharides. *Cancer research*, **69**, 4992-4998.
- Sospedra, M. & Martin, R. (2005) Immunology of multiple sclerosis. *Annual review of immunology*, **23**, 683-747.
- Soulika, A.M., Lee, E., McCauley, E., Miers, L., Bannerman, P. & Pleasure, D. (2009) Initiation and progression of axonopathy in experimental autoimmune

encephalomyelitis. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, **29**, 14965-14979.

- Steinman, L. (1996) Multiple sclerosis: a coordinated immunological attack against myelin in the central nervous system. *Cell*, **85**, 299-302.
- Steinman, L. (2007) A brief history of T(H)17, the first major revision in the T(H)1/T(H)2 hypothesis of T cell-mediated tissue damage. *Nature medicine*, **13**, 139-145.
- Steinman, L. & Zamvil, S.S. (2006) How to successfully apply animal studies in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis to research on multiple sclerosis. *Annals of neurology*, **60**, 12-21.
- Stern, R., Asari, A.A. & Sugahara, K.N. (2006) Hyaluronan fragments: an informationrich system. *European journal of cell biology*, **85**, 699-715.
- Stoop, R., Gal, I., Glant, T.T., McNeish, J.D. & Mikecz, K. (2002) Trafficking of CD44deficient murine lymphocytes under normal and inflammatory conditions. *European journal of immunology*, **32**, 2532-2542.
- Su, K.G., Banker, G., Bourdette, D. & Forte, M. (2009) Axonal degeneration in multiple sclerosis: the mitochondrial hypothesis. *Current neurology and neuroscience reports*, **9**, 411-417.
- Sugahara, K.N., Hirata, T., Hayasaka, H., Stern, R., Murai, T. & Miyasaka, M. (2006) Tumor cells enhance their own CD44 cleavage and motility by generating hyaluronan fragments. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **281**, 5861-5868.
- Sugahara, K.N., Murai, T., Nishinakamura, H., Kawashima, H., Saya, H. & Miyasaka, M. (2003) Hyaluronan oligosaccharides induce CD44 cleavage and promote cell migration in CD44-expressing tumor cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 278, 32259-32265.
- Sugie, K., Jeon, M.S. & Grey, H.M. (2004) Activation of naive CD4 T cells by anti-CD3 reveals an important role for Fyn in Lck-mediated signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **101**, 14859-14864.
- Sugiyama, Y., Shimada, A., Sayo, T., Sakai, S. & Inoue, S. (1998) Putative hyaluronan synthase mRNA are expressed in mouse skin and TGF-beta upregulates their expression in cultured human skin cells. *The Journal of investigative dermatology*, **110**, 116-121.
- Sun, D., Whitaker, J.N., Huang, Z., Liu, D., Coleclough, C., Wekerle, H. & Raine, C.S. (2001) Myelin antigen-specific CD8+ T cells are encephalitogenic and produce severe disease in C57BL/6 mice. *Journal of immunology*, **166**, 7579-7587.
- Szanto, S., Bardos, T., Gal, I., Glant, T.T. & Mikecz, K. (2004) Enhanced neutrophil extravasation and rapid progression of proteoglycan-induced arthritis in TSG-6knockout mice. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, **50**, 3012-3022.

- Takeda, K., Kaisho, T. & Akira, S. (2003) Toll-like receptors. Annual review of *immunology*, **21**, 335-376.
- Talley, C.L. (2003) The emergence of multiple sclerosis as a nosological category in France, 1838-1868. *Journal of the history of the neurosciences*, **12**, 250-265.
- Tammi, R., MacCallum, D., Hascall, V.C., Pienimaki, J.P., Hyttinen, M. & Tammi, M. (1998) Hyaluronan bound to CD44 on keratinocytes is displaced by hyaluronan decasaccharides and not hexasaccharides. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 273, 28878-28888.
- Tammi, R., Pasonen-Seppanen, S., Kolehmainen, E. & Tammi, M. (2005) Hyaluronan synthase induction and hyaluronan accumulation in mouse epidermis following skin injury. *The Journal of investigative dermatology*, **124**, 898-905.
- Targoni, O.S. & Lehmann, P.V. (1998) Endogenous myelin basic protein inactivates the high avidity T cell repertoire. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **187**, 2055-2063.
- Taylor, K.R., Trowbridge, J.M., Rudisill, J.A., Termeer, C.C., Simon, J.C. & Gallo, R.L. (2004) Hyaluronan fragments stimulate endothelial recognition of injury through TLR4. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **279**, 17079-17084.
- Teriete, P., Banerji, S., Noble, M., Blundell, C.D., Wright, A.J., Pickford, A.R., Lowe, E., Mahoney, D.J., Tammi, M.I., Kahmann, J.D., Campbell, I.D., Day, A.J. & Jackson, D.G. (2004) Structure of the regulatory hyaluronan binding domain in the inflammatory leukocyte homing receptor CD44. *Molecular cell*, **13**, 483-496.
- Termeer, C., Benedix, F., Sleeman, J., Fieber, C., Voith, U., Ahrens, T., Miyake, K., Freudenberg, M., Galanos, C. & Simon, J.C. (2002) Oligosaccharides of Hyaluronan activate dendritic cells via toll-like receptor 4. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, **195**, 99-111.
- Termeer, C.C., Hennies, J., Voith, U., Ahrens, T., Weiss, J.M., Prehm, P. & Simon, J.C. (2000) Oligosaccharides of hyaluronan are potent activators of dendritic cells. *Journal of immunology*, **165**, 1863-1870.
- Toole, B.P. (2004) Hyaluronan: from extracellular glue to pericellular cue. *Nature reviews. Cancer*, **4**, 528-539.
- Trapp, B.D. & Nave, K.A. (2008) Multiple sclerosis: an immune or neurodegenerative disorder? *Annual review of neuroscience*, **31**, 247-269.
- Trapp, B.D., Peterson, J., Ransohoff, R.M., Rudick, R., Mork, S. & Bo, L. (1998) Axonal transection in the lesions of multiple sclerosis. *The New England journal of medicine*, **338**, 278-285.
- Traugott, U., Reinherz, E.L. & Raine, C.S. (1983) Multiple sclerosis: distribution of T cell subsets within active chronic lesions. *Science*, **219**, 308-310.

- Tuohy, T.M., Wallingford, N., Liu, Y., Chan, F.H., Rizvi, T., Xing, R., Bebo, B., Rao, M.S. & Sherman, L.S. (2004) CD44 overexpression by oligodendrocytes: a novel mouse model of inflammation-independent demyelination and dysmyelination. *Glia*, **47**, 335-345.
- Turley, E.A., Noble, P.W. & Bourguignon, L.Y. (2002) Signaling properties of hyaluronan receptors. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **277**, 4589-4592.
- Vajkoczy, P., Laschinger, M. & Engelhardt, B. (2001) Alpha4-integrin-VCAM-1 binding mediates G protein-independent capture of encephalitogenic T cell blasts to CNS white matter microvessels. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, **108**, 557-565.
- Valli, A., Sette, A., Kappos, L., Oseroff, C., Sidney, J., Miescher, G., Hochberger, M., Albert, E.D. & Adorini, L. (1993) Binding of myelin basic protein peptides to human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen class II molecules and their recognition by T cells from multiple sclerosis patients. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, **91**, 616-628.
- Van Meir, E.G. (1995) Cytokines and tumors of the central nervous system. *Glia*, **15**, 264-288.
- Vigetti, D., Genasetti, A., Karousou, E., Viola, M., Moretto, P., Clerici, M., Deleonibus, S., De Luca, G., Hascall, V.C. & Passi, A. (2010) Proinflammatory cytokines induce hyaluronan synthesis and monocyte adhesion in human endothelial cells through hyaluronan synthase 2 (HAS2) and the nuclear factor-kappaB (NF-kappaB) pathway. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **285**, 24639-24645.
- Virchow, R. (1854). "Über das augebreitete Vorkommen einer dem Nervenmark analogen Substanz in den tierrischen Geweben". *Virchows Arch. Pathol. Anat.* **6**: 562-572
- Virchow, R. (1858). Cellular Pathology. Berlin: Hirschwald. Translated by CHANCE, F. (1860). London: Churchill
- Voelcker, V., Gebhardt, C., Averbeck, M., Saalbach, A., Wolf, V., Weih, F., Sleeman, J., Anderegg, U. & Simon, J. (2008) Hyaluronan fragments induce cytokine and metalloprotease upregulation in human melanoma cells in part by signalling via TLR4. *Experimental dermatology*, **17**, 100-107.
- Waxman, S.G. (2006) Axonal conduction and injury in multiple sclerosis: the role of sodium channels. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*, **7**, 932-941.
- Werner, P., Pitt, D. & Raine, C.S. (2001) Multiple sclerosis: altered glutamate homeostasis in lesions correlates with oligodendrocyte and axonal damage. *Annals of neurology*, **50**, 169-180.
- Willer, C.J., Dyment, D.A., Risch, N.J., Sadovnick, A.D., Ebers, G.C. & Canadian Collaborative Study, G. (2003) Twin concordance and sibling recurrence rates in multiple sclerosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **100**, 12877-12882.

- Wucherpfennig, K.W. & Strominger, J.L. (1995) Molecular mimicry in T cell-mediated autoimmunity: viral peptides activate human T cell clones specific for myelin basic protein. *Cell*, **80**, 695-705.
- Wucherpfennig, K.W., Zhang, J., Witek, C., Matsui, M., Modabber, Y., Ota, K. & Hafler, D.A. (1994) Clonal expansion and persistence of human T cells specific for an immunodominant myelin basic protein peptide. *Journal of immunology*, **152**, 5581-5592.
- Wujek, J.R., Bjartmar, C., Richer, E., Ransohoff, R.M., Yu, M., Tuohy, V.K. & Trapp, B.D. (2002) Axon loss in the spinal cord determines permanent neurological disability in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology*, **61**, 23-32.
- Xu, H., Ito, T., Tawada, A., Maeda, H., Yamanokuchi, H., Isahara, K., Yoshida, K., Uchiyama, Y. & Asari, A. (2002) Effect of hyaluronan oligosaccharides on the expression of heat shock protein 72. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **277**, 17308-17314.
- Yago, T., Shao, B., Miner, J.J., Yao, L., Klopocki, A.G., Maeda, K., Coggeshall, K.M. & McEver, R.P. (2010) E-selectin engages PSGL-1 and CD44 through a common signaling pathway to induce integrin alphaLbeta2-mediated slow leukocyte rolling. *Blood*, **116**, 485-494.
- Yednock, T.A., Cannon, C., Fritz, L.C., Sanchez-Madrid, F., Steinman, L. & Karin, N. (1992) Prevention of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by antibodies against alpha 4 beta 1 integrin. *Nature*, **356**, 63-66.
- Yu, M., Nishiyama, A., Trapp, B.D. & Tuohy, V.K. (1996) Interferon-beta inhibits progression of relapsing-remitting experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of neuroimmunology*, **64**, 91-100.
- Zaman, A., Cui, Z., Foley, J.P., Zhao, H., Grimm, P.C., Delisser, H.M. & Savani, R.C. (2005) Expression and role of the hyaluronan receptor RHAMM in inflammation after bleomycin injury. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, **33**, 447-454.
- Zhou, B., Weigel, J.A., Fauss, L. & Weigel, P.H. (2000) Identification of the hyaluronan receptor for endocytosis (HARE). *The Journal of biological chemistry*, **275**, 37733-37741.